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HOW TO USE THIS VOLUME

Scope of the Volume . . ..

This volume, which is a reprint of the looseleaf edition, brings together for continuing reference a set
of nonauthoritative audit tools and illustrations prepared by the staff of the Techmcal Information Division
of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. -

How This Volume Is Arranged . . . .

The contents of this volume are arranged as follows
Introductxon
Compllatlon and Review :
Engagement Planning and Administration
Internal Control Structure
Audit Approach and Programs S :
Working Papers ' STt
Correspondence, Confirmations & Representations
Review and Report Processing
Accountants’ Reports
Quality Control Forms and Aids

How to Use This Volume . . .

The arrangement of material is indicated in the general table of contents at the front of the volume.
There is a detailed table of contents covering the material within each major division.

The major divisions are subdivided into sections, each with its own section number. Each paragraph
within a section is decimally numbered. For example, AAM section 7100.01 refers to the first paragraph of
section 7100, Control of Confirmations and Correspondence. Section and paragraph numbers Jocated on each
page are prov:ded as corner. references. at the bottom of each page.

The AICPA Professional Standards is referenced by the use of the followmg abbreviations: AU
(Auditing), AR (Accounting and Review Services), ET (Code of Conduct) BL (By]aws), and QC
(Quality Control).

- The FASB Accounting Standards Current .Text is referenced in a similar. manner by the use of the
abbreviationn AC before the section and paragraph numbers. - The Current Text, contains an abridged
version of the currently effective. financial and reportmg standards, as amended.

Quotations of accounting standards in this volume are derived from the original pronouncements and
may have been editorially changed in the Current’ Text.

The Appendixes provide cross references from'’ pronouncements of the Amerlcan Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Financial Accounting Standards Board to sections:in the text.

v
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AAM Section 1000 |
INTRODUCTION

This manual has not been approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted upon by any senior
technical committees of the American Institute.of Certified Public Accountants or the
Financial Accounting Standards Board and has no official or authoritative status.

.01 This manual has been prepared by the staff of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
issued as a nonauthoritative kit of practice aids. The materials included in it are designed to serve as working tools
and illustrations for timesaving purposes. They are not intended as a substitute for the professional judgments
which must be applied by practitioners in any engagement. The manual, where practicable, offers choices and
alternatives rather than particular positions. The manual is not a substitute for the authoritative technical literature
and users are urged to refer directly to applicable authoritative pronouncements for the text of technical standards.

02 Some sections of the manual include quotations from Statements on Auditing Standards and other
authoritative pronouncements. Those quotations are intended only to illustrate certain matters, not to serve as a
substitute for careful study of the relevent pronouncements. References are made throughout the manual to the
original authoritative pronouncements and to their section numbers in AICPA Professional Standards and the
FASB Accounting Standards Current Text to help users locate those authoritative pronouncements.

.03 The authors hope that the manual will be helpful to local firms and practitioners in the conduct of their
audit and accounting practice. However, no generalized material, such as that included in this manual, can be a
substitute for development and implementation by a firm of a system of quality control which is appropriately
comprehensive and suitably designed in relation to the firm’s organizational structure, its policies, and the nature
of its practice.

.04 The manual is in looseleaf format in anticipation of updatmg and expansion. Changes are expected to arise
from three main sources:

(1) Comments and suggestions from practitioners. Since this manual is a product of AICPA staff, not of a
committee of practitioners, it is particularly important that practitioners advise the staff on ahy sugges-
tions for material that could be improved or added.

(2) Issuance of new official pronouncements.
(3) Other additions to or deletions from the manual as a result of continued staff study.
Comments and suggestions should be addressed to:
Technical Information Division
AICPA

1211 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10036

or call John Graves at (212) 575-6391.

.05 For disclosure checklists and illustrative financial statements, obtain the AICPA looseleaf service entitled
Financial Statement Preparation Manual. This manual includes disclosure checklists and illustrative financial
statements for the following;:

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual - o AAM § 1000.05
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Corporations ,
State and Local Governmental Units
Oil and Gas Producers
Savings and Loan Associations
Banks' :
. Real Estate Ventures

. Construction. Contractors _
Nonprofit Organizations
Credit Unions '
Other Comrrehensive Bases of Accounting
Agricultural Cooperatives ,

" Development Stage Enterprises

-

To order the Financial Statement Preparation Manual, write to:

" Circulation Department
AICPA Co :
1211 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10036

John Graves, Director—Technical Services

Thomas W. McRae, Vice President—Technical
Thomas P. Kelley, Group Vice President—Professional = -

* AICPA TECHNICAL HOTLINE
The Technical Information Service answers inquiries
about specific audit or accounting problems.

_Call Toll Free

' (800) 223-4158 (except New York) ~
(800) 522-5430 (New York only)

. | This service is free to AICPA members.

AAM § 1000.05 - : v‘ Copyright © 1989, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.



AAM Section 2000 2001

COMPILATION AND REVIEW .

This manual is a nonauthoritative kit of practice aids and, accordingly, does not
include extensive explanation or discussion of authoritative pronouncements,

Users of this-manual are urged to refer directly to applicable authoritative:
pronouncements when appropriate.

The exhibits are for illustrative purposes only. They are included as conveniences
for users of this manual who may want points of reference when preparing
working papers or a report for a compilation or review engagement.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section Paragraph
2700  Introduction ... ...t e e i e e .01-.13
2200 Engagement Planning and Administration. .. ........ ..o i, .01-.25
Understanding the Engagement . .. ... ... . i i i i .04-.07
Engagement Letters .. ... ... i i it e e .06-.07
Change in Engagement Level of Service . . ......... ..., .08-.17
Predecessor and Successor Accountant . ..... ... . i i i i .18-.21
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lllustrative Engagement Letter for aReview ........ .. ..., 25
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Review of Financial Statements—lllustrative Inquiries ...................... 15
lllustrative Ratio Analysis Worksheet .. ........ ... .ot .16
lllustrative Analytical Procedures Comparative Report . ............... e a7
Review of Financial Statements—lillustrative Representation Letter ............ .18
Short-Form Checklist for a Review Engagement .. ......................... 19
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Statements Prepared . ... ... ... i .01-.04
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Supplementary Information ... ... . . e e .10-.13
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2500 Accountants’ Reports .. .....c.iiitiiii i e e e .01-.31
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Modifications to Standard Report . ... ... .. i i e e 17-31
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AAM Section 2100
In troduction

.01 Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS) are issued by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Accounting and Review Services Committee (ARSC), the senior
technical committee of the AICPA designated by its Council to issue pronouncements in connection with
unaudited financial statements and other unaudited financial information of nonpublic entities. A nonpublic entity
is defined as any entity other than (a) one whose securities trade in a public market either on a stock exchange or
over the counter, (b) one that files with a regulatory agency in preparation for the sale of any class of its securities
in a public market, or (c) any entity controlled by an entity covered by (a) or (b).

.02 As of June 1988, ARSC had issued six Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services. They
are

@ SSARS 1 Compilation and Review of Financial Statements [AR section 100] (12/78)

® SSARS 2 Reporting on Comparative Financial Statements [AR section 200] (10/79)

® SSARS 3 Compilation Reports on Financial Statements Included in Certain Prescribed Forms [AR
section 300] (12/81)
® SSARS 4 Communications Between Predecessor and Successor Accountants [AR section 400] (12/81)

® SSARSS5 Reporting on Compiled Financial Statements [AR section 500] (7 /82)

@ SSARS 6 Reporting on Personal Financial Statements Included in Written Personal Financial Plans
‘ [AR section 600] (9/86)

.03 SSARS 1 (AR section 100) defines a compilation of financial statements and a review of financial
statements and is effective for compilations and reviews of financial statements for periods ending on or after July
1, 1979. A compilation of financial statements is defined as presenting in the form of financial statements
information that is the representation of management without expressing any assurance on the statements. A
review of financial statements involves performing inquiry and analytical procedures to provide the accountant
with a reasonable basis for expressing limited assurance that there are no material modifications to the financial
statements necessary for them to be in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

.04 SSARS 1, paragraph 4 (AR section 100.04), defines a financial statement as:

A presentation of financial data, including accompanying notes, derived from accounting
records and intended to communicate an entity’s economic resources or obligations at a
point in time, or the changes therein for a period of time, in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles or a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally
accepted accounting principles. Financial forecasts, projections and similar presentations,
and financial presentations included in tax returns are not financial statements for purposes
of this statement. The following presentations are examples of financial statements:

® Balance sheet

® Statement of income

@ Statement of retained earnings
® Statement of cash flows

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual : AAM § 2100.04



2102 Compilation and Review

® Statement of changes in owners’ equity

® Statement of assets and liabilities (with or without owners’ equity accounts)
® Statement of revenues and expenses

® Summary of operations

® Statement of operations by product lines

® Statement of cash receipts and disbursements

.05 SSARS 2 (AR section 200) establishes the standards for reporting on comparative financial statements of a
nonpublic entity when the statements of one or more periods have been compiled or reviewed under SSARS 1
(AR section 100). SSARS 2 is effective for reports on comparative financial statements for periods ending on or
after July 1, 1979.

.06 SSARS 3 (AR section 300) amends SSARS 1 and 2 (AR sections 100 and 200) to provide an alternative
form of compilation report when a prescribed form calls for a departure from generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP). SSARS 3, paragraph 2 (AR section 300.02), defines a prescribed form as any preprinted form
designed or adopted by the body to which it is intended to be submitted (e.g., banks, governmental bodies, etc.).
Since this statement contains no effective date, it became effective upon issuance.

.07 SSARS 3 (AR section 300) does not prohibit the accountant from issuing a SSARS 1 (AR Section 100)
compilation report which identifies GAAP departures in accordance with SSARS 1, paragraphs 39 through 41 (AR
section 100.39—.41). A SSARS 3 report is specifically designed to provide an alternative form of reporting when a
prescribed form calls for a GAAP departure. ‘

.08 SSARS 4 (AR section 400) provides guidance to a successor accountant who decides to communicate with
the predecessor accountant. SSARS 4 does not require a successor accountant to communicate with a predecessor.
Further, it deleted a footnote in SSARS 2 (AR section 200) suggesting that a successor accountant may wish to
consult Statement on Auditing Standards No. 7, Communications Between Predecessor and Successor Auditors
(AU section 315), in determining what communications would be appropriate. SSARS 4 was issued with no
effective date, therefore, it became effective upon issuance.

.09 SSARS 5 (AR section 500) amends the reporting standard of SSARS 1 (AR section 100) by requiring that
for all compilation engagements the accountant’s report indicates that a compilation has been performed in
accordance with standards established by the AICPA. The first sentence of the standard compilation report was
also amended to reflect the amended reporting standard. SSARS 5 is effective for compilations of financial
statements for periods ending on or after December 31, 1982.

.10 SSARS 6 (AR section 600) provides an exemption from SSARS 1 (AR section 100) for personal financial
statements included in personal financial plans. SSARS 6 was issued with no effective date, therefore, it became
effective upon issuance.

.11 Under SSARS 6 (AR section 600), an accountant may submit a written personal financial plan containing
unaudited personal financial statements to a client without issuing a report under SSARS 1 (AR section 100), as
amended, when— g

a. The accountant establishes an understanding with the client that the financial statements (i) will be used
solely to assist the client and the client’s advisors to develop the client’s personal financial goals and
objectives and (ii) will not be used to obtain credit or for any purpose other than developing the
aforementioned goals and objectives.

AAM § 2100.05 Copyright © 1988, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.



* Introduction ' ( ‘ N 2103

b. Nothing comes to the accountant’s attention during the engagement that would cause him or her to
believe that the financial statements will be used to obtain credlt or for any purposes other than
developing the client’s financial goals and objectives.

.12 An accountant following the exemption under SSARS 6 (AR section 600) should issue a written report
stating that the unaudited financial statements— :

a. Are designed solely to help develop the financial plan.' ’

b. May be incomplete or contain departures from GAAP and should not be used to obtain credit or for any
purpose other than developing the plan.

c. Have not been audited, reviewed, or compiled.

.13 Illustrative reports to be issued under the provisions of SSARS 1 through 6 can be found in AAM sections
10,400 and 10,500.

[The next page is 2201.)
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AAM Section 2200
Engagement Planning and Administration

.01 It is important to remember that when engaged to provide compilation or review services, the accountant
must comply with both Rules 201 and 202 of the AICPA’s Code of Professional Conduct, General Standards and
Compliance With Standards, respectively (ET sections 201.01 and 202.01). Rule 201 requires that an AICPA
member comply with the following standards and any interpretations thereof by bodies designated by its Council:

A. Professional Competence. Undertake only those professional services that the member or the member’s
firm can reasonably expect to be completed with professional competence.

B. Due Professional Care. Exercise due professional care in the performance of professional services.
Planning and Supervision. Adequately plan and supervise the performance of professional services.

Sufficient Relevant Data. Obtain sufficient relevant data to afford a reasonable basis for conclusions or
recommendations in relation to any professional services performed.

.02 Rule 202 requires that an AICPA member who performs auditing, review, compilation, management
advisory, tax or other professional services comply with standards promulgated by bodies designated by Council.

.03 Prior to accepting an engagement to perform a compilation or review for a prospective client, the
accountant should consider if he or she wishes to be associated with the client. Factors such as the ability of the
accountant to adequately serve the client, the fee arrangement, client integrity, etc., need to be considered. It is
often useful to complete a ““Client Acceptance Form” to assist in determining whether or not to accept a client. An
illustrative client acceptance form can be found in AAM section 2200.22. )

Understanding the Engagement

.04 SSARS 1, paragraph 8 (AR section 100.08), states that the accountant should establish an understanding
with the entity regarding the services to be performed. This understanding should include a description of the
nature and limitations of the services to be performed, and a description of the report the accountant expects to
render. The understanding should also include an explanation that the engagement cannot be relied upon to
disclose errors, irregularities, or illegal acts but should also indicate that if any such matters come to the
accountant’s attention, the entity will be notified. It is preferable that the understanding be in writing.

.05 It is a requirement of SSARS 1 (AR section 100) that an accountant have a knowledge of the entity’s
business when performing a compilation or review of its financial statements. The accountant should also possess
a level of knowledge of the accounting principles and practices in the industry in which the entity operates. Many
accountants find it helpful to complete a “Client Information Form” for their workpapers to document their
understanding of the client. An illustrative form can be found in AAM section 2200.23. '

Engagement Letters

.06 An engagement letter provides a means of formalizing the understanding between the accountant and the
client concerning the services to be rendered. An engagement letter may serve to help reduce or eliminate client
misunderstanding and potential legal liability. Illustrative engagement letters for compilation and review engage-
ments can be found in AAM section 2200.24 and .25, respectively.

.07 An engagement letter may cover various services to be rendered. For example, an accountant who
performs monthly compilations and a year-end review for a given client, may issue only one engagement letter for
that client detailing all services to be performed.

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM § 2200.07



2202 Compilation and Review

Change in Engagement Level of Service

.08 An accountant who has been engaged to perform audit services with respect to financial statements may
be requested by his or her client to change the level of service to be performed. SSARS 1, paragraphs 44 through
49 (AR section 100.44—.49), addresses changing the level of service to a lower level. A request to change the
engagement to a review or a compilation may result from a change in circumstances affecting the entity’s need for
an audit, a misunderstanding of the nature of an audit or the alternative compilation and review services originally
available, or a restriction on the scope of the audit, whether imposed by the client or caused by the circumstances.

.09 SSARS 1, paragraph 45 (AR section 100.45), states that before an accountant who was engaged to perform
an audit agrees to change the engagement to a compilation or review, at least the following factors should be
considered:

a. The reason given for the client’s request, particularly the implications of a restriction on the scope of the
audit.

b. The additional audit effort required to complete the audit.
c.  The estimated additional cost to complete the audit.

.10 A change in circumstances affecting the entity’s need for an audit and a misunderstanding of the nature of
an audit or the alternative compilation and review services originally available would normally be viewed as a
reasonable basis for requesting a change in the level of service.

.11 The accountant should consider the implicatioﬁs of a restriction on the scope of the audit and should
evaluate the possibility that information affected by the scope restriction may be incorrect, incomplete, or
otherwise unsatisfactory. SSARS 1, paragraph 47 (AR section 100.47), describes the following two circumstances
as ordinarily precluding the accountant from lowering his or her level of service from an audit to a compilation or
review:

1. The accountant has been prohibited by the client from corresponding with the entity’s legal counsel.
2. Management (owners) has refused to sign a client representation letter.

.12 SSARS 1, paragraph 48 (AR section 100.48), states that in all circumstances, if the auditing procedures are
virtually complete or the cost to complete such procedures is relatively insignificant, the accountant should
consider the propriety of accepting a change in the engagement.

.13 If the accountant agrees to lower the engagement from an audit to a compilation or review, he or she
should issue an appropriate compilation or review report. The report should not make reference to the original
engagement, any auditing procedures that may have been performed, or any scope limitations that resulted in the
changed engagement.

.14 Other situations involving changes in the level of service include changing the level of service from a
review to a compilation and also a step-down from full disclosure to omission of substantially all disclosures.

.15 Regarding a change from a review to a compilation, SSARS 1, paragraph 36 (AR section 100.36), indicates
that the accountant should consider the same matters as those discussed in AAM section 2200.09 and .10 above.

.16 Interpretation 1 of SSARS 1, “Omission of Disclosures in Reviewed Financial Statements” (AR section
9100.01—.02), prohibits an accountant from issuing a review report of financial statements which omit substan-
tially all disclosures. For a compilation engagement, it is generally acceptable for an accountant to lower the
engagement to financial statements that omit substantially all disclosures from a full disclosure compilation when
it can be justified that the change in the engagement was not undertaken with the intent to mislead.

.17 The issue of changing the level of an engagement to a higher level of service is not specifically addressed
in SSARS 1 (AR section 100). It is generally agreed that a change to a higher level of service is acceptable. In such

AAM § 2200.08 Copyright © 1988, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.



Engagement Planning and Administration 2203

circumstances, the accountant should be certain that it is possible to comply with the applicable standards for the
revised level of service. It is also wise to revise his understanding with the client of the changed engagement,
preferably by amending the engagement letter.

Predecessor and Successor Accountant

.18 SSARS 4 (AR section 400) provides guidance to a successor accountant who decides to communicate with
a predecessor accountant. Unlike an audit engagement, there is no requlrement that the successor accountant
communicate with the predecessor accountant in a compilation or review engagement. However, in accordance
with SSARS 4, paragraph 3 (AR section 400.03), under the following circumstances the accountant may decide to
do so:

a. Information about the prospective client and its management and principals is limited or appears to
require special attention.

b. The change in accountants takes place substantially after the end of the accounting period for which
financial statements are to be compiled or reviewed.

c. There have been frequent changes in accountants.

.19 According to SSARS 4, paragraph 4 (AR section 400.04), when the successor accountant decides to
communicate with the predecessor, he or she should request the client to (1) permit him or her to make inquiries
of the predecessor and (2) authorize the predecessor to fully respond to those inquiries.

.20 The inquiries of the successor accountant will normally include questions concerning (1) information that
might bear on the integrity of management.(owners), (2) disagreements with management (owners) about
accounting ‘principles or the necessity of performing certain procedures, (3) the cooperation of management in
providing additional or revised information, when necessary, and (4) the predecessor’s understanding of the
reasons for the change of accountants.

.21 The predecessor accountant is expected to respond both promptly and fully to requests of the type cited in
the aforementioned paragraph. Valid business reasons (e.g., unpaid fees) may preclude the predecessor from
~ responding to the inquiries of the successor. The predecessor may also decide, due to unusual circumstances such -
as impending litigation, not to respond fully to the successor. In such an instance, the predecessor should indicate
that the response is limited and the successor should consider both the reasons for and implications of such a
response in deciding whether to undertake the engagement.
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.22 Client Acceptance Form

INSTRUCTIONS: This form should be completed
for each prospective client before accepting
an engagement.

Client Name:
Address:
Telephone Number:

Form of Legal Entity:
(partnership, corporation, etc.)

What type of business is the client in?

List management and officers of the client:

How did we become aware of this potential client?

Are the client’s accounting services now being performed by another accounting firm? If yes, what is the name of

the firm and the client’s reason for changing accounting firms?
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Have we contacted the client’s previous accounting firm? If yes, list their comments. If not, explain why.

Does the client owe fees to the previous accountants?

Did we have prior knowledge of the client? If not, list the names of references checked and any comments.

What services would our firm be expected to perform? What would the timing of these services be?

Estimate the net fees and describe the billing arrangements.

Is there any reason to doubt the client’s management or officers’ representations or integrity? If yes, describe. -

Are we aware of any independence problems between this client and our staff? If yes, describe.

Does our firm have the necessary expertise and staff to perform the engagement properly?
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Comments:

Conclusions

— Accept Engagement Not Accept Engagement
Form prepared by Date

Engagement Partner Date

Concurring Partner Date

AAM § 2200.22
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23 Client Information Form

INSTRUCTIONS: This form should be completed
for each client before beginning our first
engagement. The form should be
updated annually.

Client Name:

Form of Legal Entity:
(partnership, corporation, etc.)

What type of business is the client in?

List the sources of authoritative literature which describe any specialized accounting principles that are or should
be followed by this client. '

Does this client have any accounting principles or policies that are specific to this entity. Please describe.

On what basis of accounting are the financial statements being presented?

List the key members of management.

List the major stockholders of the client and their percentage of ownership, if known:
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List all related parties. (e.g., subsidiaries, affiliated companies)

Describe any transactions between the client and these related parties.

How many employees does the client have?

How many locations does the client have?

List each location, the type of activity (e.g., plant, home office, etc.) done at each location and the number of
employees at the location.

Number of
Location Activity Employees

Describe the client’s major assets.

Describe the client’s major liabilities.

Describe the client’s major sources of revenue.

Describe the client’s major expenses.
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[NOTE: If the client is in manufacturing, then other operating characteristics which should be described are the
components of cost of goods sold, any marketing methods and the production process.]

List key accounting records which are expected to be reviewed and identify the person responsible and the form of
the records (manual, computer, service bureau).

Accounting Record Person Responsible Form
General Ledger
Journals
Cash Receipts
Cash Disbursements
Payroll
Sales
Purchases
Voucher Register
Subsidiary Ledgers
Accounts‘ Receivable
Accounts Payable
Perpetual Inventory
Fixed Assets
Comments:

Prepared By: Date
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.24 Illustrative Engagement Letter for a Compilation
SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY Certified Public Accountants

[Date]

Mr. Tom Jones, President
ZYXWYV Freight Corporation
648 Crystal Lane

Noplace, Anystate 00000

Dear Mr. Jones:

This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and the nature and
limitations of the services we will provide.

We will perform the following services:

" 1. We will compile, from information you provide, the annual and interim balance sheets and related statements
of income, retained earnings and cash flows of ZYXWYV Freight Corporation for the year 19XX. We will not
audit or review such financial statements. Our report on the annual financial statements of ZYXWYV Freight
Corporation is presently expected to read as follows:

We have compiled the accompanying balance sheet of XYZ Company as of December 31,
19XX, and the related statements of income, retained earnings and cash flows for the year
then ended, in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

A compilation is limited to presenting in the form of financial statements information that is
the representation of management (owners). We have not audited or reviewed the accompa-
nying financial statements and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or any other form of
assurance on them.

Our report on your interim financial statements, which statements will omit substantially all disclosures, will
include an additional paragraph that will read as follows:

Management has elected to omit substantially all of the disclosures required by generally
accepted accounting principles. If the omitted disclosures were included in the financial
statements, they might influence the user’s conclusions about the company’s financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows. Accordingly, these financial statements are
not designed for those who are not informed about such matters.

If, for any reason, we are unable to complete the compilation of your financial statements, we will not issue a
report on such statements as a result of this engagement.

2. We will assist your bookkeeper in adjusting the books of account so that he will be able to prepare a working
trial balance from which financial statements can be compiled. Your bookkeeper will provide us with a
detailed trial balance and any supporting schedules we require.

3. We will also prepare the federal and state [identify states] income tax returns for ZYXWYV Freight Corporation
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 19XX. ‘

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors and irregularities, including fraud or defalcations, that
may exist. However, we will inform you of irregularities that come to our attention, unless they are inconsequen-
tial.
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Our fees for these services....
We shall be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign the copy of this letter in the space provided
and return it to us.’

Sincerely yours,

Swift, March & Company
Acknowledged:
ZYXWYV Freight Corporation

President

Date

‘Some accountants prefer not to obtain an acknowledgment, in which case their letter would omit the paragraph beginning “If the
foregoing...”” and the spaces for the acknowledgment. The first paragraph of their letter might begin as follows: “This letter sets forth our
understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement...”
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.25 Illustrative Engagement Letter for a Review
SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY . Certified Public Accountants

[Date]

Mr. Tom Jones, President
ZYXWV Freight Company
648 Crystal Lane
Nowhere, Anystate 00000

Dear Mr. Jones:

This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and the nature and
limitations of the services we will provide.

We will perform the following services:

1. We will review the balance sheet of ZYXWV Freight Company as of [date], and the related statements of
income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with standards established
by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We will not perform an audit of such financial
statements taken as a whole, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion on them. A review does not
contemplate obtaining an understanding of the internal control structure or assessing control risk, tests of
accounting records and responses to inquiries by obtaining corroborating evidential matter, and certain other
procedures ordinarily performed during an audit. Thus, a review does not provide assurance that we will
become aware of all significant matters that would be disclosed in an audit. Our engagement cannot be relied
upon to disclose errors, irregularities, or illegal acts, including fraud or defalcations, that may exist. However,
we will inform you of any such matters that come to our attention, unless they are inconsequential.

Our report is presently expected to read as follows:

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheet of ZYXWV Freight Company as of
[date], and the related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year
then ended, in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. All information included in these financial statements is the representa-
tion of the management of ZYXWYV Freight Company.

A review consists principally of inquiries of company personnel and analytical procedures
applied to financial data. It is substantially less in scope than an audit in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion
regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly we do not express such an
opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to
the accompanying financial statements in order for them to be in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

If, for any reason, we are unable to complete our review of your financial statements, we will not issue a report on
such statements as a result of this engagement.

2. We will provide your chief accountant with such consultation on accounting matters as he may be required in
adjusting and closing the books of account and in drafting financial statements for our review. Your chief
accountant also will provide us with a detailed trial balance and any supporting schedules we require.
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3. We will also prepare the federal and state [identify states] income tax returns for ZYXWYV Freight Company for
the fiscal year ended [date].
Our fees for these services....
We shall be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign the copy of this letter in the space provided
and return it to us.”

Sincerely yours,

(Signature of Accountant)
Acknowledged: '
ZYXWYV Freight Company

President

Date

[The next page is 2301.]

" Some accountants prefer not to obtain an acknowledgment, in which case their letter would omit the paragraph beginning “If the
foregoing...”and the spaces for the acknowledgment. The first paragraph of their letter might begin as follows: “This letter sets forth our
understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement...”
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AAM Section 2300
Working Papers

Compilation Engagements

.01 SSARS 1 (AR section 100) does not address workpaper documentation for a compilation engagement.
However, many accountants prefer compilation workpapers that include all necessary documentation to verify
that compilation procedures were performed. In determining what workpapers the accountant will need, he or she
should consider any peer review requirements that the firm will need to meet. AAM section 11,000 offers a
discussion on compliance with the AICPA'’s quality control standards.

Compilation Procedures ,
.02 The following items are generally documented in a CPA’s compilation workpapers:

® Documentation of the accountant’s knowledge of the client’s business and the accounting principles and
practices of the industry in which the entity operates

® Documentation of the understanding with the client concerning the services to be rendered, usually in
the form of an engagement letter <

Documentation that the accountant has read the compiled financial statements
Support for a change in the level of service performed, if necessary
Working trial balance

Reasons for omitting substantially all disclosures

Documentation of discussions of unusual items

.03 In addition, if the CPA prepares the financial statements as well as complles them, he or she should also
include in the workpapers the following:

® Support for information in the notes to the financial statements

® Copies of preliminary client records (e.g., working trial balance and ad]ustments) required to arrive at
final compiled financial statements

Compilation Checklists

.04 Procedural checklists can serve as means of documenting in the workpapers that all the necessary
procedures have been performed. When completing a procedural checklist, the accountant should refer to the
specific workpaper documenting completion of the checklist step. An illustrative procedural checklist for a
compilation can be found in AAM section 2300.14.

Review Engagements

05 As noted in AAM section 2100, a review of financial statements involves performing inquiry and
analytical procedures. SSARS 1, paragraph 30 (AR section 100.30), discusses workpaper documentation for review
engagements. SSARS 1 (AR section 100) does not specify the form or content of the working papers in connection
with a review engagement, but paragraph 30 does state that the working papers should describe the following:

a. The matters covered in the accountant’s inquiry and analytical procedures
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b. Unusual matters that the accountant considered during the performance of the review, including their
disposition

Review Procedures—Inquiry

.06 SSARS 1, paragraph 27 (AR section 100.27), states that the accountant’s inquiries should generally consist
of the following:

a. Inquiries concerning the entity’s accounting principles and practices and the methods followed in
applying them.

b. Inquiries concerning the entity’s procedures for recording, classifying, and summarizing transactions,
and accumulating information for disclosure in the financial statements.

c. Inquiries concerning actions taken at meetings of stockholders, board of directors, committees of the
board of directors, or comparable meetings that may affect the financial statements.

d. Inquiries of persons having responsibility for financial and accounting matters concerning (1) whether
the financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
consistently applied, (2) changes in the entity’s business activities or accounting principles and practices,
(3) matters as to which questions have arisen in the course of applying the foregoing procedures, and (4)
events subsequent to the date of the financial statements that would have a material effect on the
financial statements.

.07 SSARS 1, Appendix A (AR section 100.52), contains illustrative inquiries in connection with a review
engagement. These illustrative inquiries appear in AAM section 2300.15. These inquiries do not necessarily apply
to all engagements, nor are they meant to be all-inclusive.

Review Procedures—Analytical
.08 SSARS 1, paragraph 27c (AR section 100.27¢), states that analytical procedures consist of the following:
1. Comparison of the financial statements with statements for a comparable prior period(s)

2. Comparison of the financial statements with anticipated results, if available

3. Study of the relationship of the elements of the financial statements that would be expected to conform
to a predictable pattern based on the entity’s experience -

.09 Three common forms of analytical procedures are ratio analysis, trend analysis, and tests for reasonable-
ness of data. Once the accountant performs his analytical procedures, he or she must evaluate the results, usually
against past historical results or industry averages. Illustrative analytical procedures workpapers can be found in
AAM section 2300.16 and .17.

.10 SSARS 1, paragraph 27 (AR section 100.27), also suggests that the following review procedures be
performed:

a. Reading the financial statements to consider, on the basis of information coming to the accountant’s
attention, whether the financial statements appear to conform with generally accepted accounting
principles

b. Obtaining reports from other accountants, if any, who have been engaged to audit or review the financial
statements of significant components of the reporting entity, its subsidiaries, and other investees

.11 The following items are usually included in the workpapers for a review engagement:
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® Documentation of the accountant’s knowledge of the client’s business and the accountmg principles and
practices of the industry in which it operates
An engagement letter
Support for a change in the level of service, if any
Documentation of all inquiries and respecﬁ\}e responses
Documentation of all analytical procedures
A representation letter

Documentation of discussions of unusual matters

Copies of reports of other accountants who have performed services with respect to a subsidiary or other
significant investee

Representation Letters

12 SSARS 1, paragraph 31 (AR section 100.31), states that the accountant may wish to obtain a representa-
tion letter from the owner, manager, or chief executive officer. Many accountants believe that the “may” is not as
optional as it sounds and that representation letters should be obtained for all review engagements, as is the case
in audit engagements. An illustrative representation letter for d review engagement can be found in AAM section
2300.18.

Review Checklists

.13.In the same wey that procedural checklists are suggested for compilation engagements, it is wise to
prepare such a checklist for a review engagement. An illustrative procedural checklist for a review engagement
can be found in AAM section 2300.19.
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.14 Short-Form Checklist for a Compilation Engagement

AR
Ref.* Initials
1. Obtain an engagement letter. .08
2. Acquire the necessary knowledge of client’s industry accounting principles and
practices. 10
3. Acquire a general understanding of the client’s business transactions, the form of the
accounting records, the stated qualifications of the accounting personnel, the
accounting basis used, and the form and content of the financial statements. (It is not
necessary to make inquiries or perform other procedures unless the information
supplied is questionable.) J11-12
4. Read the financial statements and determine if they are appropriate in form and free
from obvious material error. 13

5. Consider whether all disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) or an acceptable comprehensive basis of accounting are provided. I? they are
not, go to step 6. If they are, go to step 7. 19 —

6. If substantially all disclosures required by GAAP or an other comprehensive basis of
accounting are omitted, indicate this in a segarate paragraph in your report; if a
comﬁ)rehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP is used, disclose this basis either
in the financial statements or in your report. If the statement of cash flows is also

omitted in GAAP statements, modify the scope paragraph and disclosure deficiency

?aragraplah accordingly. If most, but not all, disclosures are omitted, notes to the

inancial statements should be labeled ““Selected Information—Substantially All

Disclosures Required by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Are Not Included.” .19-.21

7. Consider whether the financial statements contain measurement departures from
GAAP or other comprehensive basis of accounting. If they do, go to step 8. If they do
not, go to step 9. 39

8. Get client to revise the financial statements. Failin% that, consider modifying your
report by adding a separate paragraph or para%-aphs. f the impact of the departure has
been determined by management or is known by you, disclose the dollar effects in your
report. (However, uncertainties and inconsistencies are not measurement departures if
they are properly disclosed. See step 5.) Withdraw from the engagement if the GAAP

departures are designed to mislead statement users. .39-.40
9. Determine whether the firm is independent. If the firm is not, go to step 10. If the firm
is, go to step 11. 22
10. If the firm is not independent, add a separate paragraph to your report: “I am (we are)
not independent with respect to XYZ Company.” 22
11. If the financial statements are accompanied by information presented for
supplementary analysis purposes, include such other data in the compilation report. 43
12. Mark each page of the financial statements, including any supplemental data, “See
accompanying notes and accountant’s report.” .16
13. Date your report using the date the compilation was completed. 15
14. Issue the financial statements and related compilation report. 14

15. If subsequent to the date of the report, facts that would possibly cause the financial
statements to be misleading are discovered (and were in existence at the report date),
consult SAS No. 1, section 561 (AU section 561), Interpretation No. 4 of SSARS No. 1
(AR section 9100.13—.15), and your attorney. 42

Completed by Date:

* The abbreviation “AR Ref.” in this checklist means AR section 100. All references in this checklist are to paragraphs in AR section 100.
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15 Review of Financial Statements—IHustrative Inquiries

1.- General

a.

What are the procedures for recording, classifying, and summarizing transactions (relates to each section
discussed below)?

Do the general ledger control accounts agree with subsidiary records (for example, receivables, invento-

> ries, investments, property and equipment, accounts payable, accrued expenses, non-current liabilities)?
c. Have a'ccofmting' pﬁx}dples l?een applied on a ép;igigtept basis? '
2. Cash : ' o 5
a. Have bank balances been reconciled with book balances?
b. Have old or unusual reconciling items between bank balances and book balances been reviewed and
adjustments made where necessary?
c. Has a proper cutoff of cash transactions been made?
d. Are there any restrictions on the ‘ajvail‘ai)ility of cash balances? '
e. Have cash funds been counted and reconciled with control accounts?

3. Receivables

o B

c.
d.

e.

f.

8

Has an adequate allowance ﬁeen made for doubtful accounts?

Have receivables considered unéollectib%e ;:aeen written off?

If appropriate, has integgst h;gen reflected? L
Has a proper 'cgtoff of sales tllar)sactions been made? |

Are there any recéivables 'from‘ employees and related parties?

Are any receivables pledged, discounted, or factored?

-

Have receivables been properly classified between current and noncurrent?

4. Inventories

a.

b.

u

N

g

Have inventories been physically counted? If not, how have inventories been determined?
Have general ledger control accounts been adjusted to agree with physical inventories? = -

If physical inventories are taken at a date other than the balance sheet date, what procedures were used
to record changes in inventory between the date of the physical inventory and the balance sheet date?

Were consignments in or out considéred in taking physical inventories?

What is the basis of valuation? -~ 4 .

Dpeé inventory cost include material, labor, and overhead where applicable? -
Have write-downs for obsolescence or cost in excess of net realizable value been ‘ma&e?
Have proper cutoffs of purchases, goods in trans:xt, and returned goods been made?’

Are there any inventory encumbrances?

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual - Ce ' AAM § 2300.15 -



2306 Compilation and Review

5. Prepaid Expenses '
a. What is the nature of the amounts included in prepaid expenses?
b. How are these amounts amortized?

6. Investments, Including Loans, Mortgages, and Intercorporate Investments
a. Have gains and losses on disposal been reflected?
b. Has investment income been reflected? '

¢. Has appropriate consideration been glven to the clasmﬁcahon of mvestments between current and
noncurrent, and the difference between the coéf and market value of investments?

d. Have consolidation or equity accounting requirements been considered?
e. What is the basis of valuation of marketable equity securities? a
f.  Are investments unencumbered?
7. Property and Equipment ‘
a. Have gains or losses on disposal of property or equipmen4t been reflected?

What are the criteria for capitalization of property and equlpment’? Have such criteria been applied
during the fiscal period?

c.  Does the repairs and maintenance account only include items of an expense nature?

A

- Are property and equipment stated at cost? ’
e. What are the depreciation methods and rates? Are they appropriate and consistent?
£ Are there any unrecorded additions, retirements, abandonments, sales, or trade-ins?
g Does the entity have material lease agreeme;\ts? Have they been properly reflected?
h. Is any property or equipment mortgaged or otherwise encumbered?
8. Other Assets o

a. What is the nature of the amounts included in other assets?

b. Do these assets represent costs that w111 benefit future periods? What is the amortization pohcy" Is it
appropriate? S *

¢. Have other assets been properly classified between current and noncurrent?
d. Are any of these assets mortgaged or otherwise encumbered? -
9. Accounts and Notes Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Have all significant payables been reflected?
b. Are all bank and other short-term liabilities properly classified?

c. Have all significant accruals, such as payroll, interest, and iiibvisioﬁs for pension and profit-sharing
plans been reflected? | . 4

d. Are there any collateralized liabilities?

e.  Are there any payables to employees and related parties?
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10. Long-Term Liabilities

d.

e.

What are the terms and other provisions of long-term liability agreements?

Have liabilities been properly classified between current and non-current?

_ Has interest expense been reflected?

Has there been compliance with restrictive covenants of loan agreements?

Are any long-term liabilities collateralized or subordinated?

11. Income and Other Taxes

a.

b.

C.

d.

Has provision been made for current and prior-year federal income taxes payable?
Have any assessments or reassessments been received? Are there tax examinations in process?
Are there temporary differences? If so, have deferred taxes been reflected?

Has provision been made for state and local income, franchise, sales, and other taxes payable?

12. Other Liabilities, Contingencies, and Commitments

a. Whatis the nature of the amounts included in other liabilities?

b. Have other liabilities been properly classified between current and noncurrent?

c. Arethere any contingent liabilities, such as discounted notes, drafts, endorsements, warranties, litigation,
and unsettled asserted claims? Are there any unasserted potential claims?

d. Are there any material contractual obligations for construction or purchase of real property and
equipment and any commitments or options to purchase or sell company securities?

13. Equity

a. What is the nature of any changes in equity accounts?

b. What classes of capital stock have been authorized?

¢.  What is the par or stated value of the various classes of stock?

d. Do amounts of outstanding shares of capital stock agree with subsidiary records?

e. Have capital stock preferences, if any, been disclosed?

f.  Have stock options been granted?

8 Has the entity made any acquisitions of its own capital stock?

h. Are there any restrictions on retained earnings or other capital?

14. Revenue and Expenses

a.

b.

C

Are revenues from the sale of major products and services recognized in the appropriate period?
Are purchases and expenses recognized in the appropriate period and properly classified?

Do the financial statements include discontinued operations or items that might be considered extraordi-
nary? '
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15. Other

a. Are there any events that occurred after the eid of the fiscal period that have a significant effect on the
financial statements? .

b. Have actions taken at stockholder, board of directors, or comparable meetings that affect the financial
statements been reflected?

Have there been any material transactions between related parties?

d. Are there any material uncertainties? Is there any change in the status of material uncertainties
previously disclosed?
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16 Illustrative Ratio Analysis‘ Worksheet

Below you will find 34 financial ratios. These financial ratios include all of the key ratios included in Robert Morris
Associates Annual Statement Studies [Published by Robert Morris Associates, Philadelphia, PA] and Dun and
Bradstreet’s Key Business Ratios [Published by Dun and Bradstreet Credit Services, Murray Hill, NJ]}.

10.

11.

12,

13.

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual

Ratio Name

Current Ratio

Quick Ratio

Days Sales in
Accounts
Receivable

Allowance for
Bad Debts as a
% of A/R

Bad Debt Exp.
as a Percentage
of Net Sales

Inventory '

Turnover

Net Sales to
Inventory

Days
Inventory

Net Fixed
Assets to Net
Worth

Current
Liabilities to
Net Worth

Current
Liabilities to
Inventory

Accounts
Payable to Net
Sales

Total
Liabilities to
Net Worth

Formula for Ratio

Current Assets
Current Liabilities

"Quick Assets
Current Liabilities

Accounts Receivable (net)
Net Sales

Allowance for Bad Debts
Accounts Receivable

Bad DeBt Expense
Net Sales

Cost of Sales x (Days/Year)
Inventory x (Days/Period)

Net Sales x (Days/Year)
Inventory x (Days/Period)

Inventory x (Days/Period)
Cost of Sales

Net Fixed Assets .
Net Worth

Current Liabilities
Net Worth

Current Liabilities
Inventory

Accts. Payable x (Days/Period)

Net Sales x (Days/Year)

Total Liabilities
Net Worth

2309

Calculations
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Ratio Name Formula for Ratio Calculations
Net Worth to ;
14. Total - Net Worth -
Liabilities Total Liabilities
Net Sales to
15. Working _ Ne.zt Sales x (Days/Year) _
Capital Working Capital x (Days/Per.) -
16 Total Assetsto ~_ Total Assets X (Days/Period) B
" NetSales - Net Sales x (Days/Year) -
17. Returnon _ Net Income x (Days/Year) _
" Total Assets ~ Total Assets x (Days/Period)
1g. Returmnon B Net Income x (Days/Year) B
" Net Worth " 'NetWorth x (Days/Period)
19, Retumnon = Net Income ~
*  Net Sales = Net Sales =
Net Sales to
20. Accounts _ Net Sales x (Days/Ye:':\r) _
Receivable A/R (net) X (Days/Period)
Net Sales to
21. Net Fixed _ ‘ Net Sales x (Days/Yeaf') _
Assets Fixed Assets x (Days/Period)
22 Net Sales to Net Sales x (Days/Year) B
" Total Assets Total Assets x (Days/Period)
23, NetSales to _ "Net Sales x (Days/Year) ~
" NetWorth " NetWorth x (Days/Period)
Days Payables Accts. Pavable x (Days/Period
2% in zost gf _ Accts. Payable x (Days/Period)
Sales - Cost of Sales
Income Before |
25. Tax to Net _ Inc. Before Tax x (Days /\.Iear) -
Worth Net Worth x (Days/Period)
Income Before Inc. Before T, Davs/Y
26. Tax to Total = = Before Tax x (Days/ .ear) =
Assets Total Assets x (Days/Period)
Retained Ret. Earn. X (Days/Period
27. Earnings to = et. Eamn. x (Days/Period) =
Net Income Net Income x (Days/Year)
og. Gross Profit Net Sales — Cost of Sales -
8. Percentage = Net Sales =
eratin; ting E
29. gﬁ)ensesgas a = Operating Expenses =
% of Net Sales Net Sales
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Ratio Name

30 Times Interest
*  Earned

31 Interest -
. enses to =
5’2: Sales

Amort/Deprec
32. ExpensetoNet =
Sales

Officers
33. Compensation =
to Net Sales

Altman Z
34. Score

For corporations:
Working Capital
Total Assets

Retained Earnings
Total Assets

Earnings Before
Interest and Taxes

Total Assets

Market Value Equity

Book Value of
Total Liabilities

Sales
Total Assets

For private companies:
(five variable)

Working Capital
Total Assets

Retained Earnings
Total Assets

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual
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Formula for Ratio Calculations
Inc. Before Interest and Taxes

Interest Expense

Interest Expense
Net Sales

Amort. and Deprec. Expense
Net Sales

Officers Compensation
Net Sales

The Altman Z Score, developed by Edward I.
Altman, is a composite formula that is widely used
to measure the financial “health” of a company. The
formula takes financial ratios and multiplies each by
a ?ecific constant. The amounts so computed are
added together to obtain an overall score. This score
is then compared to scores from other companies to
}rahe relative financial health. The formulas are as
ollows:

.012 =

.014 =

.033 =

.006 =

999 =,

Altman Z Score

717 =

.847 =

AAM § 2300.16
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Ratio Name Formula for Ratio
Earnings Before
Interest and Taxes N 3107
Total Assets .
S
ook Value
Total Liabilities X 420
Sales
“Total Assets X 998
' Altman Z Score
For private companies:
(four variable)
Working Capital
6.
Total Assets X 56
Retained Earnings .
3.26
Total Assets X
Income Before
Interest and Taxes g 672
Total Assets .
Net Worth
1.
Total Liabilities X 05
Altman Z Score
AAM § 2300.16
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17 Illustrative Analytical Procedures Comparative Report

2313

Sample Services, Inc. Preparedby —
Analytical Procedures Comparative Report Reviewedby
For the period ended December 31,19
Net
.Account Name Account# Prior Ending Change %
Cash—Operating 110 '
Cash—Savings 115
Petty Cash . 118
Accounts Receivable 120
Prepaid Insurance ‘130
Prepaid Dues 131
Prepaid Interest 132
Supplies Inventory 140
Land 200
Buildings 210
Accum. Depr.—Buildings 215
Equipment 220
Accum. Depr.—Equipment 225
Other Assets 250
Notes Payable 310
Accounts Payable 330
Accrued Liabilities 340
Long-term Debt 390
Common Stock 400
Paid-in Capital 410
Retained Earnings 450
Sales 510
Interest Income 520 -
Other Revenue 530
Automobile . 700
Bad Debts 705
Depreciation 710
Donations 715
Insurance 720
Interest 725
Licenses & Dues 730 .
Medical Insurance 735
Payroll Taxes 740
Postage 745 .
Professional Fees 750
Profit Sharing 755
Repairs & Maintenance 760
Salaries—Employees ‘765
Salaries—Officers 767
Supplies 770.
Telephone . 775
Travel 780
Utilities 785
Miscellaneous 790
Net Balance
AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §:2300.17
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18 Review of Financial Statements—Illustrative Representation Letter

(Date of Accountant’s Report)

(To the Accountant)

In connection with your review of the (identification of financial statements) of (name of client) as of (date)
and for the (period of review) for the purpose of expressing limited assurance that there are no material
modifications that should be made to the statements in order for them to be in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles, we confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the following representations made to
you during your review.

1. The financial statements referred to above present the financial position, results of operations, and cash

flows of (name of client) in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. In that connection,
we specifically confirm that—

a.

The company’s accounting principles, and the practices and methods followed in applying them, are
as disclosed in the financial statements.

There have been no changes during the (period reviewed) in the company’s accounting f:rinciples
and practices.

We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets
and liabilities.

There are no material transactions that have not been properly reflected in the financial statements.

There are no material losses (such as from obsdlete inventory or purchase or sales commitments) that
have not been properly accrued or disclosed in the financial statements.

There are no violations or possible violations of laws or regulations whose effects should be
considered for disclosure in the financial statements or as a basis for recording a loss contingency,
and there are no other material liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be accrued
or disclosed.

The company has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on
such assets nor has any asset been pledged.

There are no related pafty transactions or related amounts receivable or payable. that have not been
properly disclosed in the financial statements.

We have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on
the financial statements in the event of noncompliance.

No events have occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date that would require adjustment to, or
disclosure in, the financial statements,

AAM § 2300.18 Copyright ©1989, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.
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2. We have advised you of all actions taken at meetings of stockholders, board of directors, and committees
of the board of directors (or other similar bodies, as applicable) that may affect the financial statements. -

3. Wehave responded fully to all inquiries made to us by you during your review.

(Name of Owner or Chief
_ Executive
Officer and Title)

(Name of Chief F(iinancial Officer
an u
Title, where applicable)

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual , , AAM § 2300.18
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19 Short-Form Checklist for a Review Engégement ' AR

- ‘ ' - Ref® Inirials

1. Obtainan engagementletter..........oiuiiuiieiiiiiiiniiiiiniiieniinnennennanns .08°
2. Determine whether your firm is independent, if the firm is not, go to step 3. If the firm is,

gotostep4. ...t e eeesaereeree s R R R RPN .38
3. Stop. Do not issue a review report. (However, it may be possible to issue a compilation

4= o) 4 ) 38
4. Acquire the necessary knowledge of the client’s industry accounting principles and

22 Lo L - S 24

5. Acquire a general understanding of the nature of the client’s business, including (a) its
operating characteristics and (g) the nature of its assets, liabilities, revenues, and

EXPEIISES. & .t veusseeseseoeessesnansasssassaasssasssonssessssossasnonssaosss .26

6. Applya riate inquiry and analytical procedures in order to obtain a reasonable basis
foggzprgs%ri:p limiteg l;lsrsyurance chttl ther% are no material modifications that should be .24 &
made to the financial statements. ........ovivitiereeeenrnoeeeonseeraeasensensnss 27

7. Read the financial statements to determine whether, based on the information presented,
they appear to conform to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) or an other
comprehensive basis of accounting. Obtain reports of other accountants for subsidiaries,
investee, etc., if any. Indicate division of responsibility if reference is made to other -
ACCOUMEANES. . o . v it vteiietree et eeonannnaoeeseuannonsesesnnnnenseesssennnnans .

8. Perform additional procedures if information appears to be incorrect, incomplete, or
otherwise unsatisfactory. .........coviiiiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i - .29

9. Document in your workpapers matters covered in steps 6 and 7 above. Also describe
unusual matters that were considered and how they were resolved (step 8). ............ .30

10. Determine whether the inquiry and analytical procedures considered necessary to
achieve limited assurance are incomplete or restricted in any way. If they are, go to step
1L1;ifnot, gotostep 12.. . ...t i i e .36

11. Consider whether a compilation report should be issued rather than a review report. (A
review that is incomplete or restricted is not an adequate basis for issuing a review
report.) If the client has refused to provide additional or revised information, the .12&
accountant should withdraw from the engagement. ...............cooiiiinn, 36

12. Consider whether the financial statements contain known departures from GAAP or an
other comprehensive basis of accounting, including disclosure departures. If they do, go
tostep 13. If theydonot, gotostep 14. ........iviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeiannas 39

13. Get client to revise the financial statements. Failing that, consider modifying your report
by adding a separate paragraph or ﬁ:ragra%hs. If the impact of the departure has been
determined by management or is known by you, disclose the dollar effects in your
rt. (However, uncertainties and inconsistencies should not cause the report to be
modified if they are properly disclosed.) Withdraw from the engagement if the .39 &
departures are designed to mislead financial statementusers. ................... ..., 40

14. Consider obtaining a representation letter from the client......... ceeres P §

15. Determine whether the basic financial statements are accompanied by information
presented for supplementary analysis purposes. If they are, go to step 16. If they are not,
O L = - o B 43

16. Indicate the responsibility assumed for the sgr lementary information in your review
;yort or in a separate report. The report should disclose whether (a) the supplemental
ormation has reviewed (as part of the basic financial statement review) and you
are not aware of any needed material modification or (b) the supplemental information

has not been reviewed butonly compiled. . ...........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 43

* The abbreviation “AR Ref.” in this checklist means AR section 100. All references in this checklist are to paragraphs in AR section 100.

'MM § 2300.19 Copyright © 1989, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.
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AR
Ref*® Initials
17. Mark each page of the financial statements, including any supplemental data, “See
accompanying notes and accountant’s report.” ...... ... i i iiiiiiiiiiie el 34
18. Date your report using the date the inquiry and analytical procedures were completed. .. .33
19. Issue the financial statements and related review report. . ........coovviiiiiiiinnnae, 32
20. If subsequent to the date of the report, facts that would possibly cause the financial
statements to be misleading are discovered (and were in existence at the rexﬁg date),
consult SAS No. 1, section 561 (AU section 561), Interpretation No. 4 of SS No. 1
(AR section 9100.13—.15), and your attorney. ...........ooueeevuncercnnnssnennans 42°
Completed by Date: ___

[The next page is 2401.]

* The abbreviation “/AR Ref.” in this checklist means AR section 100. All references in this checklist are to paragraphs in AR section 100.
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AAM Section 2400
Form and Content of Financial Statements

Statements Prepared

.01 The basic financial statements for a company that presents its financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) are:

@ Balance Sheet
® Income Statement
® Statement of Cash Flows (either direct or indirect method)
® Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
Examples of financial statement presentations can be found in the AICPA Disclosure Checklist Series.

.02 The description of accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements are considered part of the
basic financial statements.

.03 Each financial statement presented should include the name of the company, the applicable statement
title, and the date or time period covered. SSARS 1, paragraph 16 (AR section 100.16), states that each page of
financial statements compiled by the accountant should contain a reference such as “See Accountant’s Compila-
tion Report.” Each page of reviewed financial statements should refer to the accountant’s review report, as
required by SSARS 1, paragraph 34 (AR section 100.34).

.04 When the financial statements are either compiled or reviewed, some accountants prefer to follow the
statement title with the word “unaudited.” SSARS 1 (AR section 100) does not require use of the word
“unaudited” when associated with compiled or reviewed statements nor does it prohibit its use.

Comparative Financial Statements

05 There is no requirement to prepare comparative financial statements. However, Accounting Research
Bulletin (ARB) No. 43, Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins, chapter 2, paragraph 1, states
that comparative statements in annual and other reports enhance the usefulness of such reports. ARB No. 43 also
states that footnotes of the prior year should be repeated, or referred to, to the extent that they continue to be-of
significance.

06 When comparative financial statements are presented, the accountant should issue an appropriate report
for each period presented in accordance with SSARS 2 (AR section 200). Comparative financial statements may
contain statements for which the level of service provided in each period is different. Many times the level of
service is indicated in the statement title as follows:

ABC COMPANY
BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 19X2 (Reviewed) and 19X1 (Compiled)

.07 Tllustrative reports on comparative financial statements can be found in AAM sections 10,400.12—.17 and
10,500.07—.12.

Notes to Financial Statements

.08 The notes to the financial statements, as a part of the basic statements, are the responsibility of
management. The accountant should explain the statements and the footnotes to the client so that the client
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understands the statements in sufficient depth to take full responsibility for them. The practitioner who assists the
client in preparing the financial statements or who totally prepares them must be careful in the wording of the
notes. The accountant should avoid wording the notes in such a way as would imply that they are the
responsibility of the accountant. For example, words such as “we,” “our,” and “the client,” should be avoided.
When referring to the client, some accountants prefer to use the terms “the Company” or “Management.”

.09 All of the disclosures required by GAAP should be made either on the face of the financial statements or
in the notes thereto. In a compilation engagement, the client may elect to omit substantially all disclosures; a more
detailed discussion of this appears in AAM section 2500. For a list of required disclosures, the accountant and the
client may wish to review the applicable AICPA disclosure checklists.

Supplementary Information

.10 The accountant’s report on supplementary information is discussed in SSARS 1, paragraph 43 (AR section
100.43), which states that when the basic financial statements are accompanied by information presented for
supplementary analysis purposes, the accountant should clearly indicate the degree of responsibility he is taking
regarding the other information. The supplementary information is generally separated from the basic financial
statements and many accountants believe it should be presented after the basic statements.

.11 When the accountant compiles both the basic financial statements and the other data presented for
supplementary analysis purposes only, his or her compilation report should include tie supplementary informa-
tion.

12 When the accountant has reviewed the basic financial statements, he may indicate the degree of
responsibility he is taking with respect to the other information by an explanation in his review report or in a
separate report on the other data, that the review has been made for the purpose of expressing limited assurance
that there are no material modifications that should be made to the financial statements for them to be in
conformity with GAAP, and either— '

a. The other data accompanying the financial statements are presented for supplementary analysis pur-
poses only and have been subjected to the inquiry and analytical procedures applied in the review of the
financial statements, and the accountant did not become aware of any material modifications that should
be made to such data, or

b. The other data accompanying the financial statements are presented for supplementary analysis pur-
poses and have not been subjected to the inquiry and analytical procedures applied in the review of the
financial statements, but were compiled from information that is the representation of management,
without audit or review, and the accountant does not express an opinion or any other form of assurance
on such data.

.13 Illustrative accountants’ reports on supplementary information accompanying compiled and reviewed
financial statements can be found in AAM sections 10,400.18 and 10,500.13—.14, respectively.

Subsequent Discovery of Facts

.14 Subsequent to the report date for compiled or reviewed financial statements the accountant may become
aware of facts that may have existed at the report date which might have caused the accountant to believe that
information supplied by the client was incorrect, incomplete, or otherwise unsatisfactory. SSARS 1, paragraph 42
(AR section 100.42), states that, in those circumstances, the accountant may wish to consider the guidance in SAS
No. 1, section 561, Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date of the Auditor’s Report (AU section 561), in
determining the proper course of action.

.15 Interpretation 4 of SSARS 1, “’Discovery of Information After the Date of the Accountant’s Report” (AR
section 9100.13—.15), discusses two factors the accountant might consider when determining the appropriate
course of action regarding the subsequent discovery. The two factors discussed are (1) the reliability of the
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information and (2) the existence of persons known to be relying on or likely to rely on the financial statements. If
the accountant determines that the information is reliable and there are persons known to be relying on or likely
to rely on the information, the accountant would ordinarily conclude that those individuals should be notified in
an appropriate manner.

.16 Both SSARS 1, paragraph 42 (AR section 100.42) and Interpfetation 4 (AR section 9100.13—.15) indicate
that because of the legal implications involved in actions contemplated under SAS No. 1, section 561 (AU section

561), and Interpretation 4 discussed in paragraphs .14 and .15, the accountant should consider consulting an
attorney.

[The next page is 2501.]
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AAM Section 2500
Accountants’ Reports

.01 The users of financial statements should be able to easily identify the degree of responsibility that an
accountant is taking with respect to a specific set of financial statements. The usual method of conveying the
amount of responsibility taken is the written accountant’s report. Therefore, whenever an accountant reviews or
compiles financial statements, he should issue a report prepared in accordance with the statements on standards
for accounting and review services.

.02 According to SSARS 1, paragraph 6 (AR section 100.06), an accountant should not consent to the use of
his name in a document or written communication containing unaudited financial statements unless

a. he has compiled or reviewed the financial statements and his report accompanies them, or

b. the financial statements are accompanied by an indication that the accountant has not compiled or
reviewed the financial statements and that he assumes no responsibility for them.

.03 If an accountant becomes aware that his name has been improperly used in a client-prepared document
containing unaudited financial statements, he should advise his clierit that use of his name is inappropriate. The
accountant should consider what other courses of action need to be taken, including consulting with his or her
attorney. 4

.04 An accountant should not submit unaudited financial statements to his client or third parties unless, as a
minimum service, he has compiled the financial statements in accordance with statements on standards for
accounting and review services.

.05 If the accountant has performed more than one service, he should issue the report which is appropriate for
the highest level of service performed. For example, if an accountant performs both a compilation and an audit of
financial statements, the appropriate report to issue would be the audit report.

Compilation Report

.06 SSARS 1, paragraph 14 (AR section 100.14), states that financial statements compiled by an accountant
should be accompanied by a report that states—

a. A compilation has been performed in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

b. A compilation is limited to presenting in the form of financial statements information that is the
representation of management.

c. The financial statements have not been audited or reviewed and, accordingly, the accountant does not
express an opinion or any other form of assurance on them.

Any other procedures performed by the accountant either before or during the compilation engagement should
not be described in the accountant’s report. An example of the accountant’s standard compilation report can be
found in AAM section 10,400.01.

.07 Each page of the financial statements compiled by the accountant should include a reference to the
accountant’s report, such as, “See Accountant’s Compilation Report.”

.08 The date of the completion of the compilation should be used as the date of the accountant’s report.
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.09 An accountant may be asked to issue a compilation report on only one financial statement and not on the
other related financial statements, for example, reporting on the balance sheet, but not on the related statements of
- income, retained earnings, and cash flows. SSARS 1 (AR section 100) does not prohibit the accountant from
performing such a service.’ ‘

.10 If an accountant is not independent, he may still issue a compilation report, provided that he has followed
the appropriate authoritative literature during his engagement. The accountant should disclose his lack of
independence; however, the reason should not be described. The following statement should be included as the
last paragraph of his report:

I am (we are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company.
Review Report

.11 SSARS 1, paragraph 32 (AR section 100.32), states that financial statements reviewed by an accountant
should be accompamed by a report which states—

a. A review has been performed in accordance w1th standards established by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

b. Allinformation included in the financial statements is the representation of management of the entity.

c. . A review consists principally of inquiries of company personnel and analytical procedures applied to
financial data.

d. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an
opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole and, accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

e. The accountant is not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the financial
statements in order for them to be in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP),
other than those modifications, if any, indicated in his report.

Any other procedures performed by the accountant either before or during the review engagement should not be
described in the accountant’s report. An example of the accountant’s standard review report can be found in AAM
section 10,500.01.

.12 Each page of the financial statements reviewed by the accountant should include a reference to the
accountant’s report, such as, “See Accountant’s Review Report.”

.13 The date of the completion of the accountant’s inquiry and analytical procedures should be used as the
date of the accountant’s report.

".14 If an accountant is unable to perform the necessary inquiry and analytical procedures to achieve the
limited assurance which is contemplated by a review, then his review is incomplete. Therefore, he would not have
an adequate basis for issuing a review report. If this is the case, then the accountant should consider whether in
this situation the incomplete review also precludes him from issuing a compilation report on the financial
statements. A change in the level of service is discussed in AAM section 2200.07 through .16.

.15 An accountant may be asked to issue a review report on only one financial statement and not on the other
related financial statements, for example, reporting on the balance sheet, but not on the related statements of
income, retained earnings, and cash flows. According to SSARS 1, paragraph 37 (AR section 100. 37), the
accountant may do so as long as the scope of his analytical procedures has not been limited.

.16 SSARS 1, paragraph 38 (AR section 100.38), precludes the accountant from issuing a review report for an
entity with respect to which the accountant is not independent.
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Modifications to Standard Report

Omission of Substantially All Disclosures

.17 SSARS 1, paragraphs 19 through 21 (AR section 100.19—.21), discuss reporting on financial statements
that omit substantially all disclosures. An accountant may compile financial statements that omit substantially all
disclosures required by GAAP, provided that this omission is clearly indicated in his report, and is not, to the
accountant’s knowledge, undertaken with the intention to mislead the user of the financial statements. Examples
of the appropriate reports under these circumstances can be found in AAM section 10,400.02—.03.

.18 If the entity wants to include disclosures about only a few matters in the form of notes to the financial
statements, then that information should be clearly labeled as selected information, i.e., “Selected Information—
Substantially All Disclosures Required by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Are Not Included.”

.19 If the financial statements are compiled in accordance with a compreﬁensive basis of accounting other
than GAAP and disclosure is not made of the basis used, then the basis should be disclosed in the accountant’s
report.

Omission of Statement of Cash Flows

.20 FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows, paragraph 3, requires that a business enterprise that
provides a set of financial statements that reports both financial position and results of operations should include a
statement of cash flows for each period for which results of operations are reported. Therefore, omitting this
statement is a departure from GAAP. A GAAP departure must be disclosed in a separate paragraph of the
accountant’s report. If the statement of cash flows is omitted, then the following paragraph should be added to the
accountant’s compilation or review report:

A statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 19XX, has not been presented.
Generally accepted accounting principles require that such a statement be presented when
financial statements purport to present financial position and results of operation.

The first paragraph of the report should also be modified accordingly. Examples of the full accountant’s reports,
both compilation and review, can be found in AAM sections 10,400.03 and 10,500.04, respectively.

GAAP Departures

.21 An accountant who is engaged to compile or review financial statements may become aware of a GAAP
departure which is material to the financial statements taken as a whole. The accountant should ask management
to revise the financial statements, If management refuses to revise the financial statements, then the accountant
should consider whether modification of his standard report is sufficient to disclose the departure.

.22 SSARS 1, paragraph 40 (AR section 100.40), states that if the accountant decides that modification of the
standard report is appropriate, then the departure should be disclosed in a separate paragraph of his report. This
disclosure should include the effects of the departure on the financial statements if management has determined
these effects, or as part of the procedures performed the accountant has been able to determine the effects himself.
The accountant is not required to determine the effects if management has not done so and this is clearly stated in
his report. Examples of both compilation and review reports can be found in AAM sections 10,400.05—.06 and
10,500.02—.04, respectively.

.23 If the accountant believes that modification of the standard compilation or review report is not sufficient to
indicate the deficiencies of the financial statements taken as a whole, then according to SSARS 1, paragraph 41
(AR section 100.41), the accountant should withdraw from the engagement and provide no further services with
respect to that set of financial statements. The accountant may also want to contact his attorney.
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Scope Limitations

.24 According to SSARS 1, paragraph 36 (AR section 100.36), if an accountant is unable to perform the
necessary inquiry and analytical procedures to achieve the limited assurance which is contemplated by a review,
then his review is incomplete. Therefore, he would not have an adequate basis for issuing a review report. If this is
the case, then the accountant should consider whether in this situation the incomplete review also precludes him
from issuing a compilation report on the financial statements.

.25 The decision to issue a compilation report under these circumstances is a matter of professional judgment.
Interpretation No. 14 of SSARS 1, “Reporting on Financial Statements When the Scope of the Accountant’s
Procedures Has Been Restricted”” (AR section 9100.50—.53), offers guidance on making this judgment.

.26 Interpretation No. 14 (AR section 9100.50—.53) says that the accountant should consider whether the
client has refused to provide additional information or make requested revisions, or the client is unable to provide
such information because of circumstances beyond his control. If a client refuses to furnish this additional
information, then according to SSARS 1, paragraph 12 (AR section 100.12), the accountant should withdraw from
the engagement. "

.27 If the client is unable to provide the information because of circumstances beyond his control, the
accountant should consider the reasons for the limitation. Before deciding to issue a compilation report he should
also consider the impact of the limitation on the usefulness of the financial statements. If the accountant decides to
issue a compilation report under these circumstances, he should consider adding an explanatory paragraph that
describes the nature of the limitation.

Uncertainties

.28 Interpretation No. 11 of SSARS 1, “Reporting on Uncertainties” (AR section 9100.33—.40), offers
guidance on the accountant’s reporting obligations when there is an uncertainty in the financial statements.
Disclosure guidelines for uncertainties can be found in FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies (AC
C59), and FASB Statement No. 47, Disclosure of Long-Term Obligations (AC C32).

.29 The accounting literature does not provide any guidance concerning the necessary disclosures for an
uncertainty caused by doubts about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. This guidance is found in
SAS No. 59, The Auditor’s Consideration of an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern, paragraphs 10
and 11 (AU section 341.10—.11). ' '

.30 If the accountant believes that the disclosure of an uncertainty in the financial statements is inadequate,
then he should look to the guidance on reporting on GAAP departures, AAM section 2500.21—.23, for the
necessary modifications to his report. If the accountant believes that the disclosure of an uncertainty in the
financial statements is adequate, then according to SSARS 1, paragraph 40, footnote 14 (AR section 100.40), there
is no need to modify the accountant’s standard report, either compilation or review. ‘

.31 Although it is not required, an accountant may wish to add an explanatory paragraph to his compilation or
review report to emphasize the existence of an uncertainty. An example of an explanatory paragraph follows:

As discussed in Note X, certain conditions indicate that the Company may be unable to
continue as a going concern. The accompanying financial statements do not include any
adjustments to the financial statements that might be necessary should the Company be
unable to continue as a going concern.

Examples of full compilation and review reports for this situation can be found in AAM sections 10,400.21
and 10,500.15, respectively.

[The next page is 2601.]
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AAM Section 2600
Special Areas

Prescribed Forms

.01 SSARS 3 (AR section 300) allows an accountant to issue a compilation report on a prescribed form which
calls for a departure from GAAP by using a measurement principle different from GAAP or by not requiring the
disclosures required by GAAP. A prescribed form is defined in SSARS 3, paragraph 2 (AR section 300.02), as “any
standard preprinted form designed or adopted by a body to which it is to be submitted, for example; forms used
by industry trade associations, credit agencies, banks, and governmental and regulatory bodies other than those
concerned with the sale or trading of securities.”

02 Generally, it is assumed that the information required by a prescribed form meets the needs of the body
that required the form to be completed, and, therefore, it is not necessary for that body to be advised of departures
from GAAP that are required by the form. An example of the compilation report to be issued when the unaudited
financial statements of a nonpublic entity are included in a prescribed form that calls for departures from GAAP
can be found in AAM section 10,400.19.

03 If, during the compilation engagement, the accountant becomes aware of a departure from GAAP not
required by the prescribed form, he should follow the guidance discussed in AAM section 2500.21 through .23 on
GAAP departures. If the accountant finds that there is a departure from the requirements of the prescribed form,
he should consider the departure the same as he would a departure from GAAP in determining the effects on his
report. An example of a compilation report for a departure from GAAP which was not called for by the prescribed
form can be found in AAM section 10,400.20.

.04 SSARS 3, paragraph 5 (AR section 300.05), states that if the accountant is asked to sign a preprinted form
which does not conform with the guidance found in SSARS 3 (AR section 300) or SSARS 1 (AR section 100), he
should not sign the form. He should add the appropriate report to the prescribed form.

Specified Elements

05 SSARS 1 (AR section 100) provides guidance on the compilation and review of financial statements. Some
accountants are asked to issue review reports on separate presentations of specified elements, accounts or items of
financial statements or to report on agreed-upon procedures. Since this type of presentation is not a financial
statement, guidance for this type of engagement is not found in the statements on standards for accounting and
review services. This type of presentation should be reported on in accordance with SAS No. 14, Special Reports
(AU section 621), and SAS No. 35, Special Reports—Applying Agreed-Upon Procedures to Specified Elements,
Accounts, or Items of a Financial Statement (AU section 622),

[The next page is 3001.]
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Sections 3165, 3170, and 3175 include illustrative audit assignment -control
forms, engagement letters, and an illustrative planning checklist that can be
used by an accountant in the planning phase of an audit engagement.

Various formats of audit assignment controls, engagement letters, and plcnning
checklists are in use; nevertheless, inclusion of the formats in this section in no
way means that they are preferable. Readers are urged to refer directly to
authoritative pronouncements when appropriate.

llustrative formats of audit assignment controls, engagement letters, and
planning checklists are often helpful in developing a consistent style within a
firm. However, no set of illustrative formats can cover dll the situations that are
likely to be encountered in practice becquse the ckcumstances of engagements
vary widely.

Readers should consider other sources of ||lusircmve presenfuhons, such as those
in authoritative pronouncements and AICPA audit and accounting guides.
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AAM Section 3100
Planning the Engagement

.01 The planning phase is an important part of every engagement. During this phase, the partner and the staff
review the client’s business and the industry in which the client operates, then develop an overall strategy for the
expected conduct and scope of the engagement.

.02 The need for planning is highlighted in Rule 201, General Standards (ET section 201.01), AICPA Code of
Professional Conduct, which states: “A member shall adequately plan and supervise an engagement.”

03 The first standard of fieldwork of generally accepted auditing standards states: “The work is to be
adequately planned and assistants, if any, are to be properly supervised.” Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS)
No. 22, Planning and Supervision (AU section 311), provides authoritative interpretive guidance on the first
standard of fieldwork.

.04 Proper planning also enhances the productivity of engagement personnel and should result in a more
profitable engagement.

.05 The planning memo and the planning checklist are two commonly used planning documents. The style
and complexity of these documents will depend on engagement needs and firm preference. The.same memo or
checklist may be referred to in the review process to ensure that the items highlighted in the planning phase are
given adequate attention during the engagement.

.06 The steps in audit planning are as follows:
a. Understand the scope of services and the nature of reports expected to be rendered.
b. Decide whether or not to accept the engagement.
c.  Assign personnel to the engagement and prepare a preliminary time budget.
d. Assess independence of firm and audit team.
e. Understand the entity’s business and the industry in which it operates.
f. Assess the auditability of the entity by—
1. Gaining an adequate understanding of the intémal control structure.
2. Evaluating management integrity.
g  Establish an agreement with the client, preferably with an engagement letter.
h.  Assess control risks.
i.  Make a preliminary judgment about materiality levels for audit purposes.
j.  Estimate the level of audit risk and consider its interactive components.
k. Consider how components of audit risk relate to one another for each cycle or major account.
1. Consider cost-effectiveness of different audit strategies.

m. Write the audit program and finalize a time budget.

[The next page is 3121.]
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AAM Section 3105 |
Understanding the Assignment

.01 The auditor should (a) meet with the client to understand the type, scope, and timing of the engagerﬁent;
(b) understand if reports on compliance, internal control structure, or segments of the entity are required; (c)
understand the client’s expectations, both stated and implied; and (d) review the expectations of both the owners

and managers.

.02 A sample checklist documenting the procedures listed in this section is located in AAM section 3165.

[The next page is 3141.]
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AAM Section 3110 |
Assigning Personnel to the Engagement

General Comments

.01 Engagement planning should include procedures for assigning personnel to the engagement. The
procedures established should provide the firm with reasonable assurance that work will be performed by persons
having the degree of technical training and proficiency required in the circumstances. Generally, the more able
and experienced the personnel assigned to a particular engagement, the less need for direct supervision.

{02 Some procedures regarding assignment of personnel to the engagement are discussed in this section. The
specific procedures adopted by a firm would not necessarily include all the procedures or be limited to those
discussed. Overall firm requirements for assigning personnel to engagements are addressed in the Quality Control
Policies and Procedures for CPA Firms, “‘Establishing Quality Control Policies and Procedures,” (QC section 90),
paragraphs .11—.12. (See AAM section 11,600.03—.06 for examples of quality control forms which can be helpful
in assigning personnel to engagements.)

Engagement Planning Procedures

.03 A time budget for the engagement should generally be prepared to determine manpower requirements
and to schedule field work. The engagement partner should approve the time budget prior to the beginning of
field work. A time budget should have columns for budgeted time (in hours) for preliminary and final field work.
Time budget forms differ depending upon firm preference and needs. Some firms use separate forms for the time
budget report and the job progress report or analysis (see AAM section 3170.01 for ““Audit Time Budget—Sample
A"), whereas others combine these reports into one form (see AAM section 3170.02 for “Audit Time Budget—
Sample B”).

.04 Other alternatives include longer, more detailed sets of forms. These forms combine the features of a time
budget, a source document for staff scheduling, and a job progress report that compares each assigned person’s
actual daily hours against the budget. Some firms use a shorter, less detailed form for jobs of less than a pre-
determined number of staff hours (for example, one hundred hours; see AAM section 3170.03 for “Audit Time
Analysis—Short Form”) and a longer form for jobs requiring more time (see AAM section 3170.04 for “Audit
Time Analysis—Long Form’’). Some firms use a weekly (or daily) progress report (see AAM section 3170.05, for
example). This report, submitted by the accountant in charge, shows the time actually spent in relation to the
estimate, the estimated additional time required, and the estimated variance from the original estimate.

.05 When the combined time budget and progress report form (sample B) is used, it must be kept current as
the assignment progresses. This form is carried in the working papers file and is filled in daily by the accountant in
charge, for all persons applying time on the engagement. This procedure is vital to identify and control time as it is
applied so that it can be compared to the budgeted time for that phase of the engagement.

06 The following factors should be considered in achieving a balance of engagement manpower require-
ments, personnel skills, individual development, and utilization:

a. Engagement size and complexity
b. Personnel availability
c. Special expertise
d. Timing of the work to be performed
e. Continuity and periodic rotation of personnel
AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM § 3110.06
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f.  Opportunities for on-the-job training

.07 The scheduling and staffing of the engagement should be approved by the partner with final responsibil-
ity for the engagement so that the partner can consider the qualifications, experience, and training of personnel to
be assigned. The experience and training of the engagement personnel should be considered in relation to the
complexity or other requirements of the engagement and the extent of supervision to be provided.

.08 It is recommended that all procedures discussed in this section be documented in the accountant’s work
papers. A sample checklist documenting the procedures listed in this section is located in AAM section 3165.

[The next page is 3161.]
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AAM Section 3115
Independence

General Comments

01 Engagement planning should include procedures to provide the firm with reasonable assurance that
persons at all organizational levels maintain independence to the extent required by the AICPA Code of
Professional Conduct. Interpretation 101-1 of rule 101 of the rules of conduct (ET section 101.02), contains
examples of instances wherein a firm’s independence will be considered to be impaired.

02 The procedures employed at the engagement level should be designed to ascertain whether the firm and
its partners and employees have complied with all applicable independence rules, with emphasis on those related
to financial interest, performance of accounting services for the client, and unpaid fees. Overall firm requirements
for independence are addressed in the Quality Control Policies and Procedures for CPA Firms, “Establishing
Quality Control Policies and Procedures,” (QC section 90), paragraphs .09—.10. (See AAM section 11,600.01—.02
for independence checklists for employees and other auditors.)

{03 Some procedures regarding independence which a firm may employ in the planning phase of an
engagement are discussed in this section. The specific procedures adopted by a firm would not necessarily include
all these procedures or be limited to those discussed.

Engagement Planning Procedures

.04 Annual independence questionnaires should be reviewed for all engagement personnel by the engage-
ment partner to assure that those individuals assigned to the engagement are independent.

.05 Accounts receivable from the client should be reviewed to ascertain whether any outstanding amounts
take on some of the characteristics of loans and may, therefore, impair the firm’s independence.

06 According to SAS No. 1, section 543, Part of the Examination Made by Other Independent Auditors (AU
section 543), the firm, when acting as principal auditor, should obtain confirmation of the independence of
another firm engaged to perform segments of the audit. Written confirmation enables the principal auditor to
document his assessment of the other auditor’s independence in his audit work papers.

07 In situations in which the accountant is not independent, the type of opinion to be issued should be
discussed in the planning stage. A disclaimer of opinion should be issued as discussed in SAS No. 26, Association
With Financial Statements, paragraphs 8—10 (AU section 504.08—.10), or the engagement should be turned into
a compilation. '

08 It is recommended that all procedures discussed in this section be documented in the auditor’s work
papers. A sample checklist documenting the procedures listed in this section is located in AAM section 3165.

[The next page is 3181.)
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AAM Section 3120
Knowledge of the Entity’s Business

.01 The accountant should obtain a level of knowledge of the entity’s business that will enable the accountant
to plan and perform the audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. That level of knowledge
should enable the accountant to obtain an understanding of the events, and may have a significant effect on the
financial statements. The level of knowledge customarily possessed by management relating to managing the
entity’s business is substantially greater than that which is obtained by the accountant in performing the audit.
Knowledge of the entity’s business helps the accountant in—

a. Identifying areas that may need special consideration.

b. Assessing conditions under which accounting data are produced, processed, reviewed, and accumulated
within the operation.

c. Evaluating the reasonableness of estimates, such as valuation of inventories, depreciation, allowances for
doubtful accounts, and percentage-of-completion of long-term contracts.

d. Evaluating the reasonableness of management representations.

e. Making judgments about the appropriateness of the accounting principles applied and the adequacy of
disclosures.!

Engagement Planning Procedures

.02 The accountant should obtain a knowledge of matters that relate to the nature of the entity’s business, its
organization, and its operating characteristics. Such matters include, for example, the type of business, types of
products and services, capital structure, related parties, locations and production, distribution, and compensation
methods. The accountant should also consider matters affecting the industry in which the entity operates—such as
economic conditions, government regulations, and changes in technology—as they relate to his audit. Other
matters, such as accounting practices common to the industry, competitive conditions, and, if available, financial
trends and ratios, should also be considered by the accountant.

.03 Knowledge of an entity’s business is obtained through performing analytical procedures, prior experience
with the entity or its industry, and inquiry of the entity’s personnel. Working papers from prior years may contain
useful information about the nature of the business, organizational structure, operating characteristics, and
transactions that may require special consideration. Other sources an accountant may consult include AICPA audit
and accounting guides, industry publications, financial statements of other entities in the industry, textbooks,
periodicals, and individuals knowledgeable about the industry.

.04 The accountant should give thought to whether specialized skills are needed to consider the effect of
computer processing on the audit, to understand the nature of internal control structure policies and procedures,
or to design and perform audit procedures. If specialized skills are needed, the accountant should seek assistance
from a professional who may be either on or outside the accountant’s staff. If the use of such a professional is
planned, the accountant should have sufficient computer-related knowledge to communicate the objectives of the
other professional’s work, to evaluate whether the specified procedures will meet the accountant’s objectives, and
to evaluc ‘e the results of the procedures applied as they relate to the nature, timing, and extent of other planned

1 See SAS No. 5, The Meaning of “Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” in the Independent
Auditor’s Report, paragraphs 4 and 9 (AU section 411.04 and .09).
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audit procedures. The accountant’s responsibilities for using such a professional are equivalent to those for using
assistants.? '

.05 The accountant should consider the methods the entity uses to process accounting information in planning

- the audit because such methods inﬂuet}ce the design of the accounting system and the nature of control

procedures. The extent to which computer processing is used in significant accounting applications, as well as the

complexity of that processing, may also influence the nature, timing, and extent of audit procedures. Accordingly,

when evaluating the effect of an entity’s computer processing on an audit of financial statements, the accountant
should consider matters such as—

0

The extent to which the computer is used in each significant accounting application.
b. The complexity of the entity’s computer operations, including the use of an outside service center.?
¢. The organizational structure of the computer processing activities.

d. The availability of data. Documents that are used to enter information into the computer for processing
certain computer fields, and other evidential matter that may be required by the accountant, may exist
only for a short period or only in computer-readable form. In some computer systems, input documents
may not exist at all because information is entered directly into the system. An entity’s data retention
policies may require the accountant to request retention of some information for the review or to perform
audit procedures at a time when the information is available.

e. The use of computer-assisted audit techniques to increase the efficiency of performing audit procedures.
Using computer-assisted audit techniques may also provide the accountant with an opportunity to apply
certain procedures to an entire population of accounts or transactions. In addition, in some accounting
systems, it may be difficult or impossible for the auditor to analyze certain data or test specific control
procedures without computer assistance.

In addition, certain information generated by the computer for management’s internal purposes may be useful in
performing substantive tests (particularly analytical procedures).>

.06 It is recommended that all procedures discussed in this section be documented in the accountant’s work
papers. A sample checklist for documenting the procedures listed in this section is located in AAM section 3165.

[The next page is 3201.]

2 Since the use of a specialist who is effectively functioning as a member of the audif team is not covered by SAS No. 11, Using the Work of a
Specialist (AU section 336), a computer audit specialist requires the same supervision and review as any assistant.

3See SAS No. 44, Special-Purpose Reports on Internal Accounting Control at Service Organizations (AU section 324), and the related
AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Audits of Service-Center-Produced Records, for guidance concerning the use of a service center for
computer processing of significant accounting applications.

4 See the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Computer-Assisted Audit Techniques, for guidance relating to this specialized area.
5 SAS No. 56, Analytical Procedures (AU section 329), describes the usefulness of and guidance pertaining to such procedures.
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AAM Section 3125
Assessing Auditability

.01 The third standard of fieldwork requires that the auditor obtain sufficient competent evidential matter to
afford a reasonable basis for the expression of an opinion on whether an entity’s financial statements are fairly
presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.! The determination of whether the auditor
is able to obtain sufficient competent evidential matter to issue an opinion on the financial statements is an issue
of auditability. Many factors can influence the auditability of financial statements. There are two primary
considerations, however, in evaluating whether the financial statements of a small business are, in fact, auditable:
(1) the adequacy of accounting records and (2) management integrity.

Adequate Accounting Records

.02 To provide sufficient competent evidential matter, an entity’s accounting system should be designed to
identify the types of transactions executed so that the transactions can be recorded in the appropriate amounts in
the correct accounting period. Accounting records should include the following information:

a. Type of transaction. Transactions should be described in sufficient detail to permit appropriate classifica-
tion in the financial statements. Generally, accounting records need only indicate broad classes of
transactions such as sales or payroll. In some circumstances, however, a more detailed description may
be necessary, such as when payroll$costs are to be allocated between inventory and expense. Identifica-
tion of the type of transaction may be either explicit (for example, by using preprinted forms that describe
the type of transactions, such as sales invoices) or implicit (for example, by using cash register tapes as a
record of cash sales).

b. Size of transaction. Transactions should be described in a manner that permits the recording of monetary
value in the financial statements. Although accounting records generally include the dollar amount of
transactions or the quantities involved and related unit prices, an indication of quantities only may be
sufficient if the monetary value of transactions can be determined by reference to data such as price lists,
wage rates, or contracts.

c.  Period of time. Accounting records should include the period in which the transactions occurred to
permit the recording of transactions in the appropriate accounting period.

.03 The form of accounting records maintained by the client and the detail in which they are prepared varies
because of a number of factors, such as the nature of the client’s business, its size, and its organizational structure.
For a small business to be auditable, there should exist adequate accounting records to identify the types of
transactions executed and to record them at the appropriate amount in the correct accounting period.

.04 Many small businesses do not have elaborate accounting systems. Likewise, most small businesses have
neither adequate segregation of duties nor a sophisticated internal control structure. Neither a formalized and
complex accounting system nor a sophisticated control structure is required for a small business to be auditable.

SAS No. 55 Requirements

.05 The auditor should obtain a sufficient understanding of each of the three elements (control environment,
accounting system, and control procedures) of the entity’s internal control structure to plan the audit of the entity’s
financial statements. The understanding should include knowledge about the design of relevant policies, proce-

! Throughout this section, references to audit opinions regarding generally accepted accounting principles also include other comprehensive
bases of accounting.
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dures, and records and whether they have been placed in operation by the entity. In planning the audit, such
knowledge should be used to:

a. Identify types of potential misstatements.
b. Consider factors that affect the risk of material misstatement.
¢. Design substantive tests.

.06 Whether an internal control structure policy or procedure has been placed in operation is different from its
operating effectiveness. In obtaining knowledge about whether policies and procedures have been placed in
operation, the auditor determines that the entity is using them. Operating effectiveness, on the other hand, is
concerned with how the policy, procedure, or record was applied, the consistency with which it was applied, and
by whom. The auditor is not required to obtain knowledge about operating effectiveness as part of the
understanding of the internal control structure used in planning the audit.

.07 The auditor’s understanding of the internal control structure may sometimes raise doubts about the
auditability of an entity’s financial statements. Concerns about the integrity of the entity’s management may be so
serious as to cause the auditor to conclude that the risk of management misrepresentation in the financial
statements is such that an audit cannot be conducted. Concerns about the nature and extent of an entity’s records
may cause the auditor to conclude that it is unlikely that sufficient competent evidential matter will be available to
support an opinion on the financial statements.

Understanding the Internal Control Structure

.08 In making a judgment about the understanding of the internal control structure necessary to plan the
audit, the auditor considers the knowledge obtained from other sources about the types of misstatements that
could occur, the risk that such misstatements may occur, and the factors that influence the design of substantive
tests. Other sources of such knowledge include previous audits and the understanding of the industry in which the
entity operates. The auditor also considers his assessment of inherent risk, his judgment about materiality, and the
complexity and sophistication of the entity’s operations and systems as discussed in AAM section 3140.

Understanding of Control Environment

.09 The auditor should obtain sufficient knowledge of the control environment to understand management’s
attitude, awareness, and actions concerning the control environment. The auditor should concentrate on the
substance of management’s policies, procedures, and related actions rather than their form because management
may establish appropriate policies and procedures but not act on them. The auditor must be knowledgeable about
the entity’s organizational structure. Although there are obviously limits on the formality of organization in a
small business, some segregation of duties and designation of authority and responsibility generally can be
accomplished. In addition, someone is responsible for engaging the auditor, responding to audit results, and
exercising financial reporting oversight. How employees are told what is expected of them, how they are
delegated authority and responsibility, and how their performances are monitored and evaluated also affect
control consciousness in an entity. In addition, the planning and reporting system used, such as budgeting and
forecasting, and personnel management practices are indications of attitudes and actions about internal control.
Auditors should know how management has acted on these matters.

Understanding of Accounting System
.10 The auditor should obtain sufficient knowledge of the accounting system to understand:
a. The classes of transactions in the entity’s operations that are significant to the financial statements.
b. How those transactions are initiated.
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c. The accounting records, supporting documents, machine-readable information, and specific accounts in
the financial statements involved in the processing and reporting of transactions.

d. The accounting processing involved from the initiation of a transaction to its inclusion in the financial
statements, including how the computer is used to process data.

e. The financial reporting process used to prepare the entity’s financial statements, including significant
accounting estimates and disclosures.

Understanding of Control Procedures

.11 Generally, control procedures pertain to the proper authorization of transactions, segregation of duties,
design and use of adequate documents and records, safeguards over assets and records and independent checks on
performance, such as reconciliations, comparing documents, and management review of reports. Because some
control procedures are integrated in specific components of the control environment and accounting system, as the
auditor obtains an understanding of the control environment and accounting system, he is also likely to obtain
knowledge about some control procedures. For example, in obtaining an understanding of the documents, records,
and processing steps in the accounting system that pertain to cash, the auditor is likely to become aware of
whether bank accounts are reconciled. The auditor should consider the knowledge about the presence or absence
of control procedures obtained from the understanding of the control environment and accounting system in
determining whether it is necessary to devote additional attention to obtaining an understanding of control
procedures to plan the audit. Ordinarily, audit planning does not require an understanding of the control
procedures related to each account balance, transaction class, and disclosure component in the financial state-
ments or to every assertion relevant to those components.

Procedures to Obtain Understanding

.12 In obtaining an understanding of the internal control structure policies and procedures that are relevant to
audit planning, the auditor should perform procedures to provide sufficient knowledge of the design of the
relevant policies, procedures, and records pertaining to each of the three internal control structure elements and
whether they have been placed in operation. This knowledge is ordinarily obtained through previous experience
with the entity and procedures such as inquiries of appropriate management, supervisory, and staff personnel;
inspection of entity documents and records; and observation of entity activities and operations. The nature and
extent of the procedures performed generally vary from entity to entity and are influenced by the size and
complexity of the entity, the auditor’s previous experience with the entity, the nature of the particular policy or
procedure, and the nature of the entity’s documentation of specific policies and procedures. The auditor’s
assessments of inherent risk and judgments about materiality for various account balances and transaction classes
also affect the nature and extent of the procedures performed to obtain the understanding. For example, the
auditor may conclude that planning the audit of the prepaid insurance account does not require specific
procedures to be included in obtaining the understanding of the internal control structure.

Documentation of Understanding

.13 The auditor should document the understanding of the entity’s internal control structure elements
obtained to plan the audit. The form and extent of this documentation is influenced by the size and complexity of
the entity, as well as the nature of the entity’s internal control structure. For example, documentation of the
understanding of the internal control structure of a large complex entity may include flowcharts, questionnaires, or
decision tables. For a small business, however, documentation in the form of a memorandum may be sufficient.
Generally, the more complex the internal control structure and the more extensive the procedures performed, the
more extensive the auditor’s documentation should be. ‘

Management Integrity

.14 Management integrity is an essential component of an audit engagement; without it, conflicts between
management and the auditor are inevitable. As Mautz and Sharaf note, without management integrity
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No management responses to questions or representations could be given any credence
whatever. It is doubtful whether the statements of employees, who must be under manage-
ment control, could be accepted as in any way useful. Certainly the records and documents
under management control would be regarded as completely unreliable.?

.15 The auditor should recognize the importance of management integrity and its potential impact on the
financial statements. If the auditor has reason to doubt management’s integrity, careful consideration should be
given to the auditor’s ability to express an opinion on the entity’s financial statements.

.16 The auditor should also assess the risk that management has misstated the financial statements. SAS No.
53, The Auditor’s Responsibility to Detect and Report Errors and Irregularities, paragraphs 12 and 16—17 (AU
section 316.12 and .16—.17), includes a discussion of management characteristics. AAM section 3145 discusses
the assessment of risk of errors and irregularities in audit planning.

.17 Statement of Quality Control Standard No. 1, System of Quality Control for a CPA Firm, paragraph 7h
(QC section 10.07h), states:

In Acceptance and Continuance of Clients, “Policies and procedures should be established
for deciding whether to accept or continue a client in order to minimize the likelihood of
association with a client whose management lacks integrity.

Suggesting that there should be procedures for this purpose does not imply that a firm
vouches for the integrity or reliability of a client, nor does it imply that a firm has a duty to
anyone but itself with respect to the acceptance, rejection or retention of clients. However,
prudence suggests that a firm be selective in determining its professional relationships.”

.18 A sample checklist documenting procedures listed in this section is located in AAM section 3165.

[The next page is 3221.]

2R K. Mautz and Hussein A. Sharaf, The Philosophy of Auditing, American Accounting Association (Sarasota, Fla.: 1961), p. 45.
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AAM Section 3130
Preparing an Engagement Letter

.01 In an engagement letter, the firm and the client indicate their mutual understanding and agree to the
nature and terms of the engagement. Engagement letters are a matter of sound business practice rather than a
professional requirement. They cover the scope of services rendered and the responsibility the firm assumes.
Therefore, they should be prepared with the care exercised in entering into other contracts.!

.02 Any limitations the client imposes on the scope of the engagement are specifically stated. Every letter
covering audit, compilation, and review services should point out the limitations in the accountant’s responsibility
for the discovery of fraud and other irregularities.

.03 The engagement letter should also describe the terms of billing and payment. If unusual or extraordinary
services are to be performed, the engagement letter should completely describe them.

.04 If the auditor has reason to believe the client may publish all or a portion of an audit report, he should
advise the client (preferably in the engagement letter) that firm policy is to read printer’s proofs of the report and
any other accompanying material. This precaution will protect both the client and accountant against condensa-
tion of financial statements, omission of footnotes, erroneous layout, and other errors such as misstatement of
figures used in a president’s letter, other narrative, or statistics.

.05 An engagement letter should be used for every engagement. A letter need not be issued more often than
annually. Thus, interim audits or unaudited financial statement preparation can all be provided for in one annual
letter. The letter should be sent to the client in duplicate so that a copy may be signed and returned for the
accountant’s files. Alternatively, the accountant may decide not to request that the client sign and return a copy of
the letter. In that case, the letter should be sent to the client with an additional paragraph stating that, unless the
client replies to the contrary, the accountant will assume the client agrees to the arrangements described in the
letter. In those rare instances when the accountant decides that even this approach is not suitable, an engagement
memorandum should be prepared for the file. This should provide all relevant information that would have been
included in an engagement letter.

Reasons for Engagement Letters
.06 The advantages of using engagement letters are summarized below.

® Type of engagement. Describe the type of engagement (audit, compilation or review, or other accounting
service) to be rendered.

® Avoiding misunderstandings with the client. In today’s litigious environment an engagement letter is
needed for both old and new clients. To avoid misunderstandings, the engagement letter should describe
in detail the services to be rendered, the fee, and other terms and conditions of the engagement. Oral
agreements may result in differences of recollection or understanding between the accountant and the
client, and become completely valueless on the death of either.

® Avoiding misunderstandings with the staff. The members of the staff working on the engagement must
have a complete understanding of what is required of them. A copy of the engagement letter in the
working papers provides them an authoritative reference to supplement their oral instructions. This will
eliminate confusion and misunderstanding about the type of engagement to be performed, the date and
period covered by the financial statements, and the nature of the report expected to be rendered.

! Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS) No. 1, Compilation and Review of Financial Statements, péragraph 8
(AR section 100.08), states: “The accountant should establish an understanding with the entity, preferably in writing, regarding the services to
be performed.”
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® Legal liability. The engagement letter should establish the scope and nature of the accountant’s
contractual obligation to the client by setting forth, clearly and specifically, the duties the accountant has
agreed to perform. Many adverse consequences may result from failure to obtain a written engagement
letter.

®  Practice management. Generally, the executive (managing) partner reviews an engagement letter before
the firm issues it. A timely review may be the vehicle that permits the executive partner to correct or
amend the terms of the engagement, review the proposed fee and method of payment, and set up
guidelines to minimize possible collection problems.

@ Contractual obligation. Engagement letters recognize that a contract is created when the accountant
agrees to render services and a client agrees to pay for them. The engagement letter should be clear-cut
in delineating the duties and responsibilities of the client and of the firm.

® Other. An engagement letter permits the orderly assessment and review by partners and staff of the
services performed and the terms of the engagement. This review facilitates drafting extensions or
amendments to current or succeeding years’ engagements.

.07 Some firms use one engagement letter to cover several types of services; others use separate engagement
letters for each service rendered. In any case, firms should consider keeping separate internal records for time
incurred on the separate types of services.

Special Considerations
.08 The following matters should be considered while preparing an engagement letter:
a. Whether the circumstances preclude an unqualified opinion, as in these examples:

© The auditor is retained after the beginning of the client’s fiscal year, did not observe inventories or
confirm receivables at the beginning of the year and was unable to satisfy self through application of
alternative procedures.

® The client imposes restrictions on the scope of the audit. (SAS No. 58, Reports on Audited Financial
Statements, paragraph 42 [AU section 508.42]).

@ Significant litigation or other matters exist which may affect the opinion.

b. Whether fee should be stated as a range, in hourly rates, as standard per diem charges for the
engagement, or as a maximum or flat fee

c. The person or persons to whom reports should be addressed
d. The number of copies needed of the report and the people to whom they are to be distributed

e. Deadlines for reports or analyses

f.  Out-of-pocket costs
8. Additional work not contemplated in the original engagement
h. The condition of records or circumstances other than those contemplated in the engagement letter (for

example, deficient internal control)

A retainer

b

j. One-time engagements
k. Start-up costs when the client changes accountants

I Underwriters’ requirements in connection with public offerings
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m. Long-time clients who have not previously been requested to approve engagement letters

n.

The part of the work to be done by other accountants

Contents of Engagement Letters

.09 Following are the items ordinarily covered in engagement letters:

a.

b.

o

SN

fautd

et

The name of the entity (and subsidiaries, if any) and its year end

Statements to be audited, compiled, or reviewed

The scope of services, as detailed as necessary, including limitations imposed by the client
The kind of opinion, disclaimer, or other report to be rendered

A disclaimer of responsibility for detecting fraud

Obligations of the client’s staff to prepare schedgles and statements (see item 2)

The requirement that the accountant read all printed material in which his report appears
The responsibility for preparation or review of tax returns and subsequent tax examinations
The fee, or the method of determining the fee

The frequency of billing and the client’s obligations for payment including a retainer, if applicable
A provision for the client’s acceptance signature, and the date ‘

An expression of thanks for being selected as auditors or to perform other servicés

Before acceptance of a new engagement, an attempt that the successor auditor should make at certain
communications with the predecessor auditor, as required in SAS No. 7, Communications Between
Predecessor and Successor Auditors, paragraph 4 (AU section 315.04)

.10 The following is a list of instructions to a client’s accounting staff. It includes analyses an accountant may
expect the staff to prepare for the audit. Either include this list (or part of it) in the engagement letter or refer to it
and then submit it as a separate memorandum.

Balance the general ledger.

Prepare a reconciliation for each bank account.

Fill in and sign bank confirmation forms, to be provided by the accountant.

Prepare a trade accounts receivable aging.

Prepare accounts receivable confirmation letters, using drafts to be provided by the accountant.
Prepare a schedule of accounts receivable from officers and employees.

Prepare a schedule of bad debts written off during the year.

Prepare a schedule of notes receivable. The notes should be available for inspection.
Prepare a schedule of transactions with affiliated enterprises.

Price, extend, and foot the original inventory sheets, and have them available.
Analyze all transactions affecting marketable securities.

Prepare an insurance schedule. The policies should be available for inspection.
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Prepare a schedule of property and equipment additions and retirements.
Prepare a depreciation schedule.
Prepare a schedule of life insurance for officers.

Prepare a schedule of accounts payable. The creditor’s regular monthly statements for [date] should be
retained and made available.

Prepare a schedule of notes payable.

The corporate stock book and minutes should be up to date and available for inspection.
Prepare a schedule of all transactions to partners’ capital and drawing accounts.

A copy of the partnership agreement or corporate charter should be available for inspection.
Copies of all leases, including equipment rental contracts, should be available for inspection.
Copies of employment contracts with salesmen or executives should be available for inspection

Copies of pension, profit-sharing, deferred compensation, and stock option agreements, and letters of
acceptance from the Treasury Department, should be available for inspection.

Prepare a schedule of repairs in excess of $
Prepare a schedule of each officer’s salary and expense account payments.
Prepare a schedule of contributions.

Prepare a schedule of tax expense.

Prepare a schedule of professional fees.

.11 An engagement letter may optionally include—

a.

A description of a particular audit procedure, if requested by the client or deemed necessary for the
protection of the auditor. (The detailed audit program should not be made available to client personnel,
orally or otherwise.)

The extent and timing of interim auditing.
The name of the client’s personnel to be contacted during engagement.

A study and evaluation of internal control and a report thereon. (This would be a special engagement,
not a part of the normal audit routine.)

Interim contact and cooperation with the internal auditor.
A list of services specifically excluded.

Acknowledgement by the client of its responsibility for the financial statements. (Because auditors of
smaller, non-public entities often may maintain accounting records, prepare financial statements, and
advise management about appropriate accounting principles, such an acknowledgement may be particu-
larly appropriate for such clients.)

A statement that the client will be informed of any reportable conditions in the internal control structure
that come to the auditor’s attention during the audit of financial statements. (Such a communication,
either orally or in writing, is required by SAS No. 60, Communication of Internal Control Structure
Related Matters Noted in an Audit[AU section 325].)
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.12 Following is a list of common engagement letter deficiencies:

a. Reference in the letter to audit of the books and records rather than to audit of financial statements
b. Adverse comments about other firms

c.  Failure to specify in detail the services to be rendered when a maximum fee is quoted

d. Inclusion of a review of the internal control structure as one of the services when what is really intended
is a consideration of the internal control structure as required by auditing standards

e. Failure to identify accounting or other problems that may have an effect on the opinion

f.  Failure to change, in writing, the terms of the engagement when conditions are found to be different
(such as the inability to express an opinion without extensive additional auditing because the internal
controls were found deficient)

g. Failure to include fee basis and payment terms

h. Failure to identify‘subsidiaries

i, Failure to identify specific tax returns to be prepared
Client Approval

13 It is recommended that the client’s written approval of general arrangements for the engagement be
secured by the accountant before proceeding with the engagement (especially in new engagements). The
addressee of the letter is usually the one asked to approve the engagement. In some situations the accountant may
not deem it advisable to send a client an engagement letter tht requests his signature. An alternative approach
might be to send the client a letter confirming the terms of the engagement, without asking him to sign it, but
asking him to reply if he does not agree with the terms.

 Addressee of Letter

.14 Ordinarily, the accountant should address the letter to whomever retained the firm. If it is a corporate
client’s board of directors, the letter should be addressed to the board, its chairperson, or the chief executive,
depending on the arrangement. If the accountant is appointed by an audit committee, it is appropriate to address
the letter to the committee chairperson. If the engagement was arranged with a corporate official, the letter may be
addressed to the official, personally, indicating the official’s title, followed by the name of the corporation.

Investigatory Procedures for Individuals

.15 When credit information is requested about individuals who are new clients, the investigative procedures
are subject to the Fair Credit Reporting Act of 1971.

.16 An individual should be informed in writing that an investigative consumer report, including information
about the individual’s character, general reputation, personal characteristics, and mode of living is being made.
The individual should also be advised, within three days of the time the report is requested, that he may within a
reasonable time, by written request, be furnished disclosure of the nature and scope of the investigation.?

Filing of Engagement Letters

.17 The signed engagement letter (or original of the conforming letter) is a contract and should be filed in the
client’s permanent file. A copy may also be filed with the current working papers, if desired, because of the
possible overlapping of billing and collecting as compared to the term of the actual engagement. This also permits
easy access when reference to the previous year’s letter is needed to prepare the letter for the following year’s
engagement.

2 For a more complete discussion, see Carlos Martinez, /A Guide to the Fair Credit Reporting Act,” The Practical Lawyer, December 1972.
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.18 A sample checklist documenting procedures listed in this section is located in AAM section 3165.

.19 See AAM section 3175 for sample engagement letters.

[The next page is 3251.]
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AAM Section 3135
Assessment of Control Risk

General Comments

.01 Upon obtaining an understanding of the elements of the internal control structure as discussed in AAM
section 3125, the auditor must assess control risk for financial statement assertions to determine the nature, timing
and extent of tests of controls and substantive testing. The risk of material misstatement in financial statement
assertions consists of inherent risk, control risk, and detection risk as discussed in AAM section 3140. Assessing
control risk is the process of evaluating the effectiveness of an entity’s internal control structure policies and
procedures in preventing or detecting material misstatements in financial statements. Control risk should be
assessed in terms of financial statement assertions.

Consideration of the Internal Control Structure in Assessing Control Risk

02 After obtaining the understanding of the internal control structure the auditor may assess control risk at
the maximum level for some or all assertions because he believes policies and procedures are unlikely to pertain to
an assertion, are unlikely to be effective, or because evaluating their effectiveness would be inefficient.

.03 Assessing control risk at below the maximum level involves:

a. Identifying specific internal control structure policies and procedures relevant to specific assertions that
are likely to prevent or detect material misstatements in those assertions.

b. Performing tests of controls to evaluate the effectiveness of such policies and procedures.

.04 In identifying internal control structure policies and procedures relevant to specific financial statement
assertions, the auditor should consider that the policies and procedures can have either a pervasive effect on many
assertions or a specific effect on an individual assertion, depending on the nature of the particular internal control
structure element involved. The control environment and accounting system often have a pervasive effect on a
number of account balance or transaction classes and, therefore, can often affect many assertions.

.05 Conversely, some control procedures often have a specific effect on an individual assertion embodied in a
particular account balance or transaction class. For example, the control procedures that an entity established to
ensure that its personnel are properly counting and recording the annual physical inventory relate directly to the
existence assertion for the inventory account balance.

.06 Internal control structure policies and procedures can either be directly or indirectly related to an assertion.
The more indirect the relationship, the less effective that policy or procedure may be in reducing control risk for
that assertion.

07 Procedures directed toward either the effectiveness of the design or operation of an internal control
structure policy or procedure are referred to as tests of controls. Tests of controls directed toward the effectiveness
of the design of an internal control structure policy or procedure are concerned with whether that policy or
procedure is suitably designed to prevent or detect material misstatements in specific financial statement
assertions. Tests to obtain such evidential matter ordinarily include procedures such as inquiries of appropriate
entity personnel, inspection of documents and reports, and observation of the application of specific internal
control structure policies and procedures.

.08 Tests of controls directed toward the operating effectiveness of an internal control structure policy or
procedure are concerned with how the policy or procedure was applied, the consistency with which it was applied
during the audit period, and by whom it was applied. These tests ordinarily include procedures such as inquiries
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of appropriate entity personnel, inspection of documents and reports indicating performance of the policy or
procedure, observation of the application of the policy or procedure, and reperformance of the application of the
policy or procedure by the auditor. In some circumstances, a specific procedure may address the effectiveness of
both design and operation. However, a combination of procedures may be necessary to evaluate the effectiveness
of the design or operation of an internal control structure policy or procedure.

.09 The conclusion reached as a result of assessing control risk is referred to as the assessed level of control
risk. In determining the evidential matter necessary to support a specific assessed level of control risk at below the
maximum level, the auditor should consider the characteristics of evidential matter. Generally, however, the lower
the assessed level of control risk, the greater the assurance the evidential matter must provide that the internal
control structure policies and procedures relevant to an assertion are designed and operating effectively.

.10 The auditor uses the assessed level of control risk (together with the assessed level of inherent risk) to
determine the acceptable level of detection risk for financial statement assertions. The auditor uses the acceptable
level of detection risk to determine the nature, timing, and extent of the auditing procedures to be used to detect
material misstatements in the financial statement assertions. Auditing procedures designed to detect such
misstatements are substantive tests.

Documentation of the Assessed Level of Control Risk

.11 In addition to the documentation of the understanding of the internal control structure, the auditor should
document the basis for his conclusions about the assessed level of control risk. Conclusions about the assessed
level of control risk may differ as they relate to various account balances or classes of transactions. However, for
those financial statement assertions where control risk is assessed at the maximum level, the auditor should
document his conclusion that control risk is at the maximum level but need not document the basis for that
conclusion. For those assertions where the assessed level of control risk is below the maximum level, the auditor
should document the basis for this conclusion that the effectiveness of the design and operation of internal control
structure policies and procedures supports that assessed level. The nature and extent of the auditor’s documenta-
tion are influenced by the assessed level of control risk used, the nature of the entity’s internal control structure
and the nature of the entity’s documentation of its internal control structure.

Further Reduction in the Assessed Level of Control Risk

.12 After obtaining the understanding of the internal control structure and assessing control risk, the auditor
may desire to seek a further reduction in the assessed level of control risk for certain assertions. In such cases, the
auditor considers whether additional evidential matter sufficient to support a further reduction is likely to be
available, and whether it would be efficient to perform tests of controls to obtain that evidential matter. The
results of the procedures performed to obtain the understanding of the internal control structure, as well as
pertinent information from other sources, help the auditor to evaluate those two factors.

.13 In considering efficiency, the auditor recognizes that additional evidential matter that supports a further
reduction in the assessed level of control risk for an assertion would result in less audit effort for the substantive
tests of that assertion. The auditor weighs the increase in audit effort associated with the additional tests of
controls that is necessary to obtain such evidential matter against the resulting decrease in audit effort associated
with the reduced substantive tests. When the auditor concludes it is inefficient to obtain additional evidential
matter for specific assertions, the auditor uses the assessed level of control risk based on the understanding of the
internal control structure in planning the substantive tests for those assertions.

.14 For those assertions for which the auditor performs additional tests of controls, the auditor determines the
assessed level of control risk that the results of those tests will support. This assessed level of control risk is used in
determining the appropriate detection risk to accept for those assertions and, accordingly, in determining the
appropriate detection risk to accept for those assertions and, accordingly, in determining the nature, timing, and
extent of substantive tests for such assertions.

.15 A sample checklist documenting procedures listed in this section is located in AAM section 3165.

[The next page is 3271.]
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AAM Section 3140
Assessing Audit Risk and Materiality

01 In rendering an unqualified opinion that states ““In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly in
all material respects ... in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles ..., the auditor is giving
implicit recognition to the concepts of audit risk and materiality. The existence of audit risk is implicit in the
phrase “in our opinion.” Materiality is explicit in the phrase “presents fairly in all material respects in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles.”

Audit Risk

.02 SAS No. 47, Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an Audit (AU section 312), defines audit risk as
“the risk that the auditor may unknowingly fail to appropriately modify his opinion on financial statements that
are materially misstated.” In other words, audit risk is the risk that the auditor will give an unqualified opinion on
financial statements that are materially incorrect.

.03 In addition to audit risk, the auditor is also exposed to business risk in every audit engagement. Business
risk is the risk that the auditor’s professional practice will suffer loss or injury from litigation or adverse publicity
in connection with an audit of financial statements. Business risk is present even though the auditor conducts the
audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. For example, the auditor may conduct a proper
audit and yet be sued by a disgruntled party without cause. Even though the auditor may win the lawsuit in such
circumstances, the auditor’s professional reputation may be damaged. This type of risk differs from audit risk.
Business risk cannot be used to reduce audit risk under generally accepted auditing standards.

Risk Components
.04 SAS No. 47, states that audit risk consists of three components:

a. Inherent risk is the susceptibility of an account balance or class of transactions to error that could be
material when aggregated with error in other balances or classes, assuming that there were no related
internal accounting controls. The risk of such error is greater for some balances or classes than for others.
For example, complex calculations are more susceptible ta theft than is an inventory of coal. Accounts
consisting of amounts derived from accounting estimates pose greater risks than do accounts consisting
of relatively routine, factual data. External factors also influence inherent risk. For example, technological
developments might make a particular product obsolete, thereby causing inventory to be more suscepti-
ble to overstatement.

b. Control risk is the risk that error that may occur in an account balance or class of transactions and that
could be material, when aggregated with error in other balances or classes, will not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis by the internal control structure. Control risk is a function of the effectiveness
of the internal control structure. Some control risk will always exist because of the inherent limitations of
any internal control structure.

c.  Detection risk is the risk that the auditor’s procedures will lead to the conclusion that error in an account
balance or class of transactions that could be material, when aggregated with error in other balances or
classes, does not exist, when in fact such error does exist. Detection risk is a function of the effectiveness
of auditing procedures and of their application by the auditor. It arises partly from uncertainties that exist
when the auditor does not examine 100 percent of an account balance or class of transactions and partly
because of other uncertainties that exist, even if 100 percent of the balance or class has been examined.
Other uncertainties arise because an auditor might select an inappropriate auditing procedure, misapply
an appropriate procedure, or misinterpret audit results. These other uncertainties can be reduced to a
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negligible level through adequate planning, supervision, and conduct of a firm’s audit practice in
accordance with appropriate quality control standards.

.05 Inherent risk and control risk differ from detection risk in that they exist independently of the audit of the
financial statements. Inherent risk and control risk are functions of the client and its environment, regardless of
whether an audit is conducted. Detection risk, on the other hand, relates to the auditor’s procedures and can be
changed at the auditor’s discretion. The assessment of the potential for material misstatements occurs when the
auditor considers inherent risk.

.06 The client may establish internal control structure policies and procedures to detect material misstate-
ments and remove them from the accounting system. Ideally, the control structure should detect all material
misstatements before they enter the financial statements, but sometimes the control structure may not detect a
material misstatement even though it went through the control structure. For example, there may be a weakness
or breakdown in the client’s structure that allows a misstatement to remain undetected.

07 Even when a client has effective internal control structure policies and procedures, certain misstatements
can bypass the structure because of special circumstances. For example, if a client had an unusual exchange of
nonmonetary assets, no internal control structure policies and procedures may have been established to detect a
misstatement in this special circumstance.

.08 If the client’s internal control structure does not detect and remove misstatements, they will flow through
and be included in the financial statements. The auditor’s responsibility is to design audit procedures that provide
reasonable assurance that material misstatements do not remain in financial statements.

09 The auditor will never have absolute assurance that no material misstatements exist in the financial
statements. From a cost-benefit perspective, an audit providing absolute assurance that no material misstatements
exist in the financial statements is impractical. Thus, the auditor designs audit tests to provide reasonable
assurance that there are no material misstatements in the financial statements. There is always some risk that (a)
material misstatements will exist; (b) they will not be detected by the client’s internal control structure; (c) they
will not be detected by the auditor; or (d ) they will affect the financial statements. The auditor’s responsibility is to
reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level. Both the tests of details (tests of balances and tests of transactions)
and analytical procedures are means by which the auditor detects material misstatements.

Risk Assessment and Planning

.10 In planning the audit engagement, the auditor should assess inherent risk and control risk to determine
how much detection risk can be accepted while still restricting audit risk to an acceptably low level. As the
auditor’s assessment of inherent risk and control risk decreases, the acceptable level of detection risk increases.
The auditor should not rely on the assessments of inherent risk and control risk to the exclusion of performing
substantive tests. In fact, for a small business with limited segregation of duties, the auditor often assesses inherent
risk and control risk at their maximum and relies completely on substantive tests to reduce audit risk to an
acceptably low level.

Quantifying Risk

.11 The auditor’s assessments of audit risk and its components of inherent risk, control risk, and detection risk
are matters of professional judgment. Although the auditor may use quantitative tools such as decision tables and
structured aids such as questionnaires to assist in assessing risk components, the ultimate assessment of audit risk
is based on professional judgment.

.12 Some auditors confuse audit risk with risk associated with statistical sampling and thus erroneously
assume that all audit risk can be quantified. Statistical sampling can be used to quantify the risk of misstatement in
determining the extent of audit testing; that is, by using statistical sampling techniques, the auditor can quantify
the risk of relying on the results of applying a procedure to a sample, rather than to 100 percent of the items in an
account balance or class of transaction. However, quantitative assessment of risk using statistical sampling
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techniques is only one element of audit risk. As noted previously, audit risk is composed of control risk, detection
risk, and inherent risk. Detection risk, which relates to audit procedures, is a function of the nature and timing of
audit procedures as well as of the extent of their application.

.13 Generally accepted auditing standards do not require the auditor to quantify risk or to perform any
additional analyses of risk. Those standards simply require the auditor to plan the audit so that there is a low level
of risk that an unqualified opinion will be expressed when, in fact, the financial statements are materially
misstated.

Materiality

.14 SAS No. 47 states that audit risk is “the risk that the auditor may unknowingly fail to appropriately
modify his opinion on financial statements that are materially misstated.” As SAS No. 47 observes, audit risk and
materiality should be considered together in determining the nature, timing, and extent of auditing procedures
and in evaluating the results of those procedures.

.15 Materiality is the criterion used by accountants and auditors to distinguish between unimportant and
important matters. Obviously, some misstatements could be included in the financial statements without preclud-
ing the auditor from expressing an opinion that the financial statements are fairly presented in all material respects
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The auditor’s consideration of materiality is a matter
of professional judgment and is influenced by a perception of the needs of the users of the financial statements. In
determining the materiality of an item, the auditor should consider the nature and amount of the item in relation
to the financial statements being audited.

In Planning

.16 In planning the audit, materiality should be viewed as an allowance for likely and potential undetected
misstatements. Of course, in planning, the auditor cannot anticipate all the factors that will ultimately influence
judgment about materiality in the evaluation of audit findings at the completion of the audit. Thus, materiality in
planning may differ from materiality used in evaluating results at the conclusion of the audit. If the materiality
amount used in evaluating audit findings is reduced significantly from the amount used in planning, the auditor
should reevaluate—on the basis of planning materiality—the sufficiency of the auditing procedures that were
performed. For example, an auditor may propose audit adjustments that significantly lower revenues. As a result
of these adjustments, the auditor’s assessment of materiality at the conclusion of the audit may be reduced (for
example, from $1,000 to $500). In view of the lower threshold of materiality, the auditor should evaluate whether
the audit evidence obtained is sufficient.

Quantifying Materiality

.17 Professional standards require auditors to make a preliminary judgment about materiality in the planning
stage of an audit (SAS No. 47, paragraph 3 [AU section 312.03]). Although no authoritative body has established
specific guidelines for materiality, some auditors believe that there are certain rules of thumb that can be used in
making a preliminary assessment of materiality.

.18 Generally, auditors agree that materiality guidelines should be relative rather than absolute. In other
words, materiality is usually set as a percentage rather than as an absolute amount. For example, an absolute
amount such as $100,000 may be immaterial to a large, multinational corporation but very material to a small,
closely held company. To apply percentage guidelines, auditors must determine what base to use. Generally,
auditors select a base that is relatively stable and predictable. Bases commonly used include net income before
taxes, revenues, and total assets. Because financial statements are interrelated, and also for reasons of efficiency,
auditors normally consider materiality in terms of the smallest amount that would be material to the financial
statements. Generally, misstatements become material to income before they become material to the balance
sheet. As a consequence, net income before taxes is often selected as the base.
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.19 In small business audits, auditors sometimes make a number of significant audit adjustments. Thus,
income before taxes may vary too much to be useful as a base. When net income before taxes is not used as a base,
auditors sometimes use either total revenue or an average of net income for several prior periods.

Example

.20 A common rule of thumb for materiality is 5 to 10 percent of pretax income. Some auditors apply this rule -
of thumb so that items less than 5 percent of normal pretax income are considered immaterial, whereas items that
are more than 10 percent are material. For items between 5 and 10 percent, judgment is applied. For example,
when unusual factors exist (perhaps the company is about to be sold for a multiple of audited earnings) auditors
would tend to classify items between 5 and 10 percent as material. Others use 1 or 1.5 percent of the larger of total
assets or revenues. (See Exhibit 1 for a sample planning materiality worksheet.)

Exhibit 1

Initials Date

Done

Reviewed

Client Name
Planning Materiality Worksheet
Balance Sheet Date
1. Unaudited total assets at balance sheet date [
2. Unaudited total revenues at balance sheet date -
3. Select the larger of 1 or 2 ' -
4. Select a multiplier if audit risk is normal, or, if better than normal, select .01 -
5. Multiply 3 times 4 —_—
6. Unaudited pretax income (or equivalent if not a for-profit entity) ‘ _
7. Select a multiplier if audit risk is normal, or, if better than normal, select .1 S
8. Multiply 6 times 7 _—
9. Evaluate 5and 8along with other relevant factors and determine materiality for audit

planning purposes

.21 Consideration of which base to use should include such factors as income variability and the nature of the
client’s business and industry. For a nonprofit organization, for example, the auditor would probably use total
assets or revenues as a base, since pretax income is not meaningful.

.22 A sample checklist documenting procedures listed in this section is located in AAM section 3165.

[The next page is 3291.]
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AAM Section 3145
Errors and Irregularities

General Comments

.01 The auditor should assess the risk that errors and irregularities may cause the financial statements to
contain a material misstatement. Based on that assessment, the auditor should design the audit to provide
reasonable assurance of detecting errors and irregularities that are material to financial statements.

.02 The auditor should exercise:
a. Due care in planning, performing, and evaluating the results of audit procedures.

b. The proper degree of professional skepticism to achieve reasonable assurance that material errors or
irregularities will be detected. ’

Consideration of Audit Risk at the Financial Statement Level

03 An assessment of the risk of material misstatements should be made during planning. The auditor’s
understanding of the internal control structure should either heighten or mitigate the auditor’s concern about the
risk of material misstatements.

.04 Factors such as those listed below may be considered:
a. Management characteristics (e.g., management’s attitude toward reporting is unduly aggressive).

b. Operating and industry characteristics (e.g., profitability of an entity relative to its industry is inadequate
or inconsistent).

c. Engagement characteristics (e.g., significant and unusual related party transactions not in the ordinary
course of business are present).

.05 The size, complexity, and ownership characteristics of the éntity have a significant influence on the risk
factors considered to be important.

.06 The auditor should assess risk of management misrepresentation by reviewing information obtained about
risk factors and the internal control structure. Matters such as the following may be considered:

a. Are there known circumstances that may indicate a management predisposition to distort financial
statements, such as frequent disputes about aggressive application of accounting principles that increase
earnings?

b. Are there indications that management has failed to establish policies and procedures that provide
reasonable assurance of reliable accounting estimates, such as personnel who develop estimates appear-
ing to lack necessary knowledge and experience?

c¢. Are there conditions that indicate lack of control of activities, such as constant crisis conditions in
operating or accounting areas?

d. Are there indications of a lack of control over computer:processing, such as a lack of control over access
to applications that initiate or control the movement of assets (e.g., a demand-deposit application in a
bank)? :
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e. Are there indications that management has not developed or communicated adequate policies and
procedures for security of data or assets, such as not investigating employees in key positions before
hiring?

The Auditor’s Response to Risk at the Financial Statement Level

.07 The auditor’s overall judgment about the level of risk in an engagement may affect engagement staffing,
extent of supervision, overall strategy for expected conduct and scope of audit, and degree of professional
skepticism applied.

.08 Ordinarily, higher risk requires more experienced personnel or more extensive supervision by the auditor
with final responsibility for the engagement during both the planning and conduct of the engagement.

.09 Higher risk may cause the auditor to expand the extent of procedures applied, apply procedures closer to
or as of the balance sheet date, or modify the nature of procedures.

Consideration of Audit Risk at the Balance or Class Level

.10 Examples of factors that may influence the auditor’s consideration of risk of material misstatement at
balance or class level are:

a. Complexity and contentiousness of accounting issues affecting balance or class.

b. Nature, cause, and amount of known and likely misstatements detected in the balance or class in the
prior audit.

¢.  Susceptibility of related assets to misappropriation.
d. Extent of judgment involved in determining the total balance or class.

Professional Skepticism

.11 An audit should be planned and performed with an attitude of professional skepticism. The auditor
neither assumes that management is dishonest nor assumes unquestioned honesty.

.12 When approaching difficult-to-substantiate assertions, the auditor should recognize the increased impor-
tance of factors that bear on management integrity. A presumption of management dishonesty, however, would
be contrary to the accumulated experience of auditors. Moreover, if dishonesty were presumed the auditor would
potentially need to question the genuineness of all records and documents obtained from the client and would
require conclusive rather than persuasive evidence to corroborate all management representations. An audit
conducted on these terms would be unreasonably costly and impractical. ‘

Professional Skepticism in Audit Planning

.13 Whenever the auditor has reached a conclusion that there is significant risk of material misstatement, the
auditor reacts in one or more ways.

.14 The auditor should consider this assessment in determining the nature, timing or extent of procedures,
assigning staff, or requiring appropriate levels of supervision.

.15 The auditor may identify specific transactions involving senior management and confirm the details with
appropriate external parties and review in detail all material accounting entries prepared or approved by senior
management.

.16 The auditor should consider whether accounting policies are acceptable in circumstances. Increased risk of
intentional distortion of the financial statements should cause greater concern about whether accounting princi-
ples that are otherwise generally accepted are being used in inappropriate circumstances to create a distortion of
earnings.
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.17 When evaluation at the financial statement level indicates significant risk, the auditor requires more or
different evidence to support material transactions than would be the case in the absence of such risk. For
example, the auditor may perform additional procedures to determine that sales are properly recorded, giving
consideration to the possibility that the buyer has a right to return the product. Transactions that are both large
and unusual, particularly at year-end, should be selected for testing.

.18 A sample checklist documenting procedures listed in this section is located in AAM section 3165.

[The next page is 3301.]
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AAM Section 3150
Illegal Acts

General Comments

.01 The term “illegal acts” refers to violations of laws or governmental regulations. Illegal acts by clients do
not include personal misconduct by the entity’s personnel unrelated to their business activities.

.02 Whether an act is illegal is a determination that is normally beyond the auditor’s professional competence. -
The auditor’s training and experience may provide a basis for recognition that some client acts coming to his
attention may be illegal.

Direct and Material Effect Illegal Acts

.03 The auditor considers laws and regulations that are generally recognized by auditors to have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts (except disclosure of contingencies). For
example, tax laws affect accruals and the amount recognized as expense in the accounting period; applicable laws
and regulations may affect the amount of revenue accrued under government contracts.

.04 The auditor considers such laws or regulations from the perspective of their known relation to audit
objectives derived from financial statement assertions rather than from the perspective of legality per se.

.05 The auditor’s responsibility to detect and report misstatement resulting from illegal acts having a direct
and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts is the same as that for material errors and
irregularities as described in SAS No. 53, The Auditor’s Responsibility to Detect and Report Errors and Irregulari-
ties (AU section 316).

Other Illegal Acts

.06 Entities may be affected by many other laws or regulations, including those related to securities trading,
occupational safety and health, food and drug administration, environmental protection, equal employment and
price-fixing or other antitrust violations. Generally, these laws and regulations relate more to an entity’s operating
aspects than to its financial and accounting aspects and their financial statement effect is indirect.

.07 An auditor ordinarily does not have sufficient basis for recognizing possible violations of such laws and
regulations. Their indirect effect is normally the result of the need to disclose a contingent liability because of the
allegation or determination of illegality.

Engagement Planning Procedures

.08 The auditor should assess the risks that the entity has not complied with laws and regulations which have
a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts (except disclosure of contingen-
cies) in the planning phase of the audit.

.09 Matters that may influence the auditor’s assessment include:

a. Management’s understanding of the requirements of laws and regulations pertinent to audit objectives.
b. The nature and extent of noncompliance noted in prior audits.

c.  Changes in requirements since the last audit.

d. Internal control structure elements designed to give management reasonable assurance that the entity
complies with those laws and regulations.

e. The client’s policy relative to the prevention of illegal acts.
.10 Normally, there is no need to include audit procedures specifically designed to detect illegal acts.

.11 A sample checklist documenting the procedures listed in this section is located in AAM section 3165.

[The next page is 3331.]
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AAM Section 3155
Analytical Procedures

General Comments

.01 Understanding financial relationships is essential in planning and evaluating the results of analytical
procedures and generally requires knowledge of the client and the industry or industries in which the client .
operates. An understanding of the purposes of analytical procedures and the limitations of those procedures is
also important. Accordingly, the identification of the relationships and types of data used, as well as conclusions
reached when recorded amounts are compared to expectations, requires judgment by the auditor.

.02 Analytical procedures are used for the following purposes:
a. To assist the auditor in planning the nature, timing, and extent of other auditing procedures.

b. As asubstantive test to obtain evidential matter about particular assertions related to account balances or
classes of transactions.

¢. Asan overall review of the financial information in the final review stage of the audit.

Analytical procedures should be applied to some extent for the purposes referred to in (a) and (c) above for all
audits of financial statements made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. In addition, in some
cases, analytical procedures can be more effective or efficient than tests of details for achieving particular
substantive testing objectives.

.03 Analytical procedures involve comparisons of recorded amounts or ratios cievélopéd from recorded
amounts, to expectations developed by the auditor. The auditor develops such expectations by identifying and
using plausible relationships that are reasonably expected to exist based on the auditor’s understanding of the
client and of the industry in which the client operates. Following are examples of sources of information for
developing expectations: '

a. Financial information for comparable prior period(s) giving consideration to known changes.

b. Anticipated results—for example, budgets or forecasts including extrapolations from interim or annual
data.

c. Relationships among elements of financial information within the period.
d. Information regarding the industry in which the client operates—for example, gross margin information.
e. Relationships of financial information with relevant nonfinancial information.

Engagement Planning Procedures

.04 The purpose of applying analytical procedures in planning the audit is to assist in planning the nature,
timing, and extent of auditing procedures that will be used to obtain evidential matter for specific account balances
or classes of transactions. To accomplish this, the analytical procedures used in planning the audit should focus on
(a) enhancing the auditor’s understanding of the clients’ business and the transactions and events that have .
occurred since the last audit date, and (b ) identifying areas that may represent specific risks relevant to the audit.
Thus, the objective of the procedures is to identify such things as the existence of unusual transactions and events,
and amounts, ratios and trends that might indicate matters that have financial statement and audit planning
ramifications.
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.05 Analytical procedures used in planning the audit generally use data aggregated at a high level. Further-
more, the sophistication, extent and timing of the procedures, which are based on the auditor’s judgment, may
vary widely depending on the size and complexity of the client. For some entities, the procedures may consist of
reviewing changes in account balances from the prior to the current year using the general ledger or the auditor’s
preliminary or unadjusted working trial balance. In contrast, for other entities, the procedures might involve an
extensive analysis of quarterly financial statements. In both cases, the analytical procedures, combined with the
auditor’s knowledge of the business, serve as a basis for additional inquiries and effective planning.

06 Although analytical procedures used in planning the audit often use only financial data, sometimes
relevant non-financial information is considered as well. For example, number of employees, square footage of
selling space, volume of goods produced, and similar information may contribute to accomplishing the purpose of
the procedures.

.07 A sample checklist documenting procedures listed in this section is located in AAM section 3165.

[The next page is 3351.]
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AAM Section 3160
Audit Strategies and the Audit Program

.01 The nature, timing, and extent of audit testing is discussed in AAM section 5000.

02 A sample checklist documenting procedures listed in AAM section 5000 is located in AAM section 3165

[The next page is 3361.]
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- AAM Section 3165
Illustrative Planning Checklist

Done .
by Date

01 A. Understanding the Assignment '

1. Have engagement personnel considered the following matters
in planning the engagement:

a. The entity’s accounting policies and procedures —_—

b. Financial statement items likely to require adjustment —_— ——

¢. The nature of reports expected to be rendered (for example,

a report on consolidated or consolidating financial state-
ments, reports on financial statements filed with the SEC,
or special reports such as those on compliance with.con-
tractual provisions) —_—

2. In planning the audit, have engagement personnel—

a. Discussed the type, scope, and timing of the audit with the
ent;ty’s management, board of directors, or audit commit-
tee

b. Considered the effects of igflicable accounting and audit-
ing pronouncements, particularly new ones?

¢. Coordinated the assistance of entity personnel in data prep-
aration? : ,

d. Determined the extent of involvement, if any, of consul-
tants, other independent auditors, specialists, and internal
auditors?

02 B. Assigning Personnel to the Engagement ‘

1. Has a time budget for the engagement been prepared to
determine manpower requirements and to schedule field-
work?

2. Has the engagement partner approved the time budget prior
to the beginning of fieldwork?

3. Have the following factors been considered in achieving a
balance of engagement manpower requirements, personnel
skills, individual development, and utilization:

a. Engagement size and complexity?

b. Personnel availability?

c. Special expertise required?

d. Timing of the work performed?

e. Continuity and periodic rotation of personnel?

f. Opportunities for on-the-job training?

4. Has the scheduling and staffing of the engagement been
approved by the partner with final responsibility for the
engagement, so that the partner can consider the qualifica-
tions, experience, and training of personnel to be assigned?

03 C. Independence

1. If acting as principal auditor, has written confirmation of the
independence of other firms engaged to perform segments of
the audit been obtained?

2, Have annual independence questionnaires been reviewed for
all engagement personnel to assure that those individuals
assigned to the engagement are independent?

3. Have accounts receivable from the client been reviewed to
ascertain whether anty outstanding amounts take on some of

-the characteristics of loans and may, therefore, impair the
firm’s independence?
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Done .
by Date

4. In situations in which the firm is not independent, has the
issuance of a disclaimer of opinion been discussed in accor-
dance with Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 26,
Association With Financial Statements, paragraphs 8—10 (AU
section 504.08—.10)? —_—

.04 D. Knowledge of the Entity’s Business

1. Has an initial, overall understanding of the clients’ operations

been obtained by— .

a. Reviewing the prior years’ working papers, permanent file,
auditors’ report, and statements?

b. Reviewing any interim financial statements or reports for
the current year, including filin%fawith regulatory agencies;
or, if such statements or reports have not been prepared, by
scanning the general ledger SOr trial balance) to determine
whether the amounts and relationships appear reasonable
in comparison with the prior years?

_c. Reviewing most recent management letters?
d. Reviewing the client correspondence file?

e. Obtaining copies of the minutes of meetings of stockhold-
ers and the board of directors?

f. Considering Eossible impact of nonaudit services rendered
to client on the audit?

2. Have engagement personnel obtained a knowledge of matters
that relate to the nature of the entity’s business, its organiza-
tion, and its operating characteristics such as the following;:

a. The type of business?

b. Types of products and services?
c. Capital structure?

d. Related parties?

e. Locations?

f. Production?

g Distribution methods?

h. Compensation methods?

3. Have engagement personnel obtained a knowledge of matters
affecting the industry in which the entity operates, such as the
following:

a. Economic conditions?

b. Government regulations?

¢. Changes in technology?

d. Accounting practices common to the industry?
e. Competitive conditions?

f. Financial trends and ratios?

4. Have engagement personnel consulted other sources of infor-
mation that relate to the entity’s business, such as the follow-
ing:

a. AICPA audit and accounting guides?

b. Industry publications?

c. Financial statements of other entities in the industry?

d. Textbooks, periodicals, and individuals knowledgeable
about the industry?

5. Have methods the entity uses to process accounting informa-
tion been considered in planning the audit?

6. Have the following matters been considered in evaluating the
effect of the entity’s computer processing on the audit of
financial statements:

T
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Done
by Date
. a. The extent to which the computer is used in each signifi-
cant accounting application?

b. The complexity of the entity’s computer operations, includ-
ing the use of an outside service center?

c. The organizational structure of the computer processing
activities? K

d. The availability of data?

e. The use of computer-assisted audit techniques to increase
the efficiency of performing audit procedures?

7. Have engagement personnel considered whether specialized
skills are needed to consider the effect of computer processing
on the audit?

.05 E. Assessing Auditability

1. Has the adequacy of the accounting records been assessed for
the following factors:

a. Are transactions described in sufficient detail to permit
appropriate classification in financial statements? —_—_——

- b. Are transactions described in a manner that permits the
recording of monetary value in the financial statements? —_— —
¢. Do accounting records include the period in which the
transactions occurred to permit the recording of transac- .
tions in the appropriate accounting period? —_—

2. Has an understanding of the design of the relevant policies,
procedures, and records, pertaining to the control environ-
ment, accounting system, and control procedures of the inter-
nal control structure and whether they have been placed in
operation been obtained through:

a. Previous experience with the entity? :

b. htla‘}uiﬂes of a?propriate management, supervisory, and
staff personnel?

¢. Inspection of entity documents and records?

d. Observation of entity activities and operations?

3. Has the understandir:jg of the entity’s internal control struc-
ture elements obtained to plan the audit been documented?

4. Have the following procedures been performed regarding the
integrity of management:

a. Inquiries of local attorneys, bankers, and other business
le_ad;rs as to the client’s standing in the business commu-
nity

b. A check of the client’s credit rating?

06 F. Engagement Letter

1. {-Iave the following items been included in the engagement

etter:

a. Name of entity (and subsidiaries, if any) and its year end?

b. Statement(s) to be audited, compiled, or reviewed?

¢. Scope of services, as detailed as necessary—including limi-

tations imposed by the client?
. Type of opinion, disclaimer, or other report to be rendered?
Disclaimer of responsibility for detecting fraud (see AAM
section 3175)?
Obligations of the client’s staff to prepare schedule and
statements? ‘
. Requirement that accountant read all printed material in
which his report appears?
. Responsibility for preparation or review of tax returns and
subsequent tax examinations?
i. Fee or method of determining fee?

an
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Done
by Date

. Frequency of billing and client’s obligations for payment,
g in udincgyretainer, if applicable? 8 _
k. Provision for client’s acceptance signature and date? -

L Expression of thanks for being selected as auditors or to
perform other services? _—

m. That, in new engagements, the client should take the
responsibility for getting the cooperation of the prior audi-
tor and the successor auditor to communicate with the
predecessor auditor prior to accepting the engagement? -

2. Have the following optional items been included in the
engagement letter:
a. Description of particular audit procedure, if requested by
client or deemed necessary for protection of the auditor
(The detailed audit program should not be made available
to client personnel, orally or otherwise)? ) -
b. Extent and timing of interim auditing? _
C Namg, of client’s personnel to be contacted during engage-
ment? —_—
d. Study and evaluation of internal control and report thereon
(This would be a special engagement, not part of the nor-
mal audit routine)? ' _
. Interim contact and cooperation with internal auditor? —_
List of services specifically excluded? —_—

8- Acknowledgment by the client of its responsibility for the
financial statements (Because auditors of smaller, nonpub-
lic entities often may maintain accounting records, prepare
financial statements, and advise management about appro-
griate accounting principles, such an acknowledgment may

e particularly appropriate for such clients.)? _

h. A statement that the client will be informed of any reporta- -

ble conditions in the internal control structure that come to

the auditor’s attention during his audit of financial state-

ments (Such a communication, either orally or in wntm(g, is

required by SAS No. 60, Communication of Internal Con-

trol Structure Related Matters Noted in an Audit [AU sec-
. tion 325].)? -
, 07 G. Assessing Audit Risk and Materiality ‘

1.

Have inherent and control risk been assessed to determine
how much detection risk can be accepted while still restricting
audit risk to an acceptably low level? —_—

2. Has a preliminary judgment about the dollar amount of mis-
statement that would be material to the financial statements
been determined? —_—
3. Has that amount been related to tolerable error for specific
account balances in planning audit procedures? S
08 H. Assessment of Control Risk
1. If control risk is assessed at the maximum level for some or all
financial statement assertions, has that conclusion been docu- .
mented? : D —
2. Have the following procedures been performed in assessin
control risk at below the maximum level for some or
financial statement assertions: )
a. Identifying specific internal control structure policies and
procggzlres relevant to specific assertions that are likely to
prevg?nt or detect material misstatements in those asser-
tions —_—
b. Performing tests of controls to evaluate the effectiveness of
the design and operation of such policies and procedures? . _____

™0
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Done

* 3. If a further reduction in the assessed level of control risk is
desired for some financial statement assertions, have addi- -
tional tests of relevant controls been performed? —_— —

4. Has the basis for the conclusion that control risk is assessed at
below maximum level for some or all financial statement
assertions been documented? —_—
09 1 Errors and Irregularities
1. Have the following factors been considered in assessing the
risk of material misstatement at the financial statement level:
a. Management characteristics (ef., management’s attitude
toward financial reporting is unduly aggressive)? e
b. Operating and industry characteristics (e.g., profitability of
entity relative to its industry is inadequate or inconsistent)? _____ __
c. Engagement characteristics (e.g., s‘iﬁni.ﬁcant and unusual
related party transactions not in the ordinary course of
business are present)? —_—
2. Have the following factors been considered in assessing the
risks of management misrepresentation at the financial state-
ment level:
a. Are there known circumstances that may indicate a man-
agement predisposition to distort financial statements, such
as frequent disputes about aggressive application of
accounting principles that increase earnings? _
b. Are there indications that management has failed to estab-
lish policies and procedures that provide reasonable assur-
ance of reliable accounting estimates, such as personnel
who develop estimates appearing to lack necessary knowl-
edge and experience? S —
c. Are there conditions that indicate a lack of control of activi-
ties, such as constant crisis conditions in operating or
accounting areas? —_— ——
d. Are there indications of a lack of control over computer
processing, such as a lack of controls over access to applica-
tions that initiate or control the movement of assets (e.g., a
demand-deposit application in a bank)? —_
e. Are there indications that manaiement has not developed
or communicated adequate policies and procedures for
security of data or assets, such as not investigating employ-
ees in key positions before hiring? —_— ——
3. Have the following factors been considered in assessing the
risk of material misstatement at the balance or class level:
a. Complexity and contentiousness of accounting issues
affecting balance or class? —_
b. Nature, cause, and amount of known and likely misstate-
ments detected in the balance or class in the prior audit? —_—
¢. Susceptibility of related assets to misappropriation? —_—
d. Extent of judgment involved in determining the total bal-
ance or class? —_—

4. Has the assessment of risk of material misstatement been
considered in determining:

a. The nature, timing or extent of audit procedures? —_— —
b. Assigning staff? —_— ——
¢. Requiring appropriate levels of supervision? _—

5. If it is determined that significant risk of material misstate-
ment exists:

a. Have the details of sged.ﬁc transactions involving senior
management been identified and confirmed with the
appropriate external parties? U
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b. Have the details of all material accounting entrieesagrepared
or approved by senior management been review:
c. Has it been considered whether accounting policies are
acceptable in the circumstances?
J10 J. Illegal Acts
1. Have the following matters been considered in the assessment
of risk that the entity has not complied with laws and regula-
tions that have a direct and matenal effect on the determina-
tion of financial statement amounts:
a. The client’s policy, if any, relative to the prevention of
illegal acts? -

b. Management’s understanding of the requirements of laws -

and regulations pertinent to audit objectives?

c. The nature and extent of noncompliance noted in prior
audits?

d. Internal control structure elements designed to give man-
agement reasonable assurance that the entity complies
with those laws and regulations?

J11 K. Analytical Procedures
1. Have analytical procedures been used which focus on:

a. Enhancing the auditor’s understanding of the client’s busi-
ness and the transactions and events that have accrued
since the last audit date? )

b. Identifying areas that may represent specific risks relevant
to the audit?

J2 L. Audit Strategies and the Audit Program
1. Has the proposed audit program been developed for the
engagement?
2. Has the final audit program been approved by the engage-
ment partner?

[The next page is 3381.]
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AAM Section 3170
Audit Assignment Controls

01 Audit Time Budget ~ Sample A
Chent Audit date
Prepared by
Approved:

Supervisor Date Partner Czate
Preliminary work: Final work:

Start End Start End

Budget (in hours)
May to Nov. Dec.to April

Cash
Recervables:

Confirmation of balances
Review ledgers. etc.
Inventories:
Observation of physical counts
Price tests, etc. .
Securities and investments .
Property. plant, and equipment .. ..
Accumulated dep[emation and amortization ...
Otherassets . ~ .
Notes and accounts payable
Tax accruals
Other liabilities
Capital stock
Retained earnings
Other equity accounts
Income accounts

Costs and expense accounts

Current provision for taxes

Other income and expense accounts
Minutes, agreements, etc
Conferences with client

General supervision and planning

Review computer programs and auditability
Review of internal control .

Review and update permanent tiles

Travel .

Report and statement review

Other matters .

Total budgeted hours
(Excluaes tax and report departments'’ time)

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual . : AAM § 3170.01



3382 Engagement Planning and Administration
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Audit Assignment Controls
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Audit Assignment Controls
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05
Weekly Progress Report
Date
Supervisor In-charge accountant
Client Case

Staft days—seven hours

Original Used Est. to
Estimate to date Unused complete Variance

In-charge accountant

Assistants (list):

Total assistants

Grand total

v

[The next page is 3401.]
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AAM vS‘ection 3175
Sample Engagement Letters

.01 Following are illustrative engagement letters (and one engagement memorandum). They may be used as
guides in the design of specific letters, tailored to satisfy the terms of a particular engagement.

02 Audit Engagement Leading to Opinion
SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY Certified Public Accountants

[Date]

Mr. Thomas Thorp, President
Anonymous Company, Inc.
Route 32

Nowhere, New York 10000

Dear Mr. Thorp:

This will confirm our understanding of the arrangements for our audit of the financial statements of Anonymous
Company, Inc,, for the year ending [date].

We will audit the Company’s balance sheet at [date], and the related statements of income, retained earnings, and
cash flows for the year then ended, for the purpose of expressing an opinion on them. The financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsxblhty is to express an opinion on the financial
statements based on our audit.

We will conduct our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit will provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our procedures will include tests of documentary evidence supporting the transactions recorded in the accounts,
tests of the physical existence of inventories, and direct confirmation of receivables and certain other assets and
liabilities by correspondence with selected customers, creditors, legal counsel, and banks. At the conclusion of our
audit, we will request certain written representations from you about the financial statements and matters related
thereto. C

Our audit is subject to the inherent risk that material errors and irregularities, including fraud or defaicahons, if
they exist, will not be detected. However, we will inform you of irregularities that come to our attentwn, unless
they are inconsequential. J

If you intend to publish or otherwise reproduce the financial statements and make reference to our firm, you agree
to provide us with printers’ proofs or masters for our review and approval before printing. You also agree to
provide us with a copy of the final reproduced material for our approval before it is distributed.

We will review the Company’s federal and state [identify states] income tax returns for the ﬁscal year ended [date].
These returns, we understand, will be prepared by the controller. .

Further, we will be available during the year to consult with you on the tax effects of any proposed transactions or
contemplated changes in business policies.
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Our fee for these services will be at our regular per diem rates, plus travel and other out-of-pocket costs. Invoices
will be rendered every two weeks and are payable on presentation.

We are pleased to have this opportunity to serve you.
If this letter correctly expresses your understanding, please sign the enclosed copy where indicated and return it to

us.
/

Very truly yours,
SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY

Partner
APPROVED:

* Some accountants prefer not to obtain an acknowledgment, in which case their letter would omit the paragraph beginning “If this letter
...” and the spaces for the acknowledgment. The first paragraph of their letter might begin as follows: ‘“This letter sets forth our understanding
of the terms and objectives of our audit . . . .”
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03 Audit Engagement Leading to Opinion (Including Financial Information
for Form 10-K)

SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY Certified Public Accountants

[Date]

Mr. Frederick Mead, President
Thor Tool Co., Inc.

473 Canyon Road

Noplace, NJ 07000

Dear Mr. Mead:
This letter confirms our arrangements with Thor Tool Co., Inc. for the year ended [date].

We will audit the Corporation’s balance sheet as of [date], and the related statements of income, retained earnings,
and cash flows for the year then ended. The financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit.

We will conduct our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit will provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our procedures will include tests (by statistical sampling, if feasible) of documentary evidence supporting the
transactions recorded in the accounts, tests of the physical existence of inventories, and direct confirmation of
receivables and certain other assets and liabilities by correspondence with selected customers, creditors, legal
counsel, and banks. At the conclusion of our audit, we will request certain written representations from you about
the financial statements and matters related thereto.

Your accounting department personnel will prepare the necessary detailed trial balance and supporting schedules.
We will assemble and audit the financial information required for Form 10-K and for the annual report to
stockholders. Both must be submitted to us for approval before publication.

Our audit is subject to the inherent risk that material errors and irregularities, including fraud or defalcations, if
they exist, will not be detected. However, we will inform you of irregularities that come to our attenuon, ‘unless
they are inconsequential.

If you intend to publish or otherwise reproduce the financial statements and make reference to our firm, you agree
to provide us with printers’ proofs or masters for our review and approval before printing. You also agree to
provide us with a copy of the final reproduced material for our approval before it is distributed.

Fees for these services will be at our standard per diem rates. Invoices, including out-of-pocket expenses, will be
submitted every two weeks as the work progresses, and are payable on presentation. We estimate that our fee for
this engagement will be between $10,000 and $12,000. Should any situation arise that would materially increase
this estimate, we will, of course, advise you.
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Please indicate your agreement to these arrangements by signing the attached copy of this letter and returning it to
us.* ‘

Sincerely,
SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY

Partner
APPROVED:

* Some accountants prefer not to obtain an acknowledgment, in which case their letter would omit the paragraph beginning ‘’Please indicate
your ...” and the spaces for the acknowledgment. The first paragraph of their letter might begin as follows: “This letter sets forth our
understanding of the terms and objectives of our audit....”

AAM § 3175.03 Copyright © 1989, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.
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04 Change' in Circumstances From Those Contemplated in Original

Engagement Letter
SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY Certified Public Accountants
[Date]
Mr. James Johnson, Treasurer
Birdie Country Club

64 Eagle Road
Noplace, New York 10000

Dear Mr. Johnson:

As we agreed in our original engagement letter dated [date] we are nohfymg you that our audit of your [date]
financial statements requires additional procedures.

We have found that certain guest checks are held for only three months after they are paid. Thus, a substantial
number of guest checks are not available for examination. Fortunately, your internal control structure policies and
procedures allows us to use alternative procedures to satisfy ourselves on this part of the audit. However, this will
require substantially more time than examining guest checks.

The fee for these additional services will be billed at our standard per.diem rates and added to the $X,XXX fee
quoted in our previous letter.

The problem has been discussed with your controller, who assured us that in the future all guest checks will be
kept for two years.

Please indicate your acceptance of these added terms by signing the copy of this letter and returning it to us. *
Very truly yours,
SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY

---------------------------------------------------------

* Some accountants prefer not to obtain an acknowledgment, in which case their letter would omit the paragraph beginning “Please indicate
your ...” and the spaces for the acknowledgment. The ﬁrst paragraph of their letter might begin as follows: “This letter sets forth our
unde:standing of the terms and objectives of our audit . .
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05 Conditions Encountered Which Do Not Permit Expression of Opinion as
Anticipated in Original Engagement Letter
SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY Certified Public Accountants

[Date]

Ms. Helene Brown, President
ZYX, Inc.

1234 West Street

Noplace, New York 10000

Dear Ms. Brown:

Our March 15, 19XX letter described our present engagement as an audit for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the company’s [date] financial statements. This letter is to inform you that-because of the circumstances
described below, we will be required to qualify our opinion on these statements.

As you know, the Internal Revenue Service has proposed total income tax assessments of approximately $180,000
for the three fiscal years ended [date]. Your tax counsel has advised us that although you have a defensible
position and will protest the assessments, counsel cannot offer an opinion as to your ultimate liability. No
provision for this assessment or any portion of it is included in your [date] financial statements, nor do you feel
any is necessary. You agreed, however, that the proposed assessment and its present status will be disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements.

Because of the uncertainty as to your ultimate liability, we will be unable to express an unqualified opinion. Our
report will state that the financial statements are subject to the effects of such adjustments, if any, as might have
been required had the outcome of this income tax matter been known.

You and your tax counsel have advised that you will inform us of any new developments in the proposed
assessment before our report is issued so that we may consider their effect on your financial statements and on our

report.
Very truly yours,
SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY

-----------------

Partner

NotE: The client is not asked to sign this letter. Its purpose is to inform him of the altered circumstances and
the effect on the opinion. There is no change in the terms of the engagement. However, it might be desirable to
have the client acknowledge receipt of this letter by signing a copy and returning it where—for example—it is a
problem client, or when there has been a history of misunderstandings.

AAM § 3175.05 Copyright © 1989, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.
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06 SEC Engagement: Initial Registration, Form S-1 _
SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY Certified Public Accountants

[Date]

Mr. John James, President
Odin Company, Inc.

3 Bay Drive

La Mancha, California 99999

Dear Mr. James:

This letter confirms the arrangements for our services for the registration statement Odin Company will file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission.

We will audit the consolidated balance sheets of Odin Company, Inc., as at December 31, 19X1 and 19X0, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the three years then ended, which will be
included in a Form S-1, * registration statement. The financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit.-

We will conduct our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit will provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. We will also audit the financial information
necessary for the schedules required by Regulation S-X of the SEC.

We will perform these services as expeditiously as possible. Your accounting personnel will assist us and
cooperate in the timely preparation of trial balances, schedules and account analyses, and provide clerical
assistance as needed. Mr. John Brown of the law firm of Green & Brown will be liaison with counsel.

If during our audit we find that we are unable to express an unqualified opinion on the financial statements or that
we are otherwise unable to comply with the requirements of Form S-1, we will notify you of the problems
encountered.

We will also fulfill the portion of the underwriter’s agreement directed to the independent accountants, provided
the requirements are within the purview of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 49 (Letters for Underwriters),
issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and provided the material can properly be
reported on by accountants pursuant to that Statement. In this regard, we require that a copy of the tentative
underwriting contract be given us as soon as it is available. Should that portion of the underwriting contract that
deals with the details of the comfort letter be available before the balance of the underwriting contract is
completely drafted, you will arrange for us to receive a copy of it.

Subsequent to issuance of our auditor’s report, we will perform certain procedures required by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 37 (Filings Under Federal Securities Statutes), issued by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, regarding execution of consent letters required for certain SEC filings. In connection
therewith, all printer's proofs of reports to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission are to be
submitted to us for review. This requirement extends to the entire registration statement and all other material
which accompanies the financial statements.

* This should be edited to agree with the particular form to be filed.
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Our audit is subject to the inherent risk that material errors and irregularities, including fraud or defalcations, if
they exist, will not be detected. However, we will inform you of irregularities that come to our attenhon, unless
they are inconsequential.

Our fee for services will be computed at our standard per diem rates, and will be billed to you, together with out-
of-pocket costs, every two weeks. Invoices are due and payable on presentation. Before our services begin, you
have agreed to pay us a $XX,XXX retainer, which will be applied to the final billing for this engagement.

We appreciate your confidence in our firm by retaining us as your independent certified public accountants.

If this letter correctly expresses your understanding, please sign the enclosed copy where mdlcated and return it to
us, together with your check for $XX,XXX.

Sincerely,
SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY

oooooooooooooo

Partner
APPROVED:
By
Date

AAM § 3175.06 Copyright © 1989, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.
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07 Compilation of Financial Statements and Tax Services
SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY Certified Public Accountants

[Date]

Mr. Tom Jones, President
ZYXWV Freight Corporation
- 648 Crystal Lane

Noplace, Anystate 00000

Dear Mr. Jones:

This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and the nature and
limitations of the services we will provide.

We will perform the following services:

1. We will compile, from information you provide, the annual and interim balance sheets and related statements
of income, retained earnings, and cash flows of ZYXWV Freight Corporation for the year 19XX. We will not
audit or review such financial statements. Our report on the annual financial statements of ZYXWYV Freight
Corporation is presently expected to read as follows:

We have compiled the accompanying balance sheet of XYZ Company as of December 31,
19XX, and the related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year
then ended, in accordance with standards established by the Amencan Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

A compilation is limited to presenting in the form of financial statements information that is
the representation of management (owners). We have not audited or reviewed the accompa-
nying financial statements and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or any other form of
assurance on them. ‘

Our report on your interim financial statements, which statements will omit substantially all disclosures, will
include an additional paragraph that will read as follows:

Management has elected to omit substantially all of the disclosures required by generally
accepted accounting principles. If the omitted disclosures were included in the financial
statements, they might influence the user’s conclusions about the company’s financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows. Accordingly, these financial statements are
not designed for those who are not informed about such matters. -

If, for any reason, we are unable to complete the compilation of your financial statements, we will not issue a
report on such statements as a result of this engagement.

2. We will assist your bookkeeper in adjusting the books of account so that he will be able to prepare a working
trial balance from which financial statements can be compiled. Your bookkeeper will provide us with a
detailed trial balance and any supporting schedules we require.

3. We will also prepare the federal and state [zdentlfy states] income tax returns for ZYXWYV Freight Corporahon
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 19XX.

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors and irregularities, including fraud or defalcations,
that may exist. However, we will inform you of irregularities that come to our attention, unless they are
inconsequential.

Our fees for these services . . ..
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We shall be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign the copy of this letter in the sPace
provided and return it to us. *
Sincerely yours,

eseersssscecsssccessscecrsessone seeervecennes

Swift, March & Company

Acknowledge:
ZYXWYV Freight Corporation

------------------------

* Some accountants prefer not to obtain an acknowledgment, in which case their letter would omit the paragraph beginning “If the foregoing
.” and the spaces for the acknowledgment. The ﬁrst paragraph of their letter might begin as follows: “This letter sets forth our understanding

of the terms and objectives of our engagement. .
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.08 Review of Financial Statements and Tax Services
SWIFT, MARCH & COMPANY . . Certified Public Accountants

[Date]

Mr. Tom Jones, President
ZYXWYV Freight Company
648 Crystal Lane
Nowhere, Anystate 00000

Dear Mr. Jones:

This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and the nature and
limitations of the services we will provide. :

We will perform the following services:

1. We will review the balance sheet of ZYXWYV Freight Company as of [date], and the related statements of
income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with standards established by
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We will not perform an audit of such financial statements
taken as a whole, and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion on them. A review does not contemplate
obtaining an understanding of the internal control structure or assessing control risk, tests of accounting records
and responses to inquiries by obtaining corroborating evidential matter, and certain other procedures ordinarily
performed during an audit. Thus, a review does not provide assurance that we will become aware of all significant
matters that would be disclosed in an audit. Our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, irregulari-
ties, or illegal acts, including fraud or defalcations, that may exist. However, we will inform you of any such
matters that come to our attention, unless they are inconsequential.

Our report is presently expected to read as follows:

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheet of ZYXWV Freight Company as of
[date], and the related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year
then ended, in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. All information included in these financial statements is the representa-
tion of the management of ZYXWYV Freight Company.

A review consists principally of inquiries of Company personnel and analytical procedures
applied to financial data. It is substantially less in scope than an audit in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion
regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an
opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to
the accompanying financial statements in order for them to be in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

If, for any reason, we are unable to complete our review of your financial statements, we will not issue a
report on such statements as a result of this engagement.

2. We will provide your chief accountant with such consultation on accounting matters as he may require in
adjusting and closing the books of account and in drafting financial statements for our review. Your chief
accountant also will provide us with a detailed trial balance and any supporting schedules we require.

3. We will also prepare the federal and state [Jdentlfy states] income tax returns for ZYXWYV Freight Company
- for the fiscal year ended [date]. .

Our fees for these services. .
AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual . AAM § 3175.08
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We shall be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign the copy of this letter in the space
provided and return it to us.’
Sincerely yours,

---------------------------------------------------------

[Signature of accountant]

Acknowledged:
ZYX WV Freight Company

.................

President

Date

*Some accountants prefer not to obtain an acknowledgement, in which case their letter would omit the paragraph beginning “If the
...” and the spaces for the acknowledgement. The first paragraph of their letter might begin as follows: “This letter sets forth our
understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement. .. .”
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09 Sample Engagement Memorandum (When No Formal Engagement Letter

Is Sent)

Engagement Memorandum
[Date]

Client

Address

Phone

Final arrangements made with

Date final arrangements made

Client’s personnel responsible for accounting mat-

ters

Responsibilities of client’s personnel in prepara-
tion for engagement

Reports to be addressed to

Financial statements to be audited

Nature of engagement

Date audit to commence

Estimated time required

Staff requirements

Billing arrangements

Special accounting problems

Other comments

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual

ABC, Inc.

711 Easy Street, La Mancha, Calif. 99999

QUincy 7-1234

Oscar Brown, President

February 15, 19XX at a meeting in the ABC offices

Tom Smith, Treasurer

Joe Green, Controller

Trial balance of G/L and completion of schedules,
a list of which we will submit two weeks before

beginning of engagement

Board of Directors (twelve copies)

Balance sheet at March 31, 19XX and statements of
income, retained earnings, shareholders’ equity
and cash flows for year ended March 31, 19XX

Opinion audit and federal and state income tax
returns for year ended March 31, 19XX

Approximately April 24, 19XX (check with control-
ler about April 10)

About three weeks

Manager, supervisor, an in-charge senior, and two
staff assistants :

Every two weeks, at standard plus out-of-pocket
costs; invoices to attention of Tom Smith; payable
on presentation

Client was involved in a substantial sale and lease-
back transaction during the year

Imputed interest may be required on long-term
liabilities resulting from purchase of business

Client is presently negotiating with machinists
union
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.10 Audit of Personal Financial Statements
(Salutation]

This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our audit and the nature and limitations
of the services we will provide. ‘

We will perform the following service(s):

1. We will audit the statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date], and the related
statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended, for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
them. The financial statements are the responsibility of James and Jane Person. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We will conduct our audit in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amount and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
James and Jane Person, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

[Standard Audit Report]
2. We will also [discussion of other services, if any].

Our audit is subject to the inherent risk that material errors and irregularities, including fraud or defalcations, if
they exist, will not be detected. However, we will inform you of irregularities that come to our attention, unless
they are inconsequential.

Our fees for these services [specify fees or terms].
We shall be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign the copy of this letter in the space provided
and return it to us.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of accountant]
Acknowledged:

[Date}
[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide.)
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J11 Compilation of Personal Financial Statements
[Salutation]

This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and the nature and
limitations of the services we will provide.
We will perform the following service(s):

1. We will compile, from information you provide, the statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person .
as of [date], and the related statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended, in accordance with
standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We will not audit or review
such financial statements. Our report on the financial statements is presently expected to read as follows:

[Standard Compilation Report]

-

If, for any reason, we are unable to complete our compilation of your financial statements, we will not issue a
report on such statements as a result of this engagement.

2. We will also [discussion of other services, if any].

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors and irregularities, including fraud or defalcations, that
might exist. However, we will inform you of irregularities that come to our attention, unless they are inconsequen-
tial.

Our fees for these services [specify fees or terms].
We shall be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time.
If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign the copy of this letter in the space provided

and return it to us.
Sincerely yours,
[Signature of accountant]
Acknowledged:
[Date}

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide.]
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.12 Review of Personal Financial Statements
[Salutation)

This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and the nature and
limitations of the services we will provide.

We will perform the following service(s):

1. We will review the statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date], and the related
statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended, in accordance with standards established by
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We will not perform an audit of such financial
statements, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as
a whole, and, accordingly, we will not express such an opinion on them. Our report on the financial
statements is presently expected to read as follows:

[Standard Review Report]

If, for any reason, we are unable to complete our review of your financial statements, we will not issue a
report on such statements as a result of this engagement.

2. We will also [discussion of other services, if any).

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors and irregularities, including fraud or defalcations, that
might exist. However, we will inform you of irregularities that come to our attention, unless they are inconsequen-
tial.

Our fees for these services [specify fees or terms].
We shall be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign the copy of this letter in the space provided
and return it to us.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of accountant]
Acknowledged:

[Date]
[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide.]
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AAM Section 4000 |
INTERNAL CONTROL STRUCTURE

The material included in these sections on internal control structure is presented
for illustrative purposes only. The comments and illustrations are neither all
inclusive nor are they prescribed minimums. They are intended as conveniences
for users of this manual who may want assistance when developing materials to
meet their individual needs.

This manual is a nonauthoritative kit of practice aids and, accordingly, these
sections on internal control structure do not include extensive explanation or
discussion of authoritative pronouncements. Users of this manual are urged to
refer directly to applicable authoritative pronouncements when appropriate.
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AAM Section 4100
Introduction

.01 The second standard of field work states, “’A sufficient understanding of the internal control structure is to
be obtained to plan the audit and to determine the nature, timing and extent of tests to be performed.” SAS No.
55, Consideration of the Internal Control Structure in a Financial Statement Audit (AU section 319), indicates that
the auditor should have an understanding of the control environment, the accounting system, and control
procedures, i.e., the internal control structure. After the auditor obtains this understanding, he may decide to
assess control risk at the maximum level. Where the assessed level of control risk is the maximum, only that
conclusion need be documented. However the auditor must still document his understanding of the internal
control structure.

.02 SAS No. 55 includes discussion of the subdivision of internal control structure into the control environ-
ment, the accounting system, and control procedures, and states that,” . . . Dividing the internal control structure
into these three elements facilitates discussion of its nature and how the auditor considers it in an audit. The
auditor’s primary consideration, however, is whether an internal control structure policy or procedure affects
financial statement assertions rather than its classification into any particular category.” (SAS No. 55, paragraph 8
[AU section 319.08]). Accordingly, the term “internal control structure” is used throughout these sections.

.03 The following Statements on Auditing Standards provide authoritative interpretation of the second
standard of field work: '

SAS No. 55, Consideration of the Internal Control Structure in a Financial Statement Audit (AU section 319).

SAS No. 60, Communication of Internal Control Structure Related Matters Noted in an Audit (AU section
325).

.04 These sections include comments on practice aids used in obtaining an understanding of the internal
control structure and assessing control risk, including illustrative examples of- the following:

Internal control structure inquiries—small business.
Specific internal control structure objectives and related questions—medium to large business.

Internal control structure flowcharts—small business.

[The next page is 4201.]
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AAM Section 4200
General Approach

.01 The auditor usually starts obtaining or updating his understanding of the client’s internal control structure
policies and procedures relevant to the audit of the financial statements at the beginning of field work. This timing
is important because the auditor uses this current understanding in determining the nature, timing, and extent of
tests of controls and substantive tests to be performed during the audit. During preliminary meetings with the
client, before commencing field work, the auditor may make inquiries about the client’s internal control structure
policies and procedures relevant to the audit or about significant changes therein.

.02 The auditor’s understanding of the internal control structure in all audits should include knowledge of
each of the three elements: control environment, accounting system, and control procedures. The auditor is
required to obtain a sufficient understanding of each of the three elements to plan the audit. The auditor should
perform procedures to understand, the design of relevant policies and procedures and whether they have been
placed in operation. Generally, the policies and procedures relevant to an audit pertain to the entity’s ability to
record, process, summarize, and report financial data consistent with the assertions embodied in the financial
statements. The auditor is not required to, but may, obtain knowledge about the operating effectiveness of
relevant policies and procedures as part of the understanding of internal control structure.

.03 The control environment represents the collective effect of various factors on establishing, enhancing, or
mitigating the effectiveness of specific policies and procedures. Such factors include the following:

1. Management’s philosophy and operating style.
The entity’s organizational structure.
The functioning of the board of directors and its committees, particularly the audit committee.

Methods of assigning authority and responsibility.

g s woN

Management’s control methods for monitoring and following up on performance, including internal
auditing.

6. Personnel policies and practices.
7. Various external influences that affect an entity’s operations and practices.

The control environment i‘eﬂgqts the overall attitude, awareness, and actions of the board of directors, manage-
ment, owners, and others concerning the importance of control and its emphasis in the entity.

~.04 The accounting system consists of the methods and records established to identify, assemble, analyze,
classify, record, and report an entity’s transactions and to maintain accountability for the related assets and
liabilities. An effective accounting system gives appropriate consideration to establishing records and methods
that will:

1. Identify and record all valid transactions.

2. Describe on a timely basis the transactions in sufficient detail to permit proper classification of transac-
tions for financial reporting.

3. Measure the value of transactions in a manner that permits recording their proper monetary value in the
financial statements.
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4. Determine the time period in which transactions occurred to permit recording. of transactions in the
proper accounting period.

5. Present properly the transactions and related disclosures in the financial statements,

—

.05 Control procedures are those policies and procedures in addition to the control environment and
accounting system that management has established to provide reasonable assurance that specific entity objectives
will be achieved. Control procedures have various objectives and are applied ‘at various organizational and data
‘processing levels. They may also be integrated into specific components of the control environment and the
accounting system. Generally, they may be categorized as procedures that pertain to: :

1. Proper authorization of transactions and activities.

2. Segregation of duties that reduce the opportunities to allow any person to be in a position to both
perpetrate and conceal errors or irregularities in the normal course of his duties—assigning different
people the responsibilities of authorizing transactions, recording transactions, and maintaining custody
of assets.

3. Design and use of adequate documents and records to help ensure the proper recording of transactions
and events, such as monitoring the use of prenumbered shlppmg documents.

4. Adequate safeguards over access to and use of assets and records, such as secured- fac111t1es and
authorization for access to computer programs and data files.

5. Independent checks on performance and proper valuation of recorded amounts, such as clerical checks,
reconciliations, comparison of assets with recorded accountability, computer-programmed controls,
management review of reports that summarize the detail of account balances (for example, an aged trial
balance of accounts receivable), and user review of computer generated reports.

.06 The purpose of obtaining an understanding of the internal control structure is to provide the auditor with
adequate knowledge to identify the types of potential misstatements that could occur in account balances or
classes of transactions and the related assertions, to consider the factors that affect the risk of material misstate-
ment in such balances or classes, and in turn, to design appropriate tests of controls and substantive tests.

.07 Ordinarily the auditor obtains an understanding by a combination of previous experience with the entity,
inquiry, inspection of documents and records, observation, and reference to prior year working papers, client
prepared descriptions of the structure, or other appropriate documentation. In determining the nature and extent
of procedures to obtain the understanding of each internal control structure element sufficient to plan the audit,
the auditor also considers previous experience with the entity, as well as the understanding of the industry in
which the entity operates, assessments of inherent risk, judgments about materiality, and the complexity and
sophistication of the entity’s operations. The auditor must document his understanding of the internal control
structure. The extent of the auditor’s documentation is directly related to the complexity of the entity’s internal
control structure, For example, in a large entity with a complex structure, the auditor may use questionnaires and
flowcharts to obtain and document the necessary understanding. In a small, owner managed entity with a simple
internal control structure, a narrative memorandum may be sufficient documentation.

.08 After documenting his understanding of the internal control structure, the auditor assesses control risk for
financial statement assertions. Control risk is the risk that a material misstatement that could occur in an assertion
will not be prevented or timely detected by the internal control structure. The auditor assesses control risk by
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of the policies and procedures in the control environment,
accounting, system, and control procedures established to prevent or timely detect misstatements, ie., by
performing tests of controls. The conclusion derived from assessing control risk is called the “assessed level of
control risk.” The level may vary from maximum to minimum and may be stated in either quantitative (e.g., on a
“scale” or percentages) or qualitative (high, moderate, or low). The assessed level of control nsk is determined by
two factors:
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1. The presence of (or lack of) internal control structure policies and procedures that are relevant to a
financial statement assertion and

2. The extent to which the design and operation of those policies or procedures are effective in preventing
or timely detecting misstatements in the assertion.

.09 At this point, the auditor may decide to assess control risk at maximum for some or all assertions because
policies or procedures are not relevant to the assertions or they are unlikely to be effective. Even when potentially
effective policies and procedures exist, the auditor may decide that testing their effectiveness would be inefficient,
i.e. the increase in audit effort for tests of controls may outweigh the decrease in audit effort from reduced
substantive testing: In such circumstances, the auditor would decide to assess control risk for these assertions at
maximum level. Control risk would also be assessed at maximum when the auditor obtains evidence that policies
and procedures relevant to an assertion aren’t designed or operating effectively.

.10 When control risk is assessed below the maximum level, the auditor should identify internal control
structure policies or procedures relevant to the assertion and perform tests of controls. Tests of controls include
procedures such as inquiry, observation, and reperforming procedures by the auditor. The resulting evidence is
used to assess whether control risk for the assertion is below the maximum level. The auditor considers two
potential sources of evidence about the effectiveness of the design and operation of internal control structure
policies and procedures:

1. The understanding of the internal control structure and
2. Any planned tests of controls performed concurrently with obtaining the understanding,

The understanding of the internal control structure may provide evidence to support an assessment of control risk
at below the maximum level because certain procedures performed to. obtain the understanding may provide
evidence about the effectiveness of design or operation for some policies or procedures even though they weren’t
specifically planned to do so. This evidence may be sufficient to support an assessed level of control risk below the
maximum level. It is important to note that the procedures performed in obtaining the understanding must
provide sufficient evidence to evaluate the effectiveness of both the design and operation of internal control
structure policies or procedures. An assessment of control risk below maximum cannot be supported unless such
sufficient evidence is provided. After assessing control risk using evidence provided by the understanding of the
internal control structure and planned tests of controls, the auditor may believe that a further reduction in control
risk for some assertions could be supported by obtaining additional evidence. The auditor would perform
additional tests of controls if doing so would increase audit efficiency.

.11 When the assessed level of control risk is below maximum, the auditor should document the basis for the
assessed level of control risk. This documentation generally includes tests of controls applied to internal control
structure policies or procedures. When control risk is assessed at the maximum, only the conclusion itself needs to
be documented.

.12 The process of obtaining an understanding of the internal control structure and assessing the level of
control risk provides the auditor with a basis for determining the nature, timing, and extent of substantive tests
necessary to complete the audit. This may also be an appropriate time to communicate reportable conditions and
other mternal control structure related matters to the audit committee (or its equivalent).

Aids Used in Obtaining an Understandmg of Internal Control Structure and
Assessmg Control Risk

13 The auditor may document his understanding of the internal control structure in the form of answers to a
questionnaire, narrative memoranda, flowcharts, decision tables, a combination of these forms or any other form
that suits the auditor’s needs or preferences. Some auditors have preferences for a particular form such as
flowcharts and require the form as a matter of firm policy.
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.14 Auditors may find aids such as questionnaires, checklists, instructions or similar generalized materials to
be useful tools in assessing control risk. These aids generally present questions or statements about internal
control structure objectives and specific policies or procedures. These aids also generally include caveats that the
auditor must use professional judgment in applying them in actual circumstances (including recognition of when
to modify their content and when to prepare or obtain supplementary material).

.15 Some auditors design the aid to serve as a working paper when properly annotated. This type of aid is
generally in checklist or questionnaire form. Others design the aid as a reference document with .explicit
instructions that it is intended for reference purposes and not to be annotated for use as a working paper
document. Auditors who incorporate checklists or questionnaires into their working papers believe that they
provide efficiency and evidence that certain predetermined matters were considered. Auditors who use reference
type aids rather than aids designed to be annotated and retained in the working papers are concerned that
standardized checklists may be prepared by rote. Both approaches require that the auditor use professional
judgment in the circumstances. Both approaches also require that the auditor remain alert to any matters that may
not be covered in the checklists or reference material.

Special Considerations for Public Companies

.16 Auditors of public companies should be aware of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 which, among
other things, requires public companies to “. . . devise and maintain a system of internal accounting controls. . ..”
In 1979, the SEC had proposed rules which would have required inclusion of a statement of management on
internal accounting control in annual reports on Form 10-K and in annual reports to security holders and that such
a statement be examined and reported on by an independent public accountant. In 1980, the SEC withdrew this
proposal and decided to allow existing voluntary and private-sector initiatives for public reporting on internal
accounting control (by both registrants and accountants) to continue to develop. The SEC stated its intention to
monitor closely the results of such developments and revisit the issue in the spring of 1982. The AICPA Auditing
Standards Board has issued SAS No. 30, Reporting on Internal Accounting Control (AU section 642), which
describes the procedures an independent accountant should apply concerning various types of engagements to
report on an entity’s system of internal accounting control, and also describes the different forms of accountant’s
report to be issued in connection with such engagements. The AICPA Auditing Standards Board has also issued
SAS No. 60, Communication of Internal Control Structure Related Matters Noted in an Audit (AU section 325),
which provides guidance in identifying and reporting conditions that relate to an entity’s internal control structure
observed during an audit of financial statements.

Orgamzatlon of Checklists, Questionnaires, and Other Generahzed Aids

.17 Checklist questionnaires and other generalized aids on internal control structure elements typically
present numerous questions, statements, or a combination of both, about specific internal control structure,
policies and procedures. Auditors differ in how they structure their materials on internal control structure. Some
auditors group their material into balance sheet and related income statement classifications to ease cross-
reference with sections of their working papers on substantive tests. Other auditors organize their material into
broad transaction cycles. For example, purchases and accounts payable, payrolls, accrued expenses, and cash
disbursements may be grouped as an expenditures cycle. This approach transcends the differences in how
companies are organized and helps to get an overview of all the effects of transactions across various functional
lines within a company. Other auditors organize their material by functions within a company. Examples are
requisitioning, purchasing, receiving, invoice processing, accounts payable recording, and payment functions
which may be grouped as purchases and payables. This approach follows the established organizational lines in a
company and aids in determining who is responsible for performance of prescribed internal control structure
procedures. These approaches are conceptual notions and may be applied to large or small organizations. The
decision to organize internal control structure material on the statement classification approach, cycle approach,
business function approach, or any other suitable approach rests with the individual auditor or firm. Followmg are
some further illustrations of these grouping approaches:
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® Related Balance Sheet and Income Statement Classifications: (1) general; (2) cash receipts, disburse-
ments, and balances; (3) accounts receivable and sales; (4) inventory and cost of sales; (5) property, plant
and equipment, and related depreciation; (6) investments; (7) accounts payable and purchases; (8)
payroll; (9) debt; and (10) equity capital. ’

® Transaction Cycles: (1) revenue (customer acceptance, credit, shipping, sales, cash receipts, receivables,
allowances for doubtful accounts, sales warranties, etc.); (2) expenditures (purchases, payrolls, cash
disbursements, accounts payable, accrued expenses, etc.); (3) production or conversion (inventory, cost of
sales, property and related depreciation, etc.); (4) financing (investments, debt, leases, equity capital); and
(5) financial reporting.!

W
o

'®  Groupings of Business Functions: (1) financial reporting (cdntrollership, general accounting); (2) EDP; (3)
financial management (cash receipts and disbursements, cash balances and investments, debt, leases,
and equity capital); (4) sales and credit (order entry, credit, shipping, billing, receivables and collections);
(5) inventory and production costs (production planning and operations, cost accounting, inventory
recordkeeping, and inventory custody); (6) productive assets (planning and authorization for capital
assets, accounting for property and related depreciation, maintenance, and asset custody); (7) purchases
and payables (purchasing, receiving, invoice processing, and disbursements); and (8) employee compen-
sation and benefits (personnel, employee supervision, payroll preparation and recording, and disburse-
ments).

Formats of Checklists and Questionnaires

.18 Checklist questions are usually worded so a “yes” answer indicates that the client uses a particular policy
or procedure. “No” answers serve as signals that the client’s internal control structure may have a potential
reportable condition unless the client has other policies or procedures that accomplish the same objectives as
would the absent procedure. “No” answers pose an especially important documentation problem because they
require consideration of the following:

® Should the absent procedure be dismissed as not applicable because it is not relevant in the client’s
circumstances?

® Does the client have other policies or procedures that accomplish the objective of the absent procedure
so that the answer does not indicate a potential reportable condition?

® Does the deficiency require modification of the audit program for substantive tests or are the tests
adequate despite the deficiency?

® s the deficiency a reportable condition requiring communication in accordance with SAS No. 60 (AU
* section 325)?

® How should other deficiencies be communicated to the client?

Because of these considerations, the formats of questionnaires usually call for information in addition to simply
checking yes and no answers. Some questionnaires provide an additional column for “‘not applicable” and a wide
column for additional comment on conclusions about other compensating policies and procedures and the needs
for program modifications and /or written communication to the client.

.19 Some questionnaire formats provide additional columns for information such as the following:
@ Name of client’s employee or group of employees who perform the procedure. .

@  Specific cross-reference to flowcharts and/or narratives included in the auditor’s working papers.

! The financial reporting cycle would include general accounting and preparation of such reports as financial statements, tax returns, and
reports to regulatory bodies. For nonpublic companies which work closely with their auditors in preparing such reports, review of internal
control structure for the financial reporting cycle may be a moot point.
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® Specific cross-reference to working papers on tests of controls.

® Specific cross-reference to compensating policies and procedures for absent items; compensating policies
and procedures may be represented by other checklist items or noted in complementary memoranda or
procedures not anticipated in the questionnaire.

® Specific cross-reference to memoranda on internal control structure deficiencies and their effect on the
audit program and development of. management letter comments.

.20 Some questionnaires provide for the auditor to initial and date each item. Others provide entry of the date
and auditor’s signature after each group of questions for a particular transaction cycle or functional grouping.
Some questionnaires also include blank formats with preprinted captions on which the auditor may prepare
annotations about specific internal control structure deficiencies, conclusions about findings, and proposed
amendments (if any) to the audit program. These preprinted captions for example, may include the following:

® Explanation of a specific deficiency or new strength (generally cross-referenced to a specific item in the
body of the checklist).

® Cross-reference to a specific compensating internal control structure policy or procedure, if any.
Whether amendment of the audit program is needed concerning: |
(a) Further restriction of audit procedures.
(b) Extension of audit procedures.

(c) Modification of the extent or timing of audit procedures.

[The next page is 4227.]
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AAM Section 4250

Internal Control Structure Considerations in a
Minicomputer Environment

010 The use of minicomputers to process accounting applications has become increasingly common in
entities of all sizes. In a minicomputer environment, as elsewhere, the auditor-studies the internal control
structure, which includes both the EDP and non-EDP features of the minicomputer system. In 1981, AICPA
published “Audit and Control Considerations in a Minicomputer or Small Business Computer Environment” as
part of its Computer Services Guidelines. That document discusses, among other things, audit and planning
considerations, substantive audit techniques, and computer-assisted audit techniques in a minicomputer environ-
ment. It may be helpful to auditors who wish to acquire more knowledge about the effect of the use of a
minicomputer on the audit plan.

020 “Audit and Contiol Considerations in a Minicomputer or Small Business Computer Environment”
includes a table that lists the risks and relevant control policies and procedures associated with characteristics
frequently found in a minicomputer environment. That table is reproduced below as an aid to audltors assessing
control risk in a minicomputer environment.

.030 Lack of Segregation of Function$ Between the EDP Department and Users

(Personnel in the user department initiate and authorize source documents, enter data into the system,
operate the computer, and use the output reports.)

Risks

Perpetration and concealment of errors or irregularities.

Unauthorized changes to master files.

Inaccurate and incomplete processing of data.

Processing errors. '

Incompleterr erroneous data.

Uncorrected errors.

Lost, added, or altered data.

Relevant Control Policies and Procedures

Maintenance of transaction logs and batch controls by user department.
Independent review of processing logs, transaction logs, and batch control information.

Management supervision. .

Password§ to control access to files and libraries.

Required vacations and rotation of duties. : B Lo
Reconciliation of record counts or hash totals. '

Use of application programs to make changes in master files. : :

Independent reconciliation of transaction totals recorded in batch control logs with input and output totals.
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Comparison of system manufacturer’s utility program with authorized application version.
.040 Location of the Computer

(The computer is located in the same area as the user ;iepartment.)
Risks

Improper use or manipulation of data files.

Unauthorized use or modification of computer programs.

Improper use of computer resources.

Relevant Control Policies and Procedures

Menus and procedures to control processing access.

Management review of usage reports (history logs).

Periodic comparison of usage reports with processing schedule.
Physical control over data entry devices.

050 Lack of Segregation of Functions Within the EDP Department
(There is no segregation between programmers and operators.)

Risks

Unauthorized access to information and programs.

Perpetration and concealment of errors or irregularities.

Errors caused by improper use or manipulation of data files or unauthorized or incorrect use of computer
program. .

Application programs that do not meet management's objectives.

Relevant Control Policies and Procedures

Use of a compiler to convert the source code into object code.

Comparison of library directories with manual records.

Comparison of program in use with an authorized version.

Use of interpretive language programs.

Passwords to control access to libraries and files.

Software controls to limit system access capabilities according to employee function.
Test libraries. '

Management review of usage reports (history logs).

Systems of transaction logs, batch controls, processing logs and run-to-run controls.
060 Limited Knowledge of EDP

(Supervisor respbnsible for data processing has limited knowledge of EDP.)
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Risks B

Failure of systems to meet management objectives or operate ac;:ording to management specifications.
Lack of adequate application controls.

Inadequate testing and review of systems.

Relevant Control Policies and Procedures

Operations documentation.

Program documentation.

Systems documentation.

Use of third party to review new and modified programs and systems.

070 Utility Programs o |

(Utility programs are used extensively to enter and to change data.) . . -

Risks ‘ |

Unauthorized access and changes to data.

Undetected errors in file manipulation.

Lack of adequate application controls.

Processing of unauthorized transactions and omitting of authorized transactions.
Perpetration and concealment of errors or irregularities.

Relevant Control Policies and Procedures

Use of passwords to control access to data files.

Use of application prégrams to updgte files.

Independent control over transaction and master file changes, such as item count, control total, and hash
totals. ‘ '

Limited access to utilities.

Removal of utilities from system when practical to do so.

080 Diskettes _

(biskettes are used extensively for file storage.)

Risks o

Processing of the wrong file.

Inability to detect errors in file changes.

Inability to highlight operator errors.

Relevant Control Policies and Procedures

Control over access to diskettes.

Storage of data in format not readable by ke.y entry devices. )
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Use of manual logs to control diskette library.

090 Terminals '

(Terminals are used for transaction data entry, inquiry, and other interactive functions.)

Risks

Unauthorized input.

Erroneous or fraudulent data.

Errors caused by improper use or manipulation of data files or computer programs.

Erroneous or incomplete data.

Relevant Control Policies and Procedures

Use of software that will allow only certain terminals to be used for specific functions.

Use of physical controls to limit access to data files.

Use of passwords to control access to data files.

Encryption of data and programs.

On-line computer edit procedures..

Record counts, batch controls, run-to-run controls, verification.

Error handling control procedure and errorlogs. -

Use of menus and procedures.

100 Software Packages

(Purchased software packages are used extensively rather than internally developed application software.)
Risks | -
Failure of systems to meet management and user objectives.

Lack of adequate applicator controls.

Inadequate testing of systems.

Relevant Control Policles and Procedures

Use of tﬂird party to review and evaluate proposed software packages.

110 Documentation _ o

(Available system program, operator, and user documentation may be limited or nonexistent.)
Risks '
Undetected errors during processing and system maintenance.

Relevant Control Policies and Procedures

User-based controls.

[The next page is 4301.]
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Hlustrative Internal Control Structure
Questions—Small Business

.010 The following is a list of illustrative internal control structure questions an auditor might raise concerning
a small manufacturing operation owned by one person who also serves as the general manager and has only a few
employees involved in the accounting function. These illustrative questions assume that accounting services will
be performed by the CPA in compiling financial statements. These illustrative questions are numbered merely for
organization purposes; the numbers are in no way intended to infer completeness or a preferred sequence. This
list will require modification for other types of entities. Because this list is merely illustrative, some auditors may
find it not extensive enough, while others may find it too detailed. Others may prefer a different organization or
sequence for the inquiries. A firm that believes the questionnaire approach is appropriate for its practice should
develop its own internal control structure questionnaires based on its own needs and preferences. In any évent,
users of checklists and questionnaires should recognize that important matters in a particular set of circumstances
may not be covered in a standard checklist. ‘ ‘

.020

I. Control Environment

1.  Does the owner reasonably understand the form and content of the financial statements and such
required reports as tax returns?

2. Does the owner use operating budgets and cash projections? If so,
a. Do the budgets and projections lend themselves to effective comparison with actual results?
b. Are material variances reviewed and explained?

3. Are monthly comparative financial reports prepared which are sufficiently informative to highlight
abnormalities?

4. Is there adequate control including a reporting schedule and assigned responsibility for preparation of
required financial statements and government regulatory reports?

5. Are the personal funds of the owner including his personal income and expenses completely segregated
from the business? '

6. Is the bookkeeper required to take annual vacations and does someone else perform the bookkeeping
duties during that time?

7. Are there adequate safekeeping facilities for custody of the accounting records such as fireproof storage
areas and restricted access cabinets?

8. Is there adequate fidelity bond coverage of employees who handle cash, securities, other valuable assets
and accounting records?

9. Is the adequacy of insurance coverage periodically reviewed?
10. Is there a suitable records retention plan?
11. Is the owner satisfied that all employees are competent and honest?
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II. Accounting System and Control Procedures”

030 A. General

1.
2.

Is a complete and current chart of accounts used?

Is a double entry bookkeeping system in use which includes a general ledger, source journals, and
suitable subsidiary records? ’ '

Do the records provide for efficient accumulation of entries and avoidance of unnecessary duplicate
work?

Are standard journal entries used to the extent practicable?
Are journal entries understood and authorized by the owner?

Are the source journals posted promptly and the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers kept current and
balanced monthly? '

040 B. Identified Significant Classes of Transactions

1.

2
3.
4

Revenue Cycle (Revenue, Receivables, and Cash Receipts)?
Expenditures Cycle (Purchases, Payables, Payrolls, Cash Disbur’seinents)?
Production or Conversion Cycle (Inventories, Cost of Sales, Property, Plant, and Equipment)?

Financing Cycle (Notes Receivable, Investments, Notes Payable, Debt, Other Long-Term Obligations,
and Owner’s Equity)?

III. Revenue Cycle (Revenue, Receivables & Cash Receipts)

050 A. Understanding—Revenues and Accounts Receivable

1.

© ® N o DA w N

—
i

11.
12.

How are sales transactions initiated? -

What document or record is used to evidence initiation?

What are the responsibilities of personnel involved with initiating sales?
How are sales transactions recorded?’

How often are sales journal entries prepared?

How are collections received?

What document or record is used to evidence collections?

What are the responsibilities of personnel involved with collections?
How often are bank deposits made? . '

How are credits to customers’ accounts initiated?

What documents are used to evidence credits?

What are the responsibilities of personnel involved with initiating credits? - -

060 B. Control Procedures—Revenues and Accounts Receivable

1.

Is credit approved by the owner or a designated credit manager?

* The accounting system and control procedure elements are combined because they are highly interrelated and often inseparable. Generally,
the auditor has a greater responsibility to understand the accounting system than to understand specific control procedures.
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Are credit files maintained on a current basis for significant customers?

Are commission rates set or approved by the owner? |

Are sales orders or work orders approved by the owner or a responsible employee for:
a. Price?

b. Terms of sale, including delivery dates?

c. Credit?

d. Account balance limits?

Are all sales orders (or work orders) recorded on pre-numbered forms and are all numbers accounted for?
Are shipping documents:

a. Prepared for all shipments?

b. Pre-numbered and all numbers accoun';ed for?

c. Based on approved sales orders and matched with sales invoices?

d. Processed promI’)tly?

Are all sales invoices:

a. Pre-numbered and all numbers accounted for?

b. Compared to shipping documents?

¢. Checked for price and terms?

d. Checked for clerical accuracy?

e. Recorded promptly?

Are all credit memos pre-numbered and all:

a. Numbers accounted for?

b. Approved?

c. Recorded promptly?

Is there a proper cut-off of sales at month end?

Are monthly statements of account for all trade receivable balances:

a. Reviewed by the owner before mailing?

b. Mailed by the owner or a responsible employee other than the bookkeeper?

Is the accounts receivable subsidiary ledger balanced monthly to the general ledger control account?
Is an aging schedule or schedule of past due customers’ accounts prepared monthly?

Does the owner or credit manager review monthly listings of past due customer accounts and investigate
delinquent accounts and unusual items?

Are write-offs and other adjustments to customers’ accounts authorized by the owner?
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.070 C. Control Procedures—Cash Receipts

1.

o U woN

Does the owner or a responsible employee other than the bookkeeper or person who maintains accounts
receivable detail:

a. Open the mail and prelist all cash receipts before turning them over to the bookkeeper?

b. Stamp all checks with the restrictive endorsement ““for deposit only”” before turning them over to the
bookkeeper?

c. Subéequently compare the daily prelisting of cash receipts with:
(i) The cash receipts journal?
(ii) The duplicate deposit slip?
Are cash receipts deposited intact on a daily basis?
Are cash receipts posted promptly to éhe accounts receivable subsidiary records?
Are discounts taken checked for conformity with an authorized policy?
Are cash sales controlled by cash registers or pre-numbered cash receipt forms?
If cash registers are used, does a responsible employee other than the cash register operator (cashier)—
a. Have custody at all times of the key to the cash register tape compartment?

b. Take periodic readings of the register and compare such with the cashier’s record of cash receipts?

IV. Expenditures Cycle

.080 A. Understanding—Purchasing, Receiving, and Payables

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

How are purchase transactions initiated?

What document or record is used to evidence the initiation of purchases?
What are the responsibilities of personnel involved with initiating purchases?
How are purchase transactions recorded? ‘

What document or record is used to evidence the receipt of purchased goods?

.090 B. Control Procedures—Purchasing

1.
2.
3.

Does the owner or a designated person other than the bookkeeper do the purchasing?
Are all purchases over a predetermined dollar amount approved by the owner?

Are purchases of services, property and equipment, investments and other non-routine items approved
by the owner?

Are all purchases based on purchase orders which present descriptions, quantities, and prices which are
approved before issuance?

Are all purchase order forms pre-numbered and is custody of unissued forms adequate to prevent their
misuse?

Are issued purchase orders listed in detail showing order numbers, vendors’ names, quantities, and
prices to control their issuance and disposition? (This may be in the form of a register, log, or file of
copies of issued purchase order forms.)
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Are open purchase orders periodically reviewed for delivery period so that past due orders may be
brought to the owner’s attention?

100 C. Control Procedures—Receiving

1.

Are all materials inspected for condition and independently counted, measured or weighed when
received?

Are receiving reports used and prepared promptly? (Note: copies of purchase orders with the quantities
blanked out may serve this purpose.)

Are receiving reports subjected to the following:

a. Pre-numbering and accounting for the sequence of all numbers? (This may be coordinated with
accounting for all purchase orders—see items 5 and 6 in AAM section 4300.090.)

b. Promptly provided (by copies) to those who perform the purchasing and accounting (accounts
payable) functions? .

c. Controlled so that the liability may be determined for materials received but not yet invoiced?

.110 D. Control Procedures—Accounts Payable

1.

8.
9.
10.
11.

Are vendor’s invoices:
a. Matched with applicable purchase orders?
b. Matched with applicable receiving reports?
c. Reviewed for correctness of:
(i) Quantities received?
(ii) Prices charged? .
(iii) Clerical accuracy (extensions & footings)?
(iv) Account distribution?
Are all available discounts taken?

Is there written evidence that invoices have been properly processed (for example, a block stamp,
attachment of a voucher form, annotations) before payment?

Are duplicate invoices conspicuously stamped or deétroyed as a precaution against duplicate payment?

Are approved debit memos used to notify vendors of goods returned to them and other adjustments of
their accounts?

Are there procedures which provide that direct shipments to customers, if any, are properly billed to
them? R

Does the owner verify that the trial balance of accounts payable agrees with the general ledger control
account?

Does the owner verify that other key accounts agree with the subsidiary records?
Are vendors’ statements reconciled with accounts payable detail?
Are vendors’ statements checked by the owner periodically for overdue items?

Are expense accounts:
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a. Submitted promptly?
b. Adequately supported?

c. Approved before payment?

120 E. Understanding—Payrolls

1.
2.
3.
4,

How is time worked by employees accounted for?
What document or record is used to evidence hours worked?
What are the responsibilities of personnel involved in the computation of payroll?

How are payroll transactions recorded?

130 F. Control Prbcedures—Payrolls

1.
2.
3.

8.
9.

10.
11.
12.

13.
14.
15.

Are all employees hired by the owner?
Are individual personnel files maintained?

Is access to the personnel files limited to the owner or a designee who is independent of the payroll or
cash functions?

Are wages, salaries, commission, and piece rates approved by the owner?

Are proper authorizations obtained for all payroll deductions?

Is gross pay determined using authorized rates and:

a. Adequate time records for employees paid by the hour?

b. Piece work records for employees whose wages are based on production?

c. Are piece rate records reconciled with production records or are counts spot checked?
d. Salesmen’s commission records reconciled with sales records?

If employees punch time clocks, are the clocks located so they may be watched by someone with
authority? :

Are time records for hourly employees approved by a foreman or supervisor?
Would the owner be aware of the absence of any employee?

Is the clerical accuracy of the payroll checked?

Are payroll registers reviewed by the owner?

Is an imprest bank account used for payroll, and does the owner compare deposits to the account with
the payroll register?

Does the owner approve, sign, and distribute payroll checks?
If employees are paid in cash, does the owner compare the cash requisition to the net payroll?

Does the owner maintain control over unclaimed payroll checks?

.140 G. Understanding—Cash Disbursements

1.
2.

How are cash disbursements initiated?

What document or record is used to evidence cash disbursements?
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What are the responsibilities of personnel involved in disbursing cash?

How are cash disbursements recorded?

.150 H. Control Procedures—Cash Disbursements

14.

15.
16.

17.
18.

Are all disbursements except from petty cash made by check?

Are checks pre-numbered and all numbers accounted for?

Are all checks recorded when issued?

Are all unused checks safeguarded (i. e., is access limited to the owner)?

Is a mechanical check protector used to inscribe amounts as a precaution against alteration?

" Are all voided checks retained and mutilated?

Are all checks signed by the owner?
If a signature plate is used, is it under sole control of the owner?

Are supporting documents (processed invoices, receiving reports, purchase orders, efc.) preéented with
the checks and reviewed by the owner before he signs the checks?

. Are supporting documents for checks properly cancelled to avoid duplicate payment?

. Are checks payable to cash prohibited?

Are signed checks mailed by someone independent of the accounts payable function?
Are bank statements and paid checks:

a. Received directly by the owner?

b. Reviewed by the owner before they are given to the bookkeeper?

Are bank reconciliations prepared:
a. Monthly for all accounts?" oo

b. By someone other than the cashier or persons authorized to sign checks or use a signature plate if
they are other than the owner?

Are bank reconciliations reviewed and adjustments of the cash accounts approved by the owner?

Are all disbursements from petty cash funds supported by approved vouchers which are prepared in ink
and cancelled to prevent reuse?

Is there a predetermined maximum dollar limit on the amounts of individual petty cash disbl;rsements?
Are petty cash funds on an imprest basis and:

a. Keptin a safe place?

b. Reasonable in amount so that the fund ordinarily requires reimbursement at least monthly?

c. Controlled by one person? Q |

d Periodically counted by someone other than the custodian?

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual o AAM § 4300.150



4308 Internal Control Structure

V. Production or Conversion Cycle
160 A. Understanding—Inventories and Cost of Sales
1." What types of documents or records are kept to control inventory items?
2. What are the responsibilities of personnel involved with inventory record keeping?
170 B. Control Procedures—Physical Inventories
1. Are physical counts made of all classes of inventory at least once a year?
Are physical inventory procedures supervised by the owner or a responsible employee?

Do written inventory procedures exist and, if so, are they determined or approved by the owner?

s e N

Do the inventory procedures adequately address the following matters:

td

Location and orderly physical arrangement of inventories?
b. Identification and description of the inventories by persons familiar with it?

c. Segregation and proper identification of goods that are not property of the chent such as customers’
goods and goods held-on conmgnment’?

d. Method of determining quantmes such as welght count or measure?

e. Identification of stock counted to determme all 1tems are counted and to preclude duplicate
counting? ‘

f.  Cutoff of receipts and deliveries?

g. Control of physical inventory records, such as pre-numbering of all count sheets, count tickets, and
accounting for all numbered records issued and used?

h. Identification of slow moving, obsolete, and damaged items?

5. Are inventories under physical control of & des1gnated storekeeper who is respon51ble for quantmes and
who is also not the bookkeeper? .

6. Are there reasonable safeguards against theft or pilferage such as fences or locked areas? .-
7. - Are the inventories adequately insured? - )

180 C. Control Procedures—Perpetual Inventory Records

1. Are perpetual inventory records maintained and if so,—

-a. Are the perpetual records controlled by general ledger accounts and adjusted to penodlc ‘physical
inventories at least once a year? .

b. Are the perpetual records kept by someone other than the person(s) who has custody of the physical
stock?

c. Are differences between physical counts and perpétual records investigated?
d. Are adjustments to the perpetual records approved by the owner? A
1190 D. Control Procedures—Costs R

1. Do the accounting records provide for properly classified accumulation of the costs of raw materials,
direct labor, and overhead (including indirect labor)?
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2. Do the accounting records accumulate quantities or units of finished produicts sold and units of raw
materials used in production in sufficient detail and with proper cut-off to provide for adequate
determination of cost of goods sold and cost of inventories?

3. Does the client’s production process lend itself to accumulation of costs by job order or units processed,
and if so, is an appropriate cost accounting system used?

4. Isthe cost accounting system tied in with or reconciled to the general ledger?
5. Are production cost budgets and productioﬁ reports prepared periodically?

a. Do the budgets lend themselves to corhparisbn with actual costs? ‘

b. Are differences between budget and actual costs investigated and explained? '

¢. Are production cost budgets and comparisons with actual costs reviewed by the owner?
.200 E. Control Procedures—Receipts, Usage, and Shipments |

1. Do receiving personnel verify the quantity and quality of materials purchased and prepare formal
receiving reports?

2. Are signed requisitions required for release of all materials from the storeroom and, if so, are the
requisitions pre-numbered and all numbers accounted for?

3. Are all shipments of finished goods based on approved shipping advices?
4. Are shipping and receiving areas sef)arate from inventory storage areas?
.210 F. Understanding—l’i'operty, Plant, and Equipment
1. What types of documents or recofds are kept to control fixed assets?
2. What are the responsibilities of personnel involved with fixed asset record keeping?
220 G. Control Prdce&ures——l’roperty, Plant, and Ei;uipment
1. Areall additions authorized by the owner?
2. Does the owner understand and approve the estimated lives and methods of depreciation for depreciable
property?
3. Does the owner authorize all retirements?
4.  Are there detailed records of property, plant, and equipment which—
a. Identify specific assets including their costs and acquisition dates?
b. Show related depreciation?
c. Are balanced periodically (at least annually) with the general ledger control accounts?
5.  Are there adequate detailed records for leased property under capital leases?
6. Are periodic physical inventories or inspections made of property, plant, and equipment?

7. Are dep:‘eciable lives periodically reviewed for adequacy in relation to unanticipated use or obsolescence
based on actual experience?

Financing Cycle

230 A. Understanding—N otes Receivable and Investments
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1. What types of records or documents are kept for notes receivable and investments?

‘2. What are the responsibilities of personnel involved w1th keeping records for notes rece1vable and
investments?

240 B. Control Procedures—thes Receivable and Investments'

1. Does the owner authorlze all notes recelvable?‘

2. Areall investment purchases and sales authonzed by the owner"

3. Isadetailed record of notes and 1nvestments mamtamed mcludmg related mcome?
a. Istherecord kept current?
b. Is the record reconcﬂed to the general ledger control accounts7

4. Are mvestments reglstered in the name of the company" o

5. Does owner have sole access to notes and investment cert1f1cates7

6. Areinvestments kept in a safe place’? ' |

7. Are investments counted or confirmed periodically?

.250 C. Understanding—Notes Payable, Debt, and Other Term Obligations

1. What types of records or dociments are kept for notes'payable, debt, and other term obligations?

2.  What are the responsibilities of personnel involved with keeping records for notes payable, debt, and
other term obligations?

.260 D. Control Procedures—Notes Payable, Debt, and Other Term Obllgatlons
1. Does the owner negotiate all borrow1ngs7

2. Does the owner understand the terms, condltlons and fmance cost (mterest) of all debt and lease
obligations of a financing nature?

3. Are detailed, up-to-date records maintained of notes payable, long-term debt, and other term obligations
.such as leases?

4. Are the company files adequate regarding copies of outstanding notes, bonds, mortgages, and leases?
5. Are paid bonds and notes effectively cancelled and retained in the company?

270 E. Control Procedures—Owner’s Equity - '
1. If doing business as a corporation:

a. Are the owner’s records safeguarded and in order regarding the certificate or articles of incorpora-
tion, bylaws, unissued stock certificates (if any), and relevant correspondence with legal counsel?

b. Does the general ledger include appropriate capital accounts?

c. Are minute books maintained and properly safeguarded?

¥

2. If doing business as a sole proprietorship, does the general ledger include appropriate capital accounts?

i

[The next page is 4401.]
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AAM Section 4400

Ilustrative Speaf ic Internal Control Structure
Objectives and Related Questions—Medium to
Large Business

.010 This section lists specific internal control structure objectlves and related questlons that an auditor might
raise concerning a medium to large business with ‘enough employees to be able to achieve a reasonable
segregation of duties. These illustrative objectives and related questions are organized: into control environment,
accounting system, and four broad transaction classes which are further divided into various subheadings. This is
to provide some additional illustration of the concepts discussed in AAM section 4200.17 on organization of
checklist questionnaires and other generalized aids..

020 As discussed in AAM section 4200.13—.15, auditors develop various generalized materials as aids for
documenting the internal control structure and assessing control risk. Many of these aids consist of questions or
statements about particular policies or procedures but do not include specific internal control structure objectives.
Some materials, however, include statements of specific internal control structure objectives in addition to the
traditional questions or statements on policies and procedures. The number and degree of detail of the sets of
objectives included in these materials vary. For example, they range in number from about 40 to over 100. These
variations depend on the needs and preferences of the auditors who developed the materials.

.030 The illustrative material in this section includes 62 :specific internal control structure objectives accompa-
nied by related questions concerned with how the objecnves may be accomplished. In a number of instances the
questions require a comment rather than a simple yes or no answer; these instances should be self-evident.
Because some policies and procedures may accomplish more than one objective, there are instances when a group
of questions is associated with two or more objectives. Likewise, there is some repetition among the various
groups of questions associated with different specific objectives. Some of the questions are of a general nature and
are accompanied by examples of more specific policies and procedures.

040 A firm should develop or adopt guidance material which is appropriate for its own needs and
preferences. In any event, users of this illustrative maferial or other such material must use professional judgment
and be alert for important matters in a particular set of circumstances which may not be covered in the illustrative
material. For example, some companies may have developed additional specific internal control' structure
objectives to meet special circumstances. Also, some of the specific internal control strycture objectives included in
generalized material may not be applicable to some companies because of the absence of certain types of
transactions, . ) . . - .

I. Control Environment
050 A. Management Philosophy and Operating Style,
Questions—Policies and Procedures . . o . :

1. Does management have clear objectives in terms of budget, profit, and other f1nanc1a1 and operatmg
goals? ‘

2. Are such policies:
a. Clearly written? Ce ’ N
b. Actively communicated throughout the entity? -
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c. Actively monitored?

Does management adequately consider the potential effects of taking large or unusual business risks
prior to doing so?

Are business risks adequately monitored?

060 B. Organizational Structure

Objective

Definitions of responsibilities and authority assigned to specific individuals permit identification of
whether persons are acting within the scope of their authority.

Questions—Policies and Procedures

1.
2.

3.
4.

Is the organization of the entity clearly defined in terms of lines of authority.and responsibility?

Does the entity have a current organization chart and related materials such as job descriptions and lists
of particular individuals which clearly identify:

a. The responsibilities and authority assigned to senior management personnel?

b. Individuals specifically authorized .to initiate and execute transactions?

c. Individuals with specific responsibility for custody of various classifications of assets?

d. Individuals with specific responsibility for financial control functions?

Are policies and procedures for authorization of transactions established at an adequately high level?

Are such policies and procedures adequately adhered to?

070 C. Audit Committee

Questions—Policies and Procedures

1.
2.

Does the board of directors have an audit committee?

Does the audit committee take an active role in overseeing the entity’s accounting and financial reporting
policies and practices? ‘

Is this evidenced by:

a. Regularly held rﬁeetings?

b. The appointment of members with adequate qualifications?

Does the audit comﬁittee:

a. Adequately assist the board of directors in meeting its fiduciary responsibilities?

b. Adequately assist the board in maintaining a direct line of communication with the entity’s internal
and external auditors?

.080 D. Methods of Assigning Authority and Responsibility

Questions—Policies and Procedures

1.
2,

Does the entity have a written code of conduct and conflict of interest requirements?

Are the code and requirements actively enforced?
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3. Are authority and responsibility to deal with organizational goals and objectives, operatirig functions,
and regulatory requirements adequately delegated?

4. Are employees given job descriptions which delineate specific duties, reporting relatlonshlps, and
constraints? :

5. Has the entity developed computer systems documentation which indicates the procedures for authoriz-
ing transactions and approving systems changes?

090 E. Management Control Methods
Questions—Policies and Procedures

1. Are there regular meetings of the board of directors (or comparable bodies) to set policies and objectives,
review the entity’s performance and take appropriate action, and are minutes of such meetings prepared
and signed on a timely basis?

2. Has the entity established planning and reporting systems that set forth management’s plans and the
results of actual performance?

3. Do the planning and reporting systems in place:

a. Adequately identify variances from planned performance?

b. Adequately communicate variances to the appropriate management level?
4. Does the appropriate level of management:

a. Adequately investigate variances?

b. Take appropriate and timely corrective action?

5. Does the entity have established policies for developing and modifying accounting systems and control
procedures? ‘ -

.100 F. Internal Audit Function
Questions—Policies and Procedures
1. Does the entity have an internal audit function?’
2. 'If aninternal audit function is present:
a. Are the internal auditors independent of the activities they audit?

b. Is the internal audit function adequately staffed in terms of the number of empibyees';‘and their
training and experience? ‘ )

c¢. Do the internal auditors document the internal control structure and perform tests of controls?
d. - Do they perform substantive tests of the details of transactions and account balances?

e. Do they document the planning and execution of their work by such means as audlt programs and
. working papers? :

“f. Do they render written feports on their findings and conclusions?
g Are their reports submitted to the board of directors or to a committee thereof?

3. Does management take adequate and timely actions to correct conditions reported by the internal audit
function?
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4.. Does the internal audit function follow up on corrective actions taken by management?
110 G. Personnel Policies and Procedures
Questions—Policies and Procedures
1. Does the entity:
a. Adequately plan for staff needs?
b. Employ sound hiring practices, including background invesﬁgaﬁons, where appropriate?
2. Are employees adequately trained to meet their job responsibilities?
3. Does the entity systematically evaluate the performar;ce of employees?
4. Is good performance appropriately rewarded?
5. Does the entity timely dismiss employees for critical violations of control policies?
6. Are employees in positions of trust:
a. Bonded?
b. Required to take mandatory vacations?
IL.  Accounting System
120 A. General Accounting
Objectives

® Accounting policies and procedures, including selection among alternative accounting principles, are
determined in accordance with management’s authorization.

® Access to the accounting and financial records is limited to minimize opportunities for errors and
irregularities and to provide reasonable protection from physical hazards.

® Accounting entries are initiated and approved in accordance with management’s authorization.
®  All accounting entries are appropriately accumulated, classified, and summarized in the accounts.
Questions—Policies and Procedures

1. Does the entity have adequate written statements and explanations of its accounting policies and
procedures?

(Written accounting policies and procedures may include such matters as:
(i) Chart of accounts accompanied by explanations of the items to be included in the various accounts.

(ii) Identification and description of the principal accounting records, recurring standard entries, and
requirements for supporting documentation. For example, this may include information about the
general ledger and journal, and the subsidiary transaction registers, accounts, and detail records for
each of the various significant classes of transactions.

(iii) Expression of the assignment of responsibilities and delegation of authority including identification
of the individuals or positions that have authority to approve various types of recurring and non-
recurring entries.
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(iv) Explanations of documentation and approval requirements for various types of recurring ard non-
recurring transactions and journal entries. Documentation requirements, for example, would include
the basis and supporting computatlons required for adjustments and write-offs.

(v) Instructions for determining an adequate cutoff and closing of accounts for each reporting period.)

2. Is responsibility assigned for initiation and approval of revisions in the accounting policies and proce-
dures? '

3. Are the entity’s accounting policies and procedures adequately communicated to appropriate personnel
(for example, by distribution of written instructions and manuals to persons who need them)?

4. Does the principal accounting officer of the entity have adequate authority over accounting employees
and principal accounting records at all locations?

(Accounting employees of an operating division or subsidiary may report to the operating manager in
charge of the division or subsidiaty. In these situations it is especially important that those responsible
for accounting and reporting at the divisional or subsidiary level be fully advised of the accounting and
reporting policies they are expected to follow.)

5. Is maintenance of the general ledger performed by persons whose duties do not include:

a. Direct access to assets such as handling cash receipts, custody of marketable securities, receiving of
purchased goods, and shipping of finished product?

b. Performance of functions which provide indirect access to assets such as signing checks, approving
invoices, approving purchase orders, authorizing production, extending credit, and approving sales
orders?

c¢. Maintenance of subsidiary ledgers and records?

6. Is access to the general ledger and related records restricted to those who are assigned general ledger
responsibilities?

7.  Are there adequate facilities for custody of the general ledger and related records?

(Examples of such facilities include fire-resistant locked cabinets, vaults, physical barriers, separate
rooms, limited access to work areas, alarms, and other detection devices.)

8. Is appropriate insurance coverage maintained in accordance with management’s authorization?

(Such insurance may include loss of records coverage and fidelity bonding of employees in positions of
trust.)

9. Are all journal entries reviewed and approved by designated individuals at appropriate levels in the
organization?

(The levels at which journal entries are reviewed and approved will usually vary depending on whether
the entries are recurring or non-recurring, routine or unusual, accumulations of routine expected
transactions or adjustments of balances requiring estimates and judgments.) -

10. Are all journal entries adequately explained and supported?

(Explanation and support for an entry should be sufficient to enable the person responsible for its review
and approval to reasonably perform this function.) '

11. Are the individuals designated to review and approve journal entries independent of initiation of the
entries they are authorized to approve?
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12. Do all journal entries include indication of approval in accordance with management’s general or specific
authorization?

13. Are all accounting entries subject to the controls over completeness of processing? .

(Examples of controls over completeness of processing include pre-numbering of journal vouchers and
accounting for all numbers used, accumulation of control totals of dollar amounts debited and credited,
and standard identification numbers for recurring standard accounting entries.)

14. Do all journal entries include adequate identification of the accounts in which they are to be recorded?
15. Are there adequate detailed records to support entries regarding: ‘

a. Amortization of prepaid expenses, deferred charges, and intangible assets?

b. Revenue recognition of deferred income?

c. Liability accruals and provisions relating to such matters as product warranties?

d. Provisions and liabilities for income taxes and other taxes? '

e. Liability accruals and provisions for such long-term agreements as pension plans and deferred
compensation arrangements?

16. Are adequate accounts and records maintained so that adjustments and write-offs made to account
balances do not impair accountability for actual amounts?

(Examples are use of contra (allowance) accounts to accumulate valuation adjustments of asset balances,
and use of memorandum accounts to control bad debts which have been written off.)

130 B. Preparation of Financial Statements
Objectives

® The general ledger and related records permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles or any other criteria applicable to such statements and reports.

® Individuals at appropriate levels in the organization consider sufficient, reliable information in making
the estimates and judgments required for preparation of financial statements including related disclo-
sures and other externally reported financial information.

® Financial statements including related disclosures are prepared and released in accordance with manage-
ment’s authorization.

Questions—Policies and Procedures

1.  Are the general ledger accounts arranged in orderly groupings which are conducive to efficient statement
preparation?

2. Are finandial reports of consolidated divisions, subsidiaries and affiliates prepared in prescribed formats
which are conducive to efficient combination and consolidation?

3.  Are there adequate instructions and procedures for statement preparation?
(Instructions and procedures, for example, may include the following:

(i) Written financial statement closing schedule with assignment of specific preparation and review
responsibilities.
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(i) Standard forms and accompanying instructions that identify for such entities as branches, divisions,
and subsidiaries the data they are to report (for example, consistent groupings and identification of
intercompany amounts).

(iii) Accumulation of information on intercompany transactions.
(iv) Accumulation of information for disclosure in notes to financial statements.)
Are there adequate detailed records and procedures (for preparation and review) for—

a. Entries to develop consolidated financial statements such as eliminations and recording of goodwill
and/or minority interest?

b. Reclassification entries?

Are policies and procedures adequate for informing appropriate levels of management on a timely basis
of—

a. Significant, unusual, or nonrecurring transactions or events and considerations concerning their
accounting recognition?

b. Requirements of existing and new accounting rules, and of the rules and regulations of appropriate
regulatory bodies?

Are estimates of net realizable value of assets and related adjustments to provide valuation allowances,
and/or to write down asset balances, reviewed and approved by designated individuals at appropriate
levels in the organization who are independent of the persons originating such estimates and adjust-
ments?

Are procedures adequate for the review and comparison of financial statement working papers to source
data and a comparison of elimination, and reclassification entries to those made in prior periods?

Are financial statements subjected to overall review, including comparisons with the prior period and
budgeted amounts, by appropriate levels of management before the statements are approved for
issuance?

140 C. Identified Significant Classes of Transactions

1.

2.

3.
4.

Revenue Cycle (Revenue, Receivables, and Cash Receipts)?
Expenditures Cycle (Purchases, Accounts Payable, Payroll, and Cash Disbursements)?
Production (Conversion) Cycle (Production Costs, Inventories, Property, and Equipment)?

Financing Cycle (Investments, Borrowings, Equity, Cash Collections, and Disbursements)?

Revenue Cycle

A. Revenue and Receivables

.150 Sales Orders

Objectives

The types of goods and services to be provided, the manner in which they will be provided, and the
customers to which they will be provided are in accordance with management’s authorization.
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